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Meeting Agenda
Monday, October 25, 2021
at Hagerty Center, Room C, 715 East Front St

5:30 p.m. Regular Meeting

I. GENERAL BUSINESS
A. Call to Order
B. Roll Call
C. Pledge of Allegiance
D. Review of Agenda and Approval of Additions, Deletions, or Rearrangements

I1. SPECIAL REPORTS AND PRESENTATIONS
E. Audit Presentation—Katie Thornton and Jeff Pohler, Plante & Moran, PLLC
F. Program Focus—Commitment Scholars—Kevin D Alessandro, Enrollment Services
G. Faculty Report—Experiential Learning Institute—Brandon Everest, Social Sciences
Instructor, and Kristy McDonald, Business Instructor
H. Enrollment Report—Todd Neibauer, Vice President for Student Services and
Technologies
Scholarship and Financial Aid Report—Linda Berlin, Director of Financial Aid
Financial Report—Troy Kierczynski, Vice President of Finance and Administration
PRMC Report—Diana Fairbanks, Associate Vice President of Public Relations,
Marketing, and Communications
Audit Committee Report—Kennard Weaver, Committee Chair
. Building and Site Committee Report—Rachel Johnson, Committee Chair
ACCT Leadership Congress—Attending Trustees
Strategic Planning Report—Vicki Cook, Special Assistant to the President, and Stephen
Siciliano, Vice President for Educational Services
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I11. EXECUTIVE REPORTS (Provided to the Board in their materials packet, which can be
accessed on the nmc.edu Board of Trustees website.)
P. Foundation Report—Rebecca Teahen, Associate Vice President for Resource
Development and Executive Director of Foundation

IV. PUBLIC INPUT
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V. UPDATES

VI.

VII.

VIII.

Q.
R.

President’s Update—President Nick Nissley
Board Chair Update—Chris Bott, Chair

DISCUSSION ITEMS

S.

January 2022 Board Retreat

CONSENT ITEMS (Pursuant to Policy A-105.00 Consent Agenda Items)

These items will be adopted as a group without specific discussion. When approving the
meeting agenda, any Board member may request that a consent agenda item be moved to the
regular agenda for discussion or questions.

Recommend that the following items be approved:

T.

Minutes of the September 27, 2021 regular meeting

ACTION ITEMS

u.

Acceptance of NMC Audit (Pursuant to Policy A-106.00 Finance)

Recommend acceptance of the financial audit of Northwestern Michigan College for the
fiscal year ended June 30, 2021, as presented.

FY23 Five Year Capital Outlay Plan (Pursuant to Policy A-106.00 Finance)
Recommend approval of the FY 2023 Five-Year Capital Outlay Plan for submission to
the Michigan Office of the State Budget as presented.

. Copier/Printer Replacement (Pursuant to Policy A-106.00 Finance)

Recommend authorization for administration to enter into a contract with Applied
Imaging for the replacement of 11 copier/printer systems at a cost of $73,543.

Closed Session (Pursuant to B-102.00 Monitoring Presidential Performance)
Recommend that the Board adjourn the open session and consider in closed session
(pursuant to Subsection 8(a) of the Open Meetings Act, MCL 15.268) the annual
performance evaluation of the president, per his requests for a closed session. (Roll Call
Vote)

Reconvene Regular Session (Pursuant to A-106.00 Other)

Recommend the closed session adjourn and the open session of the regular meeting be
reconvened. (Roll Call Vote)

Presidential Performance Evaluation (Pursuant to Policy A-106.00 Human Resources)
Recommend the acceptance of the October 2021 Presidential Performance Evaluation.

IX. REVIEW OF FOLLOW-UP REQUESTS
Confirm requests made by the Board that require administrative follow-up for information to be
provided to the Board at a later date.

Posted Friday, October 22, 2021, 12:00 p.m.
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X. ADJOURNMENT

Upcoming Board Meeting Dates:

All board meetings are open to the public.

November 22, 2021
December 20, 2021
January 24, 2022
February 28, 2022
March 21, 2022
April 25, 2022
May 23, 2022

June 27, 2022
August 23, 2021
September 27, 2021
October 25, 2021
November 22, 2021
December 20, 2021
January 24, 2022
February 28, 2022

October 25, 2021 Meeting Agenda
Page 3

Posted Friday, October 22, 2021, 12:00 p.m.
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October 11, 2021

To the Board of Trustees
Northwestern Michigan College

We have audited the financial statements of Northwestern Michigan College (the “College”) as of and for the year
ended June 30, 2021 and have issued our report thereon dated October 11, 2021. Professional standards require
that we provide you with the following information related to our audit, which is divided into the following sections:

Section | - Required Communications with Those Charged with Governance
Section Il - Industry Update and Other Information

Section | includes information that current auditing standards require independent auditors to communicate to those
individuals charged with governance. We will report this information annually to the board of trustees of the College.

Section Il contains updated legislative and informational items that we believe will be of interest to you.

We would like to take this opportunity to thank the College’s staff for the cooperation and courtesy extended to us
during our audit. Their assistance and professionalism are invaluable.

This report is intended solely for the use of the board of trustees and management of the College and is not intended
to be and should not be used by anyone other than these specified parties.

We welcome any questions you may have regarding the following communications, and we would be willing to
discuss these or any other questions that you might have at your convenience.

Very truly yours,
Plante & Moran, PLLC

Kot A Thawtons

Katie A. Thornton, CPA
Partner




Section | - Required Communications with Those Charged with Governance

Our Responsibility Under U.S. Generally Accepted Auditing Standards

As stated in our engagement letter dated April 21, 2021, our responsibility, as described by professional standards,
is to express an opinion about whether the financial statements prepared by management with your oversight are
fairly presented, in all material respects, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. Our audit
of the financial statements does not relieve you or management of your responsibilities. Our responsibility is to plan
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable, but not absolute, assurance that the financial statements are free of
material misstatement.

As part of our audit, we considered the internal control of the College. Such considerations were solely for the
purpose of determining our audit procedures and not to provide any assurance concerning such internal control.

We are responsible for communicating significant matters related to the audit that are, in our professional judgment,
relevant to your responsibilities in overseeing the financial reporting process. However, we are not required to
design procedures specifically to identify such matters.

Our audit of the College’s financial statements has also been conducted in accordance with Government Auditing
Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Under Government Auditing Standards, we are
obligated to communicate certain matters that come to our attention related to our audit to those responsible for the
governance of the College, including compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts; and grant
agreements; certain instances of error or fraud; illegal acts applicable to government agencies; and significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. Toward this end, we issued a separate letter dated
October 11, 2021 regarding our consideration of the College's internal control over financial reporting and on our
tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements.

Planned Scope and Timing of the Audit

We performed the audit according to the planned scope and timing previously communicated to you in our letter
about planning matters dated May 3, 2021.

Significant Audit Findings

Qualitative Aspects of Accounting Practices

Management is responsible for the selection and use of appropriate accounting policies. In accordance with the
terms of our engagement letter, we will advise management about the appropriateness of accounting policies and
their application. The significant accounting policies used by the College are described in Note 1 to the financial
statements.

As described in Note 1, the College implemented GASB No. 84, Fiduciary Activities, which establishes criteria for
identifying fiduciary activities of all state and local governments. An activity meeting the criteria should be reported
in a fiduciary fund in the basic financial statements. Accordingly, the accounting standard resulted in no additional
reporting within the basic financial statements.

We noted no transactions entered into by the College during the year for which there is a lack of authoritative
guidance or consensus.

We noted no significant transactions that have been recognized in the financial statements in a different period than
when the transaction occurred.



Section | - Required Communications with Those Charged with Governance
(Continued)

Accounting estimates are an integral part of the financial statements prepared by management and are based on
management’s knowledge and experience about past and current events and assumptions about future events.
Certain accounting estimates are particularly sensitive because of their significance to the financial statements and
because of the possibility that future events affecting them may differ significantly from those expected. The most
sensitive estimates affecting the financial statements are summarized below:

¢ Allowance for Uncollectible Receivables - Management estimates fair value of tuition accounts receivable
and property taxes receivable by establishing an allowance for estimated uncollectible amounts.

e Pension and OPEB Liabilities - Management estimates their portion of the Michigan Public School
Employees’ Retirement System (MPSERS) net pension and OPEB liabilities based on the audited financial
statements received from MPSERS.

We evaluated the key factors and assumptions used to develop the allowance and pension/OPEB liabilities in
determining that these estimates are reasonable in relation to the financial statements taken as a whole.

The disclosures in the financial statements are neutral, consistent, and clear. Certain financial statement disclosures
are particularly sensitive because of their significance to financial statement users. The most sensitive disclosure
affecting the financial statements was the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on the operations of the College
disclosed in Note 1 to the financial statements.

Difficulties Encountered in Performing the Audit
We encountered no significant difficulties in dealing with management in performing and completing our audit.

Disagreements with Management

For the purpose of this letter, professional standards define a disagreement with management as a financial
accounting, reporting, or auditing matter, whether or not resolved to our satisfaction, that could be significant to the
financial statements or the auditor’s report. We are pleased to report that no such disagreements arose during the
course of our audit.

Corrected and Uncorrected Misstatements

Professional standards require us to accumulate all known and likely misstatements identified during the audit,
other than those that are trivial, and communicate them to the appropriate level of management. We did not detect
any misstatements as a result of audit procedures.

Significant Findings or Issues

We generally discuss a variety of matters, including the application of accounting principles and auditing standards,
business conditions affecting the College, and business plans and strategies that may affect the risks of material
misstatement, with management each year prior to our retention as the College's auditors. However, these
discussions occurred in the normal course of our professional relationship, and our responses were not a condition
of our retention.

Management Representations

We have requested certain representations from management that are included in the management representation
letter dated October 11, 2021.



Section | - Required Communications with Those Charged with Governance
(Continued)

Management Consultations with Other Independent Accountants

In some cases, management may decide to consult with other accountants about auditing and accounting matters,
similar to obtaining a second opinion on certain situations. If a consultation involves application of an accounting
principle to the College’s financial statements or a determination of the type of auditor's opinion that may be
expressed on those statements, our professional standards require the consulting accountant to check with us to
determine that the consultant has all the relevant facts. To our knowledge, there were no such consultations with
other accountants.



Section Il - Industry Update and Other Information

Auditor Reporting Standards - In May 2019, the AICPA Auditing Standards Board (ASB) issued Statement on
Auditing Standards (SAS) No. 134, Auditor Reporting and Amendments, including Amendments Addressing
Disclosures in the Audit of Financial Statements. The update requires changes in the form and content of the
auditor’s report issued as a result of an audit of financial statements in order to provide financial statement users
with more meaningful information about the audit process and meaning of auditor opinions.

Significant elements of the new standard include the following:
e Revised order for elements of the opinion letter, including moving the auditor's opinion to the top of the letter

e Expansion of information to be included within a basis of opinion section, as well as notification to the user that
the auditor is required to be independent of the entity and to meet other ethical responsibilities

e Explanation of how misstatements to financial statements are determined to be material

e Addition of definition of “reasonable assurance” and identifying that the risk of material misstatement due to
fraud is greater than the risk due to error

e Enhanced reporting related to going concern, including a description of management’s responsibilities when
required by the applicable reporting framework

e Description of the auditor's responsibilities, including responsibilities relating to professional judgment and
professional skepticism, internal controls, identification of risks of material misstatement to the financial
statements, evaluation of accounting policies used, conclusion on the entity's ability to continue as a going
concern, and the auditor's communications with those charged with governance

¢ Introduction of the concept of Key Audit Matters and clarification of the relationship between communication of
Key Audit Matters and the use of an emphasis of matter or other matter paragraph

e Alignment of reporting requirements when the audit is conducted under both generally accepted auditing
standards (GAAS) and another set of auditing standards or when the auditor's opinion is other than an
unmodified opinion

Since the issuance of SAS 134, the AICPA has issued several standards, primarily to conform existing audit
standards with the requirements of the new auditor reporting model. The suite of new auditor reporting standards
is effective for periods ending on or after December 15, 2021 (FY 2022).

SAS 137 Annual Reports - The AICPA issued a new statement on auditing standards that addresses an auditor’s
responsibilities relating to other information included in annual reports. This new standard, which is first effective for
your fiscal year ending June 30, 2022, may increase the scope of audit procedures and may result in some audit
work being performed outside of the normal timing. To the extent that your organization issues a document meeting
the AICPA's definition of an annual report under the standard, additional audit procedures will need to be performed
on that separate document before it is issued. We are happy to discuss the impact of this new standard further with

you.

AICPA State and Local Government Client Affiliates - The AICPA has adopted a revised auditor independence
interpretation that impacts entities reporting under the GASB framework. The new rules define four types of affiliates
(entities affiliated with your financial statements) that may expand the scope of our required auditor independence
as it relates to your audit. The four types of affiliates defined by the AICPA include entities included in your financial
statements and certain entities excluded from your financial statements and may also include certain of your
investment holdings. Because auditor independence is a shared responsibility between your organization and
Plante & Moran, PLLC, you should be aware of and understand these changes. In addition, we will need your help
to perform an initial evaluation under these revised standards and will also likely need your continuing assistance
to comply with these rules in the future. The changes are effective for years beginning after December 15, 2021,
which means we must be independent of your affiliates as of the first day of the year of required adoption, or July

1, 2022.



Section Il - Industry Update and Other Information
(Continued)

Leases (Lessee) - GASB Statement No. 87, Leases, will result in identifying and reporting in the financial
statements all leases that exceed 12 months in duration or that transfer ownership of the underlying asset:

e Lease liability should be measured at the present value of payments expected to be made during the lease
term.

e Lease asset should be measured at the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability.

e Amortization expense related to the lease asset (recognizing the asset amount as an expense over the term of
the lease)

e [nterest expense related to the lease liability

If the lease transfers ownership of the underlying asset, the institution will record the transaction as a financed
purchase (asset and long-term debt). The notes to the financial statements would include a description of leasing
arrangements, the amount of lease assets recognized, and a schedule of future lease payments to be made. In
May 2020, the GASB issued Statement No. 95, delaying the effective date for this new standard. The delayed
effective date is for reporting periods beginning after June 15, 2020 (FY 2022). The GASB also issued an extensive
implementation guide in August 2019, along with lease questions and answers in the annual implementation guides
for 2020 and 2021 and several helpful examples. The new lease guidance will require institutions to properly identify
and analyze all lease transactions, even if the agreement does not have lease in the name, which may include
embedded leases within service agreements. Depending on the volume of agreements, the College may be
interested in pursuing software that assists with the analysis, calculations, and reports for recording the initial and
subsequent entries for leases.

Omnibus 2020 - GASB Statement No. 92, Omnibus 2020, addresses eight unrelated practice issues and technical
inconsistencies in authoritative literature with various effective dates. The standard addresses leases, intraentity
transfers of assets, postemployment benefits, government acquisitions, risk financing and insurance-related
activities of public entity risk pools, fair value measurements, and derivative instruments. In May 2020, the GASB
issued Statement No. 95, delaying the effective date for certain components of this new standard by one year. This
delayed effective date is effective for the year ending June 30, 2022.

Public-Private and Public-Public Partnerships and Availability Payment Arrangements - GASB Statement
No. 94 is effective for the year ending June 30, 2023 and replaces GASB 60, Accounting and Financial Reporting
for Service Concession Arrangements. The standard improves accounting and financial reporting for arrangements
where a governmental entity contracts with an operator to provide public services by conveying control of the right
to operate or use nonfinancial assets, such as infrastructure or other capital assets, for a period of time in an
exchange or exchange-like transaction. It establishes the definitions of public-private and public-public partnerships
(PPPs) and availability payment arrangements (APAs) and provides uniform guidance on accounting and financial
reporting for transactions that meet those definitions. It requires governments to report assets and liabilities related
to PPPs consistently and disclose important information about PPP transactions.

Subscription-based Information Technology Arrangements - GASB Statement No. 96 is effective for the year
ending June 30, 2023. The standard provides guidance on the accounting and financial reporting for subscription-
based information technology arrangements (SBITAs) for government end users (institutions). Under this standard,
institutions in SBITAs are required to recognize a right-to-use subscription asset and a corresponding subscription
liability.

Revenue and Expense Recognition (Preliminary View) - In June 2020, the GASB issued a preliminary view titled
Revenue and Expense Recognition, which introduces a new methodology for categorizing transactions for
recognition based on the assessment of specific characteristics, which includes identifying transactions with
performance obligations. If performance obligations are identified, then revenue and expense will essentially be
recognized as those obligations are satisfied. Additional guidance is being proposed for those transactions without
performance obligations, such as state appropriations and property taxes. Comments from stakeholders were due
by February 26, 2021.
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Section Il - Industry Update and Other Information
(Continued)

Compensated Absences (Exposure Draft) - In February 2021, the GASB issued an exposure draft titled
Compensated Absences, which proposes to align accounting for all compensated absences under a unified model.
Under the proposal, all compensated absences that meet three criteria will be recorded based on the employee's
pay rate at the reporting date. The three criteria are when the absence accumulates, the absence is attributed to
services already performed, and the absence is more likely than not to be either paid or settled through other means.
Comments on the exposure draft were due by June 4, 2021.

Operations Review - With increasing frequency, board members and leadership are requesting independent
operational review with regard to communication, operational effectiveness, and prioritized recommendations for
improvement. Personnel changes, technology investments, and changing expectations can all create opportunities
to streamline or enhance the quality of many institution services. The Plante & Moran, PLLC team can assist in
reviewing institutional and departmental operations based on our experience across an identified peer group and
reviews performed for other institutions. Reviews identify cost-saving opportunities for the College, as well as
targeted service and performance improvements.

Cybersecurity Risk and Network Security Assessment - Institutions are not exempt from cyberattacks in which
systems and critical data are compromised. Institution systems store personal information of staff, students, and
students’ parents in addition to other confidential data. It is important that institutions protect themselves from both
external and internal threats whether they are intentional or accidental threats. For example, ransomware attacks
are on the rise and gain media attention with their ability to cripple an organization, including institutions of higher
education. It may be the hacks of large, multimillion dollar companies that we see exposed on the evening news,
but institutions can be an enticing target with the amount of data and limited budget to protect themselves.

Here are some questions to think about regarding cybersecurity issues:

Do you receive a lot of junk email?

Are you allowed to access risky or unsafe websites?

Have you attended any security awareness trainings?

In the event of an incident, are you familiar with who should be contacted?

Is there a plan in place in the event of a breach and student records are lost?

Because of the many access points within an institution’s IT environment, continued assessment of cybersecurity
issues is an essential part of an institution’s overall data security assessment.
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Independent Auditor's Report

To the Board of Trustees
Northwestern Michigan College

Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Northwestern Michigan College (the "College") and its
discretely presented component unit as of and for the years ended June 30, 2021 and 2020 and the related notes
to the financial statements, which collectively comprise Northwestern Michigan College's basic financial
statements, as listed in the table of contents.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these basic financial statements in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the
design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of
basic financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express opinions on these basic financial statements based on our audits. We conducted
our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the
standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller
General of the United States. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the basic financial statements are free from material misstatement. The financial
statements of the discretely presented component unit were not audited under Government Auditing Standards.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the basic
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’'s judgment, including the assessment of the
risks of material misstatement of the basic financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those
risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's preparation and fair presentation of
the basic financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. Accordingly, we
express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and
the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the basic financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinions.

Opinions

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the respective
financial position of Northwestern Michigan College and its discretely presented component unit as of June 30,
2021 and 2020 and the respective changes in their financial position and, where applicable, cash flows for the
years then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.
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To the Board of Trustees
Northwestern Michigan College

Required Supplemental Information

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management's
discussion and analysis, schedule of the College's proportionate share of the net pension liability, schedule of
pension contributions, schedule of the College's proportionate share of the net OPEB liability, and schedule of
OPEB contributions be presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such information, although not a
part of the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board, which
considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an
appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the
required supplemental information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States
of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the information and
comparing the information for consistency with management's responses to our inquiries, the basic financial
statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. We do not
express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not provide
us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance.

Other Information

Our audits were conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively
comprise Northwestern Michigan College's basic financial statements. The listing of board of trustees, president
and vice presidents, and business and finance staff and other supplemental information, as identified in the table
of contents, is presented for the purpose of additional analysis and is not a required part of the basic financial
statements.

The listing of board of trustees, president and vice presidents, and business and finance staff and other
supplemental information, as identified in the table of contents, is the responsibility of management and was
derived from and relates directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic
financial statements. Such information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the
basic financial statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such
information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements
or to the basic financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing
standards generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, the other supplemental information
is fairly stated in all material respects in relation to the basic financial statements as a whole.

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated October 11, 2021 on
our consideration of Northwestern Michigan College's internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of
its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, grant agreements, and other matters. The
purpose of that report is to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and
compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the internal control over financial
reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government
Auditing Standards in considering Northwestern Michigan College's internal control over financial reporting and
compliance. d

7%«15/ f 77&%, PLLL

October 11, 2021
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Northwestern Michigan College
Management’s Discussion and Analysis

June 30, 2021

The discussion and analysis of Northwestern Michigan College's (the "College") financial statements provide an
overview of the College's financial activities for the year ended June 30, 2021. Management has prepared the
financial statements and the related footnote disclosures along with the discussion and analysis. Responsibility for
the completeness and fairness of this information rests with the College’s administration.

Using this Report

The College's financial report includes three financial statements: the statement of net position, the statement of
revenues, expenses, and changes in net position, and the statement of cash flows. These financial statements are
prepared in accordance with Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement No. 35, Basic Financial
Statements—and Management's Discussion and Analysis—for Public Colleges and Universities and the State of
Michigan Manual for Uniform Financial Reporting — Michigan Public Community Colleges, 2001.

Northwestern Michigan College Foundation (the “Foundation”) is included within these statements as a discretely
presented component unit of the College's reporting entity (although it is legally separate and governed by its own
board of directors) because its sole purpose is to provide support for the College under GASB Statement No. 61,
The Financial Reporting Entity: Omnibus.

This annual financial report includes the management's discussion and analysis, the report of independent auditors,
the basic financial statements, notes to the financial statements, required supplementary information, and
supplementary information.

Financial Highlights

The College's net position increased by $1.0 million in fiscal year 2021 including activity recognized to comply with
GASB Statement No. 68, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Pensions and Statement No. 75, Accounting and
Financial Reporting for Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pensions. The College's net position increased by
$1.9 million before the adjustments required under those standards. The increase in net position stems largely from
federal relief funding allocated to the College through three major federal stimulus bills combined, along with careful
expense management throughout the pandemic. The College utilized institutional Federal COVID-19 funding to
reimburse itself for unexpected expenses and lost revenues incurred due to the pandemic. The College recognized
$5.9 million in Federal COVID-19 revenue this fiscal year.

Operating property taxes increased 3.6% due to a 5.3% increase in taxable values, offset by tax abatements. The
College had no debt-related property tax revenue in fiscal year 2021, a decrease of $2.5 million from last year. The
College’s debt millage expired in fiscal year 2020 after the underlying debt was paid off in April 2020. State
appropriations for general operations were $9.8 million in fiscal year 2021, an increase of $1.1 million or 12.6%,
and can be attributed to a large cut in appropriations during the previous fiscal year. State appropriations passed
through the College for the MPSERS Unfunded Actuarial Accrued Liability (“UAAL") payments were $2.2 million,
an increase of $251,000 from prior year. The College received an additional $427,000 in support from the State to
offset mandatory increases in MPSERS employer contribution rates in fiscal year 2021. This compares with
$458,000 in fiscal year 2020, a decrease of $31,000. Also included in State appropriations is the State's payment
in lieu of personal property taxes, which the State abolished as of December 31, 2015. This formula-based
reimbursement was $184,000 for fiscal year 2021, a $14,000 decrease from prior year. With the above, total state
appropriations increased $1.0 million in fiscal year 2021 compared to prior year.

On March 11 2020, the World Health Organization declared a pandemic with the outbreak of a respiratory disease
caused by a new coronavirus (“COVID-19"). In response to the pandemic, governments took preventative and
protective actions, such as temporary closures of non-essential businesses and “shelter-at-home” guidelines for
individuals. At that time, following the region’s first confirmed case of COVID-19, the College closed all campuses,
sending students and employees home and shifting to a fully remote online learning environment. Later that Spring,
the College developed and implemented a phased COVID-19 management plan to guide campus health and safety
protocols. In Summer and Fall 2020, following CDC and local health department guidance, the College offered

3
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Northwestern Michigan College
Management’s Discussion and Analysis

June 30, 2021

flexible learning options and delivered courses in a variety of ways including face-to-face for certain programs;
online, livestream, and hybrid learning options have since been offered for most courses.

On March 27, 2020, Congress enacted the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act (“CARES”), which
includes formula-based federal support for Colleges and Universities through its Higher Education Emergency
Relief Fund (“HEERF I"). The Department of Education allocated $2.2 million from HEERF | to the College. Half of
these funds (“the student portion”) must be used to provide emergency grants to students in need while the other
half (“the institutional portion”) may be used to offset institutional costs directly related to changes in the delivery of
instruction resulting from the COVID-19 pandemic (or to provide additional emergency grants to students). The
College utilized or distributed to students $1.7 million of HEERF | in fiscal year 2020, and the remaining $500,000
in fiscal year 2021. '

On July 31, 2020, the State passed a retroactive 11% cut to its original 2020 community college appropriation bill
in response to revenue shortfalls from the pandemic. This cut in state appropriations revenue was recognized in
fiscal year 2020. However, in the same bill, the State replaced the $1.1 million cut in full with pass-through federal
funding enacted under the CARES Act called the Coronavirus Relief Fund (CRF). The College incurred $900,000
of CRF expenses in fiscal year 2020, and the remaining $200,000 in fiscal year 2021. However, the full $1.1 million
in revenue wasn't recognized until fiscal year 2021 due to the date of the legislation.

On December 27, 2020, Congress enacted the Coronavirus Response and Relief Supplemental Appropriations Act
("CRRSAA"), which includes formula-based support for Colleges and Universities through a second round of
HEERF funding (“HEERF [I"). The Department of Education awarded $4.3 million from HEERF Il to the
College. $1.2 million of these funds (“the student portion”) must be used to provide emergency grants to
students in need while the remaining $3.1 million (“the institutional portion”) must be used to offset institutional
costs or lost revenues directly resulting from the COVID-19 pandemic (or to provide additional emergency grants to
students). The College utilized and distributed to students all $4.3 million from HEERF Il and recognized the same
in revenue in fiscal year 2021.

On March 11, 2021, Congress enacted the American Rescue Plan Act of 2021 (“ARPA”), which includes formula-
based support for Colleges and Universities through a third round of HEERF funding (“HEERF 11I"). The Department
of Education awarded $7.5 million from HEERF Il to the College. $3.7 million of these funds (“the student portion”)
must be used to provide emergency grants to students while $3.5 million (“the institutional portion”) may be used to
offset institutional costs or lost revenues directly resulting from the COVID-19 pandemic (or to provide additional
emergency grants to students). The College utilized or distributed to students $3.4 of HEERF Il in fiscal year 2021
and will utilize the remainder in fiscal year 2022.

The Statements of Net Position and the Statements of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position

The statements of net position and the statements of revenues, expenses, and changes in net position report
information on the College's net position and changes therein. These statements include all assets, liabilities, and
deferred inflows and outflows using the accrual basis of accounting.

The statements of net position include the College’s net pension and OPEB liabilities recognized in accordance
with GASB 68 and 75, respectively. The College’s total net position at June 30, 2021, 2020, and 2019 without the
accounting required by GASB 68 and GASB 75 was $85.4 million, $83.4 million, $72.4 million, respectively.
Summaries of the College's statements of net position at June 30, 2021, 2020, and 2019 are as follows:
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Condensed Statements of Net Position
as of June 30 (in thousands)

2021 ; 2020 » 2019
Current assets $ 22597 $ 21,615 §$ 11,035
Noncurrent assets:
Capital assets, net 81,035 83,145 72,873
Other noncurrent assets 20,560 16,903 30,221
Total assets 124,192 121,663 114,129
Deferred outflows of resources 15,382 19,333 20,030
Current liabilities 12,681 11,028 12,958
Noncurrent liabilities:
Net pension liability 56,797 57,892 54,493
Net OPEB liability 8,623 12,287 14,251
Other noncurrent liabilities 26,144 27,195 28,763
Total liablities 104,245 108,402 110,465
Deferred inflows of resources 13,686 11,968 11,200
Net position:
Net investment in capital assets 57,808 59,659 54,163
Unrestricted deficit (36,165) (39,033) (41,669)
Total net position $ 21643 § 20626 $ 12,494

Statements of Net Position

The primary changes in the assets, deferred outflows, liabilities, and deferred inflows of the College between
2021 and 2020 are as follows:

e Current assets increased $1 million, including a $1.5 million decrease in receivables and a $2.1 million
increase in cash. The decrease in receivables is due to the fulfilment of a $3.8 million receivable for State
capital appropriations from 2020. This was offset by a $1.1 million increase in State appropriations
receivable impacted by an 11% cut made to the 2020 community college appropriation bill in response to
revenue shortfalls from the COVID-19 pandemic. The College’s increase in cash is due to timing and the
receipt of COVID-19 related funding.

e Capital asset additions totaled $2.7 million, $831,000 of which relates to the construction of the West Hall
Innovation Center (“WHIC"), $479,000 for new energy-efficient windows in East Hall, and $446,000 for
technology upgrades to the campus Wi-Fi and firewall systems. These additions were offset by current year
depreciation of $4.7 million and net disposals of $90,000. As a result, net capital assets decreased by $2.1
million. Other noncurrent assets increased $3.7 primarily due to investing surplus cash during the year.

e Current liabilities increased $1.5 million primarily due to the College deferring federal ARPA revenue at the
end of the fiscal year of $3.4 million. This is offset by the reduction of $1.7 million in payables as a result of
large construction-related payables in the prior year that were satisfied in fiscal year 2021.

e The College’s net pension liability decreased $1.1 million due to changes in actuarial assumptions and a
slight decline in the College’s proportionate share. The College’s net OPEB liability decreased $3.7 million
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due to a 0.50% decrease in the health care cost trends rate. Other noncurrent liabilities decreased due to
current year payments on outstanding bond debt.

e Deferred inflows is the acquisition of net position that applies to future reporting periods. Deferred outflows
is the consumption of net position that applies to future reporting periods. The College’s deferred inflows
and outflows, and changes therein, stem primarily from the MPSERS plan and include changes in actuarial
assumptions, differences between expected and actual experience, changes in the proportionate share of
the pension and OPERB liabilities, and contributions to the plan subsequent to the measurement date.

The primary changes in the assets, deferred outflows, liabilities, and deferred inflows of the College between
2020 and 2019 are as follows:

e Current assets increased $10.6 million, including a $5.5 million increase in receivables and a $5.2 million
increase in cash. The increase in receivables is due to the recognition of a new $3.8 million receivable for
State capital appropriations and a $1.3 million increase in receivables from the Foundation due to increased
support. The College’s increase in cash is due to timing and lack of opportunity in the investment market.

o Capital asset additions totaled $14.7 million, $13.0 million of which relates to the construction of the WHIC.
These additions were offset by current year depreciation of $4.4 million and net disposals of $91,000. As a
result, net capital assets increased by $10.3 million. Other noncurrent assets decreased $13.3 due to
spending $8.9 million of restricted cash on WHICH and transferring (net) $4.4 million of unrestricted
investments to cash during the year.

e Current liabilities decreased $1.9 million due to the College paying off its remaining $2.9 million in
obligations for its 2009 and 2015 bonds during the fiscal year. The payoffs were offset by an increase in
accounts payable ($715,000) related to increased retainage on the WHIC project completed shortly after
year-end along with a $195,000 increase in the College’s health insurance liability due to increased claims
lag from the College’s insurance providers.

e The College’s net pension liability increased $3.3 million due primarily to a 0.25% decrease in the actuarial
discount rate applied to the calculation, highlighting the sensitivity and impact of these assumptions on the
net pension liability calculation. The College’s net OPEB liability decreased $2.0 million due to current year
payments and no significant changes in actuarial assumptions. Other noncurrent liabilities decreased due
to current year payments on outstanding debt.

o Deferred inflows is the acquisition of net position that applies to future reporting periods. Deferred outflows
is the consumption of net position that applies to future reporting periods. The College’s deferred inflows
and outflows, and changes therein, stem primarily from the MPSERS plan and include changes in actuarial
assumptions, differences between expected and actual experience, changes in the proportionate share of
the pension and OPERB liabilities, and contributions to the plan subsequent to the measurement date.

Net Position

The following chart provides a graphic breakdown of net position by category as of June 30, 2021, 2020, and 2019:
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Net Position by Category

(in millions)
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The College’s net position was $21.6 million as of June 30, 2021, an increase of $1.0 million from prior year. Net
position increased by $1.9 million in fiscal year 2021 before the effects of GASB 68 and 75. The College’s net
position was $20.6 million as of June 30, 2020, an increase of $8.2 million from prior year. Net position increased
by $11.1 million in fiscal year 2020 before the effects of GASB 68 and 75.

Statements of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position

Following is a comparison of the major components of the College’s operating results for the years ended June 30,
2021, 2020, and 2019:
Operating Results for the

Years Ended June 30 (in thpusands)

2021 , 2020 . 2019 |
Total operating revenues $ 22,758 $ 25,837 $ 29,987
Total operating expenses 57,592 60,764 61,388
Operating loss (34,834) (34,927) (31,401)
Net nonoperating revenues and
State capital contributions 35,851 43,059 33,650
Change in net position 1,017 8,132 2,249
Net position — beginning of year 20,626 12,494 10,245
Net position — end of year $ 21,643 $ 20,626 $ 12,494
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Total Revenues

Total revenues decreased $10.3 million in fiscal year 2021 due primarily to the College recognizing $7.2 million in
State capital appropriations in fiscal year 2020 vs. an $900,000 reduction in revenue in fiscal year 2021 due to the
building project finishing under budget. Additionally, tuition and fees decreased $770,000 due to a 9.4% decrease
in billable contact hours ($1.6 million decrease) and the College freezing its tuition rates for fiscal year 2021.
Additionally, the College lost a substantial amount of revenue due to closures or cancellations stemming from the
-pandemic including non-credit tuition revenue losses ($346,000), cancellation of events held in the Hagerty Center
($724,000), and various other revenue delays and losses, offset in part by increased aviation flight fee revenue as
face-to-face aviation training returned during fiscal year 2021 ($546,000). Operating property tax revenues
increased due to increases in underlying taxable values, offset by abatements. However, debt-related property tax
revenue decreased by $2.5 million as the College made final payments on remaining debt service obligations during
fiscal year 2021. Support from component unit decreased due to the timing of debt obligations payments made
between fiscal year 2021 and 2020; this was partially offset by an additional $200,000 of support provided to the
College by the Foundation due to the pandemic. The Foundation also reduced scholarship support by $171,000 to
return to similar amounts provided in years prior to fiscal year 2020 (see note below). Federal grant revenue
increased due to the additional rounds of HEERF (Il and 1l1) funding awarded in fiscal year 2021.

Total revenues increased $5.3 million in fiscal year 2020 due primarily to recognizing $7.2 million in State capital
appropriations during the year (none in 2019). Tuition and fees decreased $2.4 million. This is partially the result of
a 3.8% decline in billable contact hours offset by a 3.0% increase in tuition rates ($442,000 net decrease).
Additionally, the College lost a substantial amount of revenue due to closures or cancellations stemming from the
pandemic, including lost flight fees ($850,000), international trip fees ($243,000), non-credit tuition revenue
($179,000), cancellation of its Yellow River cohorts in China ($140,000), and various other revenue delays or losses
($172,000). At the end of fiscal year 2019, the College also disbanded its Training Services program which
generated $374,000 in prior year tuition and fees. Property tax revenues increased due to increases in underlying
taxable values, offset by abatements. Support from component unit increased due to new payments from the
Foundation in 2020 for support of College’s debt service obligations ($1.2 million) offset by reduced support for the
Dennos Museum ($376,000 decline) as the Museum finished its expansion project in the prior year. The Foundation
also provided scholarship support of $1.7 million, a $171,000 increase from prior year. Federal grant revenue
increased due to the new HEERF (CARES) funding awarded in fiscal year 2020.

The following graphs illustrate total revenues by source, by dollars and percentages, for the years ended June 30,
2021, 2020, and 2019:

Revenues by Source
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Revenues by Source

(as a % of total revenues)
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General Fund Revenues

The College accounts for its primary operations and programs within the General Fund. The primary General Fund
revenue sources are tuition and fees, state appropriations, property taxes, and Federal grants. The following graphs
illustrate total General Fund revenues by source, by dollars and percentages, for the years ended June 30, 2021,
2020, and 2019:

General Fund Revenues by Source
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Operating Revenues

The College classifies as operating revenues any sales or receipts derived from primary operations of the College
such as tuition, fees, housing, and other auxiliary operations. In addition, certain Federal, State, and private grants
are considered operating if they are not for capital purposes and are deemed a contract for services. The following
table shows the sources of operating revenues for the years ended June 30, 2021, 2020, and 2019:

Operating Revenues by Source
Years Ended June 30 (in thousands)

2021 2020 2019
Tuition and fees, net $ 17,541  § 18,311 $ 20,711
Federal grants 1,626 1,962 2,355
State grants 123 135 177
Auxiliary services 2,938 3,938 4,529
Other operating 529 1,491 2,216
Total operating revenues $ 22,757 $ 25,837 $ 29,988

Changes in operating revenues for fiscal year 2021 were as follows:

e Tuition and fees decreased $770,000 due to lost revenue related to limited offerings for the College's non-
credit tuition program ($346,000), and a 9.4% decline in billable contact hours associated with a tuition
decrease of 10.4% ($1.6 million) offset by an increase in aviation flight fees as training flights operated for
the full fiscal year ($546,000).

e Federal grant revenue from operations decreased $336,000 due primarily to a decrease in the direct
support from MARAD for the Great Lakes Maritime Academy of $321,000 from the prior year.

e Auxiliary and other operating sources decreased due to the impact of COVID-19 including capacity limits
on student housing and suspension of events at the Hagerty Center and Dennos Museum.

Changes in operating revenues for fiscal year 2020 were as follows:

e Tuition and fees decreased $2.4 million due to lost aviation flight fees, lost international trip fees, and lost
revenue related to the College's non-credit tuition program while the College closed due to the pandemic
(%1.4 million), the discontinuation of its Training Services program ($374,000), and a 3.8% decline in billable
contact hours offset by tuition increases of 3.0% ($442,000).

e Federal grant revenue from operations decreased $393,000 due primarily to the discontinuation of it
Training Services program that received a $229,000 federal grant in 2019. Direct support from MARAD for
the Great Lakes Maritime Academy also decreased $192,000 from prior year.

e Auxiliary and other operating sources decreased due to the impact of COVID-19 and providing refunds to
students for housing and dining, and cancellation of events.

Nonoperating Revenues and Capital Contributions

Nonoperating revenues are non-exchange in nature, meaning that the College receives value without directly giving
equal value in return. Nonoperating revenues include state appropriations, Federal Pell grants, property taxes,
support from component unit, and investment income. Capital contributions include state capital appropriations.
The following table shows the amounts of these sources of nonoperating revenues for the years ended June 30,

10
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2021, 2020, and 2019:

Nonoperating Revenues and Capital
Contributions by Source
Years Ended June 30 (in thousands)

2021 2020 2019

State appropriations $ 12,420 $ 11,448 $ 12,063
Pell grants 3,607 4,286 4,246
Federal COVID Funding 5,912 1,679 -
Property taxes 11,572 14,076 13,556
Support from the Foundation 4,338 4,649 3,631
Investment loss (income) (338) 574 1,112
State capital appropriations (893) 7,199 -
Total nonoperating revenues and

capital contributions $ 36,618 $ 43911 $ 34,608

Nonoperating revenue and capital contribution changes included the following factors for fiscal year 2021:

e State appropriations for general operations increased by $1.1 million, or 12.6%. State appropriations for
the MPSERS UAAL pass-through funding did not change from the prior fiscal year. The College received
additional support from the State of $427,000, a decrease of $31,000 to help offset mandatory increases in
employer contribution rates. The State’s payments in lieu of property taxes of $185,000 decreased by
$14,000 from prior year.

e Through the CARES Act and CRRSAA the College was awarded multiple grants as follows: allocated
HEERF grants of $2.2 million and spent $0.5 million as of June 30, 2021 (see note below from fiscal year
2020), allocated CRF grants of $1.1 and spent $1.1 million as of June 30, 2021, and allocated HEERF ||
grants of $4.3 and spent $4.3 million as of June 30, 2021.

e Property tax revenue decreased by $2.5 million or 17.8%. Operational property tax revenue increased by
$405,000, or 3.6%, due to increases in taxable values of 5.3% offset by property tax abatements. Debt-
related property tax revenue decreased by $2.5 million as a result of the College’s debt millage expiring
after satisfying the related debt in the prior year.

e Northwestern Michigan College Foundation support included $1.5 million for scholarships, a decrease of
$171,000. The remaining support of $2.7 million was for debt service payments on sponsored projects, the
Dennos Museum, instructional programs, board strategic initiatives, and general support.

e Investment income decreased by $912,000 due in large to the market's response to the pandemic. The
College recognized unrealized gains/(losses) of ($525,000) and $43,000 in fiscal years 2021 and 2020,
respectively; a net reduction of $568,000 from prior year. Low interest rates in the market resulted in interest
income of $185,000, a decrease of $345,000 from prior year.

e The decrease in state capital appropriations revenue is due to the completion of the WHIC building project
during the fiscal year.

Nonoperating revenue and capital contribution changes included the following factors for fiscal year 2020:

e State appropriations for general operations decreased by $884,000, or 9.2%. State appropriations for the
11
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MPSERS UAAL pass-through funding decreased by $83,000, or 4%. The College received additional
support from the State of $458,000, an increase of $169,000 to help offset mandatory increases in employer
contribution rates. The State’s payments in lieu of property taxes of $199,000 decreased by $14,000 from
prior year. Lastly, the College posted an adjustment to State appropriations at June 30, 2020 of $83,000 to
recognize deferred inflows for UAAL contributions made subsequent to the measurement date. This
adjustment is reported in the pension liability fund.

e Through the CARES Act, the College was allocated HEERF grants of $2.2 million and spent $1.7 million
as of June 30, 2020.

e Property tax revenue increased by $478,000 or 2.6%. Operational property tax revenue increased by
$478,000, or 4.5%, due to increases in taxable values of 5.1% offset by property tax abatements. Debt-
related property tax revenue increased by $42,000, or 1.5%, due to increases in taxable values offset by a
0.02 mill reduction in the bond debt service levy as a result of decreasing principal obligations.

o Northwestern Michigan College Foundation support included $1.7 million for scholarships, an increase of
$171,000. The remaining support of $2.9 million was for debt service payments on sponsored projects, the
Dennos Museum, instructional programs, board strategic initiatives, and general support.

® |nvestment income decreased by $538,000 due in large to the market's response to the pandemic. The
College recognized unrealized gains of $43,000 and $399,000 in fiscal years 2020 and 2019, respectively.
Bond issuers called all bonds held by the College during fiscal year 2020; the College invested in new debt
securities at lower market rates, reducing unrealized gains by $356,000 from prior year and driving down
interest income to $530,000, a decrease of $184,000 from prior year.

e Theincrease in state capital appropriations revenue is for the West Hall Innovation Center (“WHIC") building
project that met its 50% cost share during the fiscal year.

Operating Expenses

Operating expenses include all the costs necessary to perform and conduct the programs and primary functions of
the College such as wages and benefits, professional services, software and technology maintenance, utilities, staff
development, and depreciation expense. In the College's external financial statements, these expenses are
categorized by function in accordance with the State of Michigan Manual for Uniform Financial Reporting—Michigan
Public Community Colleges, 2001. Total operating expenses decreased by $3.1 million or 5.2%, for fiscal year 2021
and decreased by $623,000 or 1.0% for fiscal year 2020. The following table summarizes operating expenses by
function for the years ended June 30, 2021, 2020, and 2019 (update FY21):

12



25

Northwestern Michigan College
Management’s Discussion and Analysis

June 30, 2021

Operating Expenses by Function
Years Ended June 30 (in thousands)

2021 . 2020 2019
Instruction 5 17,518 § 17,775 § 18,536
Public service 1,508 2.484 2.977
Academic support 7,179 7,739 7,748
Student services 11,753 12,417 11,130
Institutional administration 6,316 6.889 7.445
Operation and maintenance of plant 4,940 5191 5,430
Depreciation 4,672 4,435 4,588
Information technology 3,706 3.835 3.534
Total operating expenses ) 57692 § 60,765 3 61,388

Highlights of the major changes between fiscal years 2021 and 2020 by category are as follows:

e Most functional operating expense categories decreased in fiscal year 2021 due to the impact of COVID-
19 and closure of campus. Instruction costs decreased due to direct reductions in supplies stemming from
the continued limitation of in-person instruction offered during the fiscal year.

e Public services decreased due primarily to closure of the Hagerty Center, the College’s conferencing and
events center, for the entire fiscal year in addition to limiting its operations for the Dennos Museum due to

the pandemic.
e Student services decreased due primarily to a decrease in Pell grant awards of $679,000.
Highlights of the major changes between fiscal years 2020 and 2019 by category are as follows:
¢ Most functional operating expense categories decreased in fiscal year 2020 due to the impact of COVID-
19 and closure of campus. Instruction costs decreased due to direct reductions in supplies stemming from

the campus closure and the cancellation of all international trips due to the pandemic.

e Student services increased due primarily to providing $836,000 in emergency student grants directly to
students as part of the CARES Act HEERF funding.

e Information technology increased due to $125,000 in purchases of data and voice equipment for the WHIC
and general increased costs of $193,000 related to maintenance and increased software licenses.

For external reporting purposes, the College's funds are consolidated and internal expenses are eliminated. The
following graph illustrates the composition of operating expenses for the years ended June 30, 2021, 2020, and

2019:

13
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Operating Expenses by Function
(as a % of total operating expenses)
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Statements of Cash Flows

Another way to assess the College’s financial health is by analyzing the statements of cash flows. This statement’s
primary purpose is to provide relevant information about the cash inflows and outflows of the College during a period
of time. This statement also helps users assess the following:

e The College's ability to generate future cash flows
o |[ts ability to meet existing obligations as they come due
e |ts needs for external financing

A summary of the College’s cash flows for the years ended June 30, 2021, 2020, and 2019 is as follows:

Cash Flows
Years Ended June 30 (in thousands)
2021 2020 2019
Cash (used in) provided by:
Operating activities 5 (28,534) (26,582} § (22,896)
Moncapital financing activities 36,344 31.193 30,714
Capital financing activities (1,732} {13,314} (4,127)
Investing activities {5.201) 5,004 7.482
Net(decrease) increase in cash 878 (3.699) 11.173
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 12,971 16.670 5497
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year 5 13,849 § 12971 % 16,670

Cash inflows from operating activities include receipts for tuition and fees, grants, contracts, and auxiliary activities,
which include student housing, the Dennos Museum, University Center, Hagerty Center, and the bookstore. These
cash inflows are offset by outflows for vendor and employee payroll payments. For fiscal year 2021, net cash used
in operating activities increased primarily due to reductions in receipts for tuition, fees, and auxiliary activities. For
fiscal year 2020, net cash used in operating activities increased due to increased payments to suppliers and
reductions in receipts for tuition, fees, and auxiliary activities.

Cash inflows provided by noncapital financing activities include primarily receipts for the College’s nonoperating
revenues such as state appropriations, property taxes, Pell grants, and support from the Foundation for purposes
other than capital. The increase in fiscal year 2021 is due primarily to increased receipts in federal COVID funding.
The increase in fiscal year 2020 is due primarily to increased receipts for property taxes.

14
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Cash used in capital and related financing activities decreased in fiscal year 2021 due to the receipt of the capital
funding from the State related to the WHICH construction. Cash used in capital and related financing activities
increased in fiscal year 2020 due to the WHIC construction payments and receipt of the related capital funding from
the State.

Cash provided by or used in investing activities fluctuates depending on the timing of purchases and sales of

investments. Cash used by investing activities increased in 2021 due to less investment activity and an unfavorable
investment market. Cash provided by investing activities decreased in 2020 due to less investment activity.

Capital Assets

At June 30, 2021, the College had $171 million invested in capital assets before accumulated depreciation of $90
million. Depreciation charges totaled $4.7 million for the current fiscal year. Details of these assets are as follows:

Capital Assets
as of June 30 (in thousands)
200 TR T
Land and land improvements $ 10,366 $ 10,374 10,324
Infrastructure 7.895 7.645 7.845
Buildings and improvements 118,420 98,729 98,463
Furniture, fixtures, and equipment 33,288 31,378 30,494
Construction in progress 876 20,195 6,779
Capital assets 5 170,845 % 168,521 § 153,905

Additional information regarding capital assets can be found in Note 6 to the financial statements.

Debt Administration

The College’s most recent bond rating by Standard & Poor's was AA. The College's most recent bond rating by
Moody's was A1. The College had the following outstanding debt balances at June 30, 2021, 2020, and 2019:

Debt Outstanding
as of June 30 (in thousands)
20217 e T 0
Bonds payable 5 25414 § 26,675 $ 30,801

Additional information regarding the College’s debt can be found in Note 7 to the financial statements.

Economic Factors That Will Affect the Future

The economic outlook for the College is strongly tied to national and state economic conditions. Although federal
and state appropriations have been determined for the upcoming fiscal year, it is important to note that in times of
financial constraint, such funding can be adversely impacted. The College currently faces a volatile, uncertain
economy due to the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic. In times of increasing unemployment, colleges traditionally see
increases in enrollment as students forgo a weak job market to seek new skills or learn a new trade. However, that
traditional cycle was counteracted by ongoing public health concerns and the unpredictability of the economy. The
College anticipates enrollment may continue to decline during the lingering pandemic. There is further uncertainty
15
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as to whether remote learning environments will attract or deter students.

Additionally, regional, state, and national data all indicate declining trends in birth rates and numbers of high school
graduates. The College combats these trends through its strategic plan, which addresses the decline in student
enrollment by investing in select programs that will attract students from outside the region. The plan provides a
diverse learning experience for regional students, which may lead to increases in the College’s market share. The
College has also responded to increased uncertainty by investing in new innovative facilities, continuing to build
reserves, and expanding global opportunities for students.

In order to help address the above concerns, the College began a comprehensive strategic planning process in
spring 2021. The purpose of this process is to develop objectives and goals for a new institutional strategic plan,
identify key targets and assessment measures, and implement and monitor a new strategic plan for the College for
fiscal years 2022 through 2025.

The College will receive a 1.0% increase in state appropriations for general operations during fiscal year 2022
based on the baseline appropriations for fiscal year 2021. The College’s fiscal year 2022 budget also includes
increased property tax revenue of 5.0% for expected increases in taxable values. For tuition, the College charges
rates based on the primary residence of the student, including categories for in-district, in-state, out of state, or
international. Further, the College uses a tiered structure to accommodate higher-cost programs such as its
maritime, culinary, automotive, audio-technology, and nursing programs. In response to our students’ economic
challenges faced during the pandemic, The Board of Trustees approved a 3.0% increase for fiscal year 2022. The
College’s Fall 2022 contact hours increased 0.6% against a budgeted 3.8% decrease.

The College has separate labor agreements with its maintenance, custodial, and grounds employees, its faculty,
and its academic chairs. The maintenance, custodial, and grounds agreement expires December 31, 2022. The
faculty and academic chair agreements expire July 31, 2022. The 2022 fiscal year budget includes employee salary
increases, however the actual allocation will be determined after Fall enroliment and other factors are known.
Approximately 85% of College employees participate in the MPSERS, which mandates employer contributions to
the plan. Required employer contribution rates have been on the rise in efforts to fully-fund and provide economic
certainty for retiree pension and healthcare benefits. While there are various plans within the MPSERS, the
contribution rate for the plan with the majority of the College’s employees was set at 28.2% for fiscal year 2022.
Contribution rates for future years are unknown, but are expected to continue trending upwards.

With the guidance of GASB 68 and GASB 75, the College now reports its proportionate share of the net pension
and net OPEB liabilities related to the MPSERS plans on its statements of net position. While the implementation
of these standards have adversely impacted the College’s net position, their application has not impacted the
College’s bond rating, cash position, nor its ability to meet current obligations. The State is projecting that the
unfunded actuarial accrued liability will be fully-funded in approximately 25 years.

Following the private sector's adoption of balance sheet accounting for leases, the Governmental Accounting
Standards Board issued GASB Statement No. 87, Leases, in June 2017 which is effective for the College’s fiscal
year 2022. The statement addresses the accounting for short and long-term leases for lessors and lessees. Since
the College does not currently have significant leasing arrangements, this standard is not expected to have a
significant impact on its operations. The College will continue to monitor the impact of GASB 87.

The College is self-funded for its employee health benefit costs. Employees are now required to contribute to the
plan with the enactment of Public Act 152 of 2011. The College’s healthcare costs have stabilized in recent years.
The College has reviewed its cash flow data and reserve funds. Northwestern Michigan College is financially
positioned to continue normal operations.
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Statement of Net Position

Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 3)
Receivables - Net (Note 5)

Prepaid expenses and other assets
Total current assets

Noncurrent assets:
Restricted cash and cash equivalents - Unspent bond
proceeds (Note 3)
Investments (Note 3)

Capital assets - Net (Note 6)
Total noncurrent assets
Total assets
Deferred Outflows of Resources (Note 8)
Liabilities
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable
Accrued liabilities and other:
Accrued wages and benefits
Accrued interest payable

Unearned revenue
Long-term obligations - Current (Note 7)

Total current liabilities

Noncurrent liabilities:
Net pension liability (Note 8)
Net OPEB liability (Note 8)
Long-term obligations - Net of current portion (Note 7)
Deposits

Total noncurrent liabilities
Total liabilities
Deferred Inflows of Resources (Note 8)

Net Position
Net investment in capital assets
Unrestricted (Note 9)

Total net position

See notes to financial statements. 18

June 30, 2021 and 2020

2021 2020
$ 11,660,987 $ 9,578,355
9,371,057 10,871,304
1,564,992 1,165,689
22,597,036 21,615,348
2,187,806 3,392,945
18,372,322 13,509,912
81,034,451 83,144,942
101,594,579 100,047,799
124,191,615 121,663,147
15,381,909 19,332,965
1,438,040 4,466,942
2,621,524 2,555,579
126,832 133,050
5,812,123 1,329,242
2,682,274 2,543,222
12,680,793 11,028,035
56,797,390 57,892,016
8,622,821 12,287,488
24,478,487 25,768,628
1,665,120 1,425,478
91,563,818 97,373,610
104,244,611 108,401,645
13,685,818 11,968,257
57,808,257 59,659,246
(36,165,162) (39,033,036)
$ 21,643,095 $ 20,626,210
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Statement of Revenue, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position

Operating Revenue

Student tuition and fees - Net of scholarship allowance of $2,493,650 and

$3,057,180 for 2021 and 2020, respectively
Federal grants and contributions
State grants and contributions
Private gifts, grants, and contracts
Other sources
Sales and services of auxiliary activities

Total operating revenue

Operating Expenses
Instruction
Public service
Academic support
Student services
Institutional administration
Operation and maintenance of plant
Depreciation
Information technology

Total operating expenses
Operating Loss

Nonoperating Revenue (Expense)
State appropriations
Federal Pell grants
Federal COVID-19 funding
Property taxes
Support from component unit
Investment (loss) income
Bond issuance and amortization costs
Interest expense on capital-related debt

Total nonoperating revenue

Income - Before capital contributions - State capital appropriations

Capital Contributions - State capital appropriations
Change in Net Position

Net Position - Beginning of year

Net Position - End of year

See notes to financial statements.

19

Years Ended June 30, 2021 and 2020

2021 2020
17,541,197 $ 18,310,823
1,626,052 1,962,027
123,205 134,563
73,970 42,550
454,810 1,448,985
2,938,226 3,938,053
22,757,460 25,837,001
17,518,001 17,775,423
1,507,705 2,483,841
7,178,877 7,738,665
11,752,668 12,417,175
6,316,285 6,888,414
4,940,289 5,190,386
4,671,562 4,435,278
3,706,320 3,835,361
57,591,707 60,764,543
(34,834,247)  (34,927,542)
12,419,660 11,448,288
3,606,784 4,286,174
5,912,440 1,679,357
11,572,372 14,076,230
4,337,904 4,649,330
(338,322) 574,459
30,374 24,874
(797,171) (878,437)
36,744,041 35,860,275
1,909,794 932,733
(892,909) 7,199,000
1,016,885 8,131,733
20,626,210 12,494,477
21,643,095 $ 20,626,210
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Statement of Cash Flows

Years Ended June 30, 2021 and 2020

Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Tuition and fees
Grants and contracts
Payments to suppliers
Payments to employees
Auxiliary activities receipts
Other
Federal direct lending receipts
Federal direct lending disbursements

Net cash and cash equivalents used in operating activities

Cash Flows from Noncapital Financing Activities
Property taxes
Gifts and contributions for other than capital purposes
State appropriations
Pell grants
Federal COVID-19 funding

Net cash and cash equivalents provided by noncapital
financing activities

Cash Flows from Capital and Related Financing Activities
Purchase of capital assets
Proceeds from the sale of capital assets
Principal paid on capital debt
Interest paid on capital debt
Capital property taxes
Capital appropriations

Net cash and cash equivalents used in capital and related
financing activities

Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Proceeds from sales and maturities of investments
Interest and investment (loss) gain - Net
Purchase of investments - Net

Net cash and cash equivalents (used in) provided by
investing activities

Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and Cash Equivalents - Beginning of year

Cash and Cash Equivalents - End of year

Classification of Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash and cash equivalents

Total cash and cash equivalents

See notes to financial statements. 20

2021 2020
$ 17,920,015 $ 17,779,663
5,778,723 2,429,789
(34,456,219)  (33,622,940)
(21,024,323)  (18,763,876)
2,938,226 3,938,053
309,808 1,657,363
5,489,094 6,805,346
(5,489,094) (6,805,346)
(28,533,770)  (26,581,948)
11,569,141 11,163,672
3,735,009 3,350,776
11,551,295 12,392,204
3,606,784 4,286,174
5,881,712 -
36,343,941 31,192,826
(2,651,216)  (14,707,000)
57,000 67,647
(1,230,000) (4,095,000)
(803,889) (905,667)
3,231 2,912,558
2,892,928 3,413,163
(1,731,946)  (13,314,299)
36,403,237 45,298,927
(863,268) 619,165
(40,740,701)  (40,913,868)
(5,200,732) 5,004,224
877,493 (3,699,197)
12,971,300 16,670,497
$ 13,848,793 $ 12,971,300
$ 11,660,987 $ 9,578,355
2,187,806 3,392,945
$ 13,848,793 $ 12,971,300
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Statement of Cash Flows (Continued)
Years Ended June 30, 2021 and 2020

2021 2020

Reconciliation of Operating Loss to Net Cash and Cash Equivalents

from Operating Activities
Operating loss $ (34,834,247) $ (34,927,542)

Adjustments to reconcile operating loss to net cash and cash equivalents
from operating activities:

Depreciation 4,671,562 4,435,278

Loss (gain) on disposal of assets 33,145 (67,646)

Changes in assets and liabilities:
Receivables (532,745) 191,194
Prepaid expenses and other assets (399,303) 154,111
Deferred outflows of resources 3,951,056 697,350
Accounts payable (3,028,902) 715,482
Accrued liabilities and other 65,945 217,760
Unearned revenue 4,722,523 (223,327)
Compensated absences 109,785 (61,941)
Net pension liability (1,094,626) 3,399,228
Net OPEB liability (3,664,667) (1,963,097)
Deferred inflows of resources 1,466,704 851,202

$ (28,533,770) $  (26,581,948)

Net cash and cash equivalents used in operating activities

See notes to financial statements. 21
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Statement of Financial Position - Northwestern Michigan College Foundation

June 30, 2021 and 2020

2021 2020
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 7,468,832 $ 6,045,962
Investments 52,589,579 41,051,581
Pledges receivable - Net of allowance 3,617,372 2,533,006
Cash surrender value of life insurance 532,949 486,007
Prepaid expenses and other assets 6,106 19,910
Total assets 64,114,838 50,136,466
Liabilities
Accounts payable 24,662 14,677
Deferred revenue 100,514 91,876
Payable to Northwestern Michigan College 2,772,812 2,189,544
Split-interest agreements payable 74,082 76,683
Total liabilities 2,972,070 2,372,780
Net Assets
Without donor restrictions 5,471,633 4,294,908
With donor restrictions 55,671,135 43,468,778
Total net assets 61,142,768 47,763,686
Total liabilities and net assets 64,114,838 $ 50,136,466

See notes to financial statements.
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Discretely Presented Component Unit
Statement of Activities - Northwestern Michigan College Foundation

Years Ended June 30, 2021 and 2020

2021 2020
Revenue, Gains, and Other Support
Contributions $ 5,720,591 $ 2,729,175
Special event revenue 309,228 268,430
Net realized and unrealized gains (losses) on investments 10,992,765 (468,608)
Investment income 926,124 1,021,632
Change in value of split-interest agreements 38,577 (5,515)
Total revenue, gains, and other support 17,987,285 3,545,114
Expenses
Program expenses - Distributions to College 3,361,851 3,666,233
Management and general 40,764 63,345
Fundraising 1,205,588 1,214,824
Total expenses 4,608,203 4,944,402
Change in Net Assets 13,379,082 (1,399,288)
Net Assets - Beginning of year 47,763,686 49,162,974

$ 61,142,768 $ 47,763,686

Net Assets - End of year

See notes to financial statements. 23
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Notes to Financial Statements
June 30, 2021 and 2020

Note 1 - Significant Accounting Policies
Reporting Entity

Northwestern Michigan College (the "College") is a Michigan community college whose financial
statements have been prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, as
applicable to public colleges and universities outlined in Governmental Accounting Standards Board
(GASB) Statement No. 35 and the Manual for Uniform Financial Reporting - Michigan Public Community
Colleges, 2001.

The accompanying financial statements have been prepared in accordance with criteria established by
the GASB for determining the various governmental organizations to be included in the reporting entity.
These criteria include significant operational or financial relationships with the College. Based on the
application of the criteria, the College has one component unit. A component unit is a separate legal
entity that is included in the College's reporting entity because of the significance of its operational
financial relationship with the College.

Northwestern Michigan College Foundation (the “Foundation”) is a separate legal entity established as a
501(c)(3) corporation to solicit, collect, hold, and invest donations made for the promotion of educational
activities at the College and to augment the facilities of the College. Although the College does not
necessarily control the timing or amount of receipts from the Foundation, the majority of resources, or
income earned thereon, and the Foundation's holdings and investments are restricted by the donors for
the activities of the College. Because these restricted resources held by the Foundation can be used only
by, or for the benefit of, the College, the Foundation is considered a component unit of the College.
Certain revenue recognition criteria and presentation features are different from those under the GASB.
No modifications have been made to the Foundation's financial information included in the College's
financial report to account for these differences. Separate financial statements of the Foundation may be
obtained by contacting Northwestern Michigan College Foundation,1701 East Front Street, Traverse City,
MI 49686.

Significant accounting policies followed by Northwestern Michigan College are described below to
enhance the usefulness of the financial statements to the reader:

Basis of Accounting

The financial statements of the College use the economic resources measurement focus and the accrual
basis of accounting. Revenue is recorded when earned, and expenses are recorded when a liability is
incurred, regardless of the timing of related cash flows.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of all highly liquid investments with an initial maturity of three months
or less when acquired.

Investments

Investments are reported at fair value. Realized and unrealized gains and losses are reflected in the
statement of revenue, expenses, and changes in net position as investment income. During fiscal years
2021 and 2020, there was $(524,946) and $44,706 of unrealized (losses) gains, respectively, on
investments the College recognized.

Restricted Cash and Cash Equivalents

The proceeds of the 2016 Community College Facilities Bonds are held in cash and investments and
restricted for capital projects. During fiscal year June 30, 2020, property taxes collected from the
College's debt millage were restricted for the principal and interest payments on the 2009 Community
College Refunding Bonds and 2015 Community College Refunding Bonds, which were paid in full as of
June 30, 2020.
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Note 1 - Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Capital Assets

Capital assets are recorded at cost or, if donated, the acquisition value at the time of donation. Expenses
for maintenance and repairs are charged to current expenses as incurred. Depreciation is computed
using the straight-line method. No depreciation is recorded on land and the art collection. Expenses for
major renewals and betterments that extend the useful lives of the assets are capitalized. Interest
incurred during the construction of capital assets of business-type activities is expensed as incurred.
Management reviews capital assets for impairment annually.

Capital assets are depreciated using the straight-line method over the following useful lives:

Depreciable Life -

Years
Buildings/Building improvements 30-40
Land improvements and infrastructure 15
Furniture, fixtures, and equipment 4-10
Docks 10

Deferred Outflows of Resources

In addition to assets, the statement of net position reports a separate section for deferred outflows of
resources. This separate financial statement element represents a consumption of net position that
applies to future periods and will not be recognized as an outflow of resources (expense/expenditure)
until then. The College reports deferred outflows of resources for certain pension-related and OPEB-
related amounts, such as change in expected and actual experience, changes in assumptions, and
certain contributions made to the plan subsequent to the measurement date. More detailed information
can be found in Note 8.

Unearned Revenue

Revenue received prior to year end that is related to the next fiscal period is recorded as unearned
revenue or deposits. It consists of approximately $197,000 and $152,000 for the 2021 and 2020 fall
semesters, respectively; approximately $1,064,000 and $731,000 for the 2021 and 2020 summer
semesters, respectively; and approximately $151,000 and $62,000 for the housing payable for the
Maritime program for 2021 and 2020, respectively. Grants received prior to qualifying expenses of
approximately $4,400,000 and $384,000 for 2021 and 2020, respectively, are also included in unearned
revenue. Generally, the College first applies restricted resources when an expense is incurred for which
both restricted and unrestricted resources are available.

Pension

For the purpose of measuring the net pension liability, deferred outflows of resources and deferred
inflows of resources related to pensions, and pension expense, information about the fiduciary net
position of the Michigan Public School Employees' Retirement System (MPSERS) and additions
to/deductions from MPSERS fiduciary net position have been determined on the same basis as they are
reported by MPSERS. MPSERS uses the economic resources measurement focus and the full accrual
basis of accounting. Contribution revenue is recorded as contributions are due, pursuant to legal
requirements. Benefit payments (including refunds of employee contributions) are recognized as expense
when due and payable in accordance with the benefit terms. Related plan investments are reported at fair

value.
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Note 1 - Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Other Postemployment Benefit Costs

For the purpose of measuring the net other postemployment benefit (OPEB) liability, deferred outflows of
resources and deferred inflows of resources related to OPEB, and OPEB expense, information about the
fiduciary net position of the MPSERS and additions to/deductions from MPSERS fiduciary net position
have been determined on the same basis as they are reported by MPSERS. MPSERS uses the
economic resources measurement focus and the full accrual basis of accounting. For this purpose,
MPSERS recognizes benefit payments when due and payable in accordance with the benefit terms.
Investments are reported at fair value, except for money market investments and participating interest-
earning investment contracts that have a maturity of one year or less at the time of purchase, which are
reported at cost.

Deferred Inflows of Resources

In addition to liabilities, the statement of net position will report a separate section for deferred inflows of
resources. This separate financial statement element, deferred inflows of resources, represents an
acquisition of net position that applies to a future period and so will not be recognized as an inflow of
resources (revenue or expense reduction) until that time. The College reports deferred inflows of
resources for certain pension-related and OPEB-related amounts, such as the difference between
projected and actual earnings of the plan’s investments. More detailed information can be found in
Note 8.

Net Position

Net position is classified according to external donor restrictions or availability of assets for satisfaction of
college obligations. Restricted net position represents amounts over which third parties have imposed
restrictions that cannot be changed by the board, including amounts that the board has agreed to set
aside under contractual agreements with third parties. Generally, the College first applies restricted
resources when an expense is incurred for which both restricted and unrestricted resources are available.
Unrestricted net position represents net position that is not subject to externally imposed constraints.
Unrestricted net position may be designated for specific purposes by action of management or the board
of trustees. Net investment in capital assets consists of capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation
and net of related debt.

Tuition and Fees

The academic programs are offered in traditional fall and spring semesters. Revenue from tuition and
student fees is recognized during the academic term. Revenue from the summer semester, which
commences in May and ends in August, is split and recognized proportionally to the number of days of
the semester within the fiscal year. Tuition revenue is reported at established rates net of institutional
financial aid and discounts provided by the College to the students.

Scholarship Discounts and Allowances

Student tuition and fees are reported net of scholarship discounts and allowances in the statement of
revenue, expenses, and changes in net position. Scholarship discounts and allowances are the
difference between the stated charge for goods and services provided by the College and the amount
that is paid by students and/or third parties making payments on the students' behalf. Certain
governmental grants, such as Pell grants and other federal, state, or nongovernmental programs, are
recorded as either operating or nonoperating revenue in the College's financial statements. To the extent
that revenue from such programs is used to satisfy tuition and fees and other student charges, the
College has recorded a scholarship discount and allowance.
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Note 1 - Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Grants and Contributions

The College is often awarded grants from the federal government, the State of Michigan, and other
agencies. Revenue from grants is recognized when all eligibility requirements, including time
requirements, are met. Grants may be restricted for specific operating or capital purposes. Amounts
restricted to capital acquisitions are reported after nonoperating revenue and expenses.

Federal Financial Assistance Programs

The College participates in federally funded Pell grants, Federal Supplemental Educational Opportunity
Grants (SEOG) grants, Federal Work-Study, Federal Direct Lending programs, Coronavirus Relief Fund
(CRF), and Higher Education Emergency Relief Fund (HEERF). Federal programs are audited in
accordance with Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative
Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards.

During the years ended June 30, 2021 and 2020, the College distributed $5,489,094 and $6,805,346,
respectively, for direct lending through the U.S. Department of Education, which is not included as
revenue and expenditures on the accompanying financial statements.

Sales and Services of Auxiliary Activities

Aucxiliary activities primarily represent revenue generated from housing, dining, conferences, and various
other departmental activities that provide services to the student body, faculty, staff, and general public.

Operating and Nonoperating Revenue and Expenses

Revenue and expense transactions are normally classified as operating revenue and expenses when
such transactions are generated by the College’s principal ongoing operations. However, revenue that is
considered to be nonexchange, such as property tax revenue, state appropriations, federal COVID-19
funding, and Pell grants, is classified as nonoperating revenue.

Internal Service Activities

Revenue and expenses related to internal service activities, including conference services, postage, and
telecommunications, have been eliminated.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the
reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of
the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the period. Actual
results could differ from those estimates.

Significant Event Impacting the College

On March 11, 2020, the World Health Organization declared the outbreak of a respiratory disease caused
by a new coronavirus, now known as COVID-19, a pandemic. In response to the COVID-19 pandemic,
governments have taken preventive or protective actions, such as temporary closures of nonessential
businesses and shelter-in-place guidelines for individuals. As a result, the global economy has been
negatively affected, and the College's operations were also impacted. Due to the shelter-in-place
guidelines during April and May 2020, the College shifted to a remote online learning environment and
sent students home. To offset the financial impact to students and the losses incurred by the College due
to the disruption caused by COVID-19, the College received grants and other relief from the Coronavirus
Aid, Relief, and Economic Security (CARES) Act, the Coronavirus Response and Relief Supplemental
Appropriations Act (CRRSAA), and the American Rescue Plan (ARP) Act.
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Note 1 - Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

For the year ended June 30, 2020 the College was allocated Higher Education Emergency Relief Fund
(HEERF) grants under the CARES Act totaling $2,124,216, of which 50 percent was required to be given
directly to students. The College also received $104,000 of Strengthening Institutions Program (SIP)
funding as part of HEERF. During the year ended June 30, 2020, the College recognized HEERF grant
revenue totaling $1,679,357. During the year ended June 30, 2020, state appropriation revenue was
reduced, and, instead, the College received Coronavirus Relief Funds (CRF) of $1.1 million, which were
required to be spent by December 30, 2020 on expenditures related to COVID-19.

For the year ended June 30, 2021, the College was allocated additional HEERF grants under CRRSAA
and ARP totaling $11,330,448, as well as $173,226 of SIP. During the year ended June 30, 2021, the
College recognized HEERF grant revenue totaling $4,840,240 and deferred revenue of $3,432,817 due
to the eligibility requirement to provide grants to students in order to recognize the institutional portion.
Additionally, the College recognized CRF grant revenue totaling $1,072,200 during the year ended June
30, 2021.

The severity of the continued impact due to COVID-19 on the College’s financial condition, results of
operations, or cash flows will depend on a number of factors, including, but not limited to, the duration
and severity of the pandemic and the extent and severity of the impact on the College's community, all of
which are uncertain and cannot be predicted.

Adoption of New Accounting Pronouncement

During the current year, the College adopted GASB Statement No. 84, Fiduciary Activities, which
establishes criteria for identifying and reporting fiduciary activities. The standard offers an exception for
reporting fiduciary activities separately if those assets, upon receipt, are normally expected to be held for
three months or less. As a result of implementing this standard, direct loans were identified as fiduciary
activities and met the exception; therefore, the impact was to reflect the cash flows in operating activities
instead of noncapital financing activities. There was no effect of this standard on the College's net
position.

Upcoming Accounting Pronouncement

In June 2017, the Governmental Accounting Standards Board issued Statement No. 87, Leases, which
improves accounting and financial reporting for leases by governments. This statement requires
recognition of certain lease assets and liabilities for leases that previously were classified as operating
leases and recognized as inflows of resources or outflows of resources based on the payment provisions
of the contract. It establishes a single model for lease accounting based on the foundational principle that
leases are financings of the right to use an underlying asset. Under this statement, a lessee is required to
recognize a lease liability and an intangible right-to-use lease asset, and a lessor is required to recognize
a lease receivable and a deferred inflow of resources. The College is currently evaluating the impact this
standard will have on the financial statements when adopted. The provisions of this statement were
originally effective for the College's financial statements for the year ended June 30, 2021 but were
extended to June 30, 2022 with the issuance of GASB Statement No. 95, Postponement of the Effective
Date of Certain Authoritative Guidance.
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Note 2 - Property Taxes
Property tax revenue is recognized in the year for which taxes have been levied.

Property taxes are levied on July 1 and December 1 based on taxable values as of the preceding
December 31. The taxes, which are collected and remitted to the College by townships and cities within
the College's taxing district, are collected through February 28. Uncollected real property taxes of the
College are turned over to the county in which the district is located for subsequent collection. The
College is subsequently paid 100 percent of delinquent real property taxes through the county's tax
revolving funds. These payments are usually received within three to five months after the delinquency

date.

During the years ended June 30, 2021 and 2020, 2.1137 mills and 2.1339 mills, respectively, of tax per
$1,000 of taxable property value in the College’s taxing district were levied for general operating
purposes on all property. Total operating property tax revenue was $11,569,141 and $11,163,672 for the
years ended June 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively.

During the years ended June 30, 2021 and 2020, 0.00 mills and 0.55 miills, respectively, of tax per $1,000
of taxable property value in the College’s taxing district were levied for debt retirement purposes. Total
property tax revenue was $3,231 and $2,912,558 for the years ended June 30, 2021 and 2020,
respectively, for retirement of debt related to the 2009 and 2015 bond issues.

The College’s property tax revenue is affected by tax abatements entered into by other governments. The
College’s property tax revenue was reduced as follows for the years ended June 30, 2021 and 2020:

2021 2020

City of Traverse City, Michigan $ 155,221 $ 193,022
Blair Township 7,014 4,935
East Bay Township 1,953 2,488
Fife Lake Township 743 945
Garfield Township 73,154 77,110
Green Lake Township 6,113 8,386
Acme Township 405 400
Paradise Township 679 812
Long Lake Township 2,964 3,680
Peninsula Township 1,119 1,420

Total $ 249,365 $ 293,198

Note 3 - Deposits and Investments

Deposits and investments are reported in the financial statements as follows:

2021 2020
Cash and cash equivalents $ 11,660,987 $ 9,578,355
Investments 18,372,322 13,509,912
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 2,187,806 3,392,945
Restricted investment securities $ 32221115 $ 26,481,212

State statutes and the College's investment policy authorize the College to make deposits in the accounts
of federally insured banks, credit unions, and savings and loan associations that have offices in Michigan.
The College is allowed to invest in U.S. Treasury or agency obligations, U.S. government repurchase
agreements, bankers' acceptances, state obligations, commercial paper of corporations located in this
state rated prime at the time of purchase, mutual funds, and investment pools that are composed of
authorized investment vehicles. The College's deposits are in accordance with statutory authority.
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Note 3 - Deposits and Investments (Continued)

The College has designated Fifth Third Bank, Huntington Bank, and Chase Bank for the deposit of its
funds.

The College's cash and investments are subject to several types of risk, which are examined in more
detail below:

Custodial Credit Risk of Bank Deposits

Custodial credit risk is the risk that, in the event of a bank failure, the College's deposits may not be
returned to it. The College's investment policy requires that financial institutions be evaluated, and only
those with an acceptable risk level for custodial credit risk are used for the College's deposits. The
College thoroughly examines the banks with which it chooses to deposit funds for the following
qualifications: federally chartered, State of Michigan qualified depository, Federal Reserve System, FDIC
member, compliance with Community Reinvestment Act, Bauer bank rating of adequate to good, and
Bankrate rating of sound to performing. As of June 30, 2021, the College's operations and debt deposit
balances of $6,666,837 had $3,119,110 of bank deposits (checking and savings accounts) that were
uninsured and uncollateralized. As of June 30, 2020, the College's operations and debt deposit balances
of $4,129,550 had $285,752 of bank deposits (checking and savings accounts) that were uninsured and
uncollateralized. The College believes that, due to the dollar amount of cash deposits and the limits of
FDIC insurance, it is impractical to insure all deposits.

Custodial Credit Risk of Investments

Custodial credit risk is the risk that, in the event of the failure of the counterparty, the College will not be
able to recover the value of its investments or collateral securities that are in the possession of an outside
party. The College's policy for custodial credit risk states that custodial credit risk will be minimized by
limiting investments to the types of securities allowed by state law and by prequalifying the financial
institutions, broker/dealers, intermediaries, and advisors with which the College will do business using the
criteria established in the investment policy. All investment securities that are uninsured and unregistered
are held by counterparties.

Interest Rate Risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the value of investments will decrease as a result of a rise in interest
rates. The College's policy minimizes interest rate risk by structuring the investment portfolio so that
securities mature to meet cash requirements for ongoing operations, thereby avoiding the need to sell
securities in the open market.

Credit Risk

State law limits investments in commercial paper to prime ratings issued by nationally recognized
statistical rating organizations. The College's investment policy does not further limit its investment
choices.

Concentration of Credit Risk

The College’s policy minimizes concentration of credit risk by requiring diversification of the investment
portfolio so that the impact of the potential losses from any one type of security or issuer will be
minimized. Furthering the College’s safety in investments is the federal government's guarantee of the
Federal Home Loan Bank, Federal National Mortgage Association, and Federal Home Loan Mortgage
Corporation’s bond debt. Standard & Poor's credit ratings for these investments are AA+.
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At year end, the College had the following investments and maturities, which include debt securities
(other than the U.S. government) held by counterparties that possess Moody's quality ratings of Aaa:

2021
Carrying Less Than 1 More Than
Description Value Year 1-5 Years  5-10 Years 10 Years
Federal National Mortgage Association $ 4,860,950 $ - $ - $ 4,860,950 $ -
Federal National Mortgage Association 4,943,600 - 4,943,600 - -
Federal National Mortgage Association 4,825,800 - - 4,825,800 -
Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation 3,741,972 - 3,741,972 - -
Total investments in debt securities $18,372,322 $ - §$ 8685572 $ 9,686,750 $ -
2020
Carrying Less Than 1 More Than
Description Value Year 1-5Years  5-10 Years 10 Years
Federal Farm Credit Banks Bond $ 4,995,000 $ - $ 4,995,000 $ - 3 -
Federal Farm Credit Banks Bond 5,000,250 - 5,000,250 - -
Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation 3,002,760 - 3,002,760 - -
Total investments in debt securities $12,998,010 $ - $12,998,010 $ - -

Note 4 - Fair Value Measurements

The College categorizes its fair value measurements within the fair value hierarchy established by
generally accepted accounting principles. The hierarchy is based on the valuation inputs used to
measure the fair value of the asset. Level 1 inputs are quoted prices in active markets for identical assets,
Level 2 inputs are significant other observable inputs, and Level 3 inputs are significant unobservable
inputs. Investments that are measured at fair value using net asset value per share (or its equivalent) as
a practical expedient are not classified in the fair value hierarchy below.

In instances where inputs used to measure fair value fall into different levels in the above fair value
hierarchy, fair value measurements in their entirety are categorized based on the lowest level input that is
significant to the valuation. The College’s assessment of the significance of particular inputs to these fair
value measurements requires judgment and considers factors specific to each asset.
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U.S. government obligations totaling $18,372,322 and $12,998,010 for June 30, 2021 and 2020,
respectively, are valued on a recurring basis using quoted market prices (Level 1 inputs). Money market
accounts totaling $6,545,657 and $9,643,552 and certificates of deposit accounts totaling $0 and
$511,902 for June 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively, are valued at amortized cost and are not subject to
fair value measurements.

The following tables present information about the Foundation's assets measured at fair value on a
recurring basis at June 30, 2021 and 2020:

Assets Measured at Fair Value on a Recurring Basis at June 30, 2021

Quoted Prices in
Active Markets  Significant Other Significant

for Identical Observable Unobservable
Assets Inputs Inputs Balance at
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) June 30, 2021
Assets
Mutual funds:
Domestic equity $ 36,842,352 $ -9 - $ 36,842,352
Fixed income 3,881,522 - - 3,881,522
Money market mutual funds 188,340 - - 188,340
Total mutual funds 40,912,214 - - 40,912,214
Fixed income:
U.S. Treasury securities 3,792,717 - - 3,792,717
Corporate bonds - 3,486,082 - 3,486,082
Total fixed income 3,792,717 3,486,082 - 7,278,799
Total $ 44,704931 $ 3,486,082 $ - 48,191,013
Investments measured at NAV:
Private equity 2,569,851
Real estate 771,468
Multistrategy 1,057,247
Total investments
measured at NAV 4,398,566
Total assets $ 52,589,579
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Assets Measured at Fair Value on a Recurring Basis at June 30, 2020

Quoted Prices in
Active Markets  Significant Other Significant

for Identical Observable Unobservable
Assets Inputs Inputs Balance at
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) June 30, 2020
Assets
Mutual funds:
Domestic equity $ 16,239,137 $ - % - $ 16,239,137
International equity 9,058,369 - - 9,058,369
Alternative strategies 5,665,270 - - 5,665,270
Money market mutual funds 39,097 - - 39,097
Total mutual funds 31,001,873 - - 31,001,873
Fixed income:
U.S. Treasury securities 3,901,201 - - 3,901,201
Corporate bonds - 6,148,507 - 6,148,507
Total fixed income 3,901,201 6,148,507 - 10,049,708
Total $ 34,903,074 $ 6,148,507 $ - 41,051,581
Investments measured at NAV -
Total assets $ 41,051,581
Note 5 - Accounts Receivable
The following is the detail of accounts receivable:
2021 2020
Student $ 2,267,802 $ 1,932,964
Grants and contracts 2,302,308 2,211,197
State appropriations 2,264,013 4,930,628
Foundation 2,738,929 2,136,034
Third-party and other 492,366 418,210
Gross accounts receivable 10,065,418 11,629,033
Allowance for doubtful accounts (694,361) (757,729)
Total accounts receivable - Net $ 9,371,057 $ 10,871,304
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Note 6 - Capital Assets

Capital asset activity for the years ended June 30, 2021 and 2020 was as follows:

Balance Balance
July 1, 2020 Additions Disposals Transfers June 30, 2021
Capital assets not being
depreciated:
Land $ 4,626,042 $ - % - 3 - $ 4,626,042
Construction in progress 20,194,920 1,400,823 - (20,719,597) 876,146
Art collection 1,648,881 55,498 - - 1,704,379
Subtotal 26,469,843 1,456,321 - (20,719,597) 7,206,567
Capital assets being depreciated:
Infrastructure 7,845,246 37,485 - 12,048 7,894,779
Buildings and improvements 98,728,526 111,802 (117,144) 19,696,463 118,419,647
Docks 2,359,401 - - - 2,359,401
Furniture, fixtures, and
equipment 27,370,122 1,045,608 (202,454) 1,011,086 29,224,362
Land improvements 5,748,392 - (8,810) - 5,739,582
Subtotal 142,051,687 1,194,895 (328,408) 20,719,597 163,637,771
Accumulated depreciation:
Infrastructure 6,981,053 157,576 - - 7,138,629
Buildings and improvements 48,312,118 2,857,028 - - 51,169,146
Docks 1,896,613 65,001 - - 1,961,614
Furniture, fixtures, and
equipment 23,059,968 1,513,503 (238,263) - 24,335,208
Land improvements 5,126,836 78,454 - - 5,205,290
Subtotal 85,376,588 4,671,562 (238,263) - 89,809,887
Net capital assets being
depreciated 56,675,099 (3,476,667) (90,145) 20,719,597 73,827,884
Capital assets - Net $ 83,144,942 §$ (2,020,346) $ (90,145) $ - $ 81,034,451
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Balance Balance
July 1, 2019 Additions Disposals Transfers June 30, 2020
Capital assets not being
depreciated:
Land $ 4,626,042 $ - % - % -9 4,626,042
Construction in progress 6,778,645 13,416,275 - - 20,194,920
Art collection 1,581,685 67,196 - - 1,648,881
Subtotal 12,986,372 13,483,471 - - 26,469,843
Capital assets being depreciated:
Infrastructure 7,845,246 - - - 7,845,246
Buildings and improvements 98,463,069 265,457 - - 98,728,526
Docks 2,359,401 - - - 2,359,401
Furniture, fixtures, and
equipment 26,553,108 907,571 (90,557) - 27,370,122
Land improvements 5,697,892 50,500 - - 5,748,392
Subtotal 140,918,716 1,223,528 (90,557) - 142,051,687
Accumulated depreciation:
Infrastructure 6,806,295 174,758 - - 6,981,053
Buildings and improvements 45,659,004 2,653,114 - - 48,312,118
Docks 1,831,612 65,001 - - 1,896,613
Furniture, fixtures, and
equipment 21,696,573 1,453,952 (90,557) - 23,059,968
Land improvements 5,038,383 88,453 - - 5,126,836
Subtotal 81,031,867 4,435,278 (90,557) - 85,376,588
Net capital assets being
depreciated 59,886,849 (3,211,750) - - 56,675,099
Capital assets - Net $ 72,873,221 § 10,271,721 $ - $ - § 83,144,942
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Long-term debt activity for the years ended June 30, 2021 and 2020 can be summarized as follows:

2021
Beginning Ending Due within
Balance Additions Reductions Balance One Year
Bonds payable:
2012 Community College Refunding
Bonds $ 355,000 $ - $ (175,000) $ 180,000 $ 180,000
2016 Community College Facilities
Bonds 19,005,000 - (780,000) 18,225,000 810,000
2018 Community College Facilities
Bonds 6,775,000 - (275,000) 6,500,000 285,000
Total principal outstanding 26,135,000 - (1,230,000) 24,905,000 1,275,000
Unamortized bond premiums 539,874 - (30,874) 509,000 30,874
Total bonds payable 26,674,874 - (1,260,874) 25,414,000 1,305,874
Accrued vacation and sick leave 1,439,228 1,216,223 (1,023,090) 1,632,361 1,314,000
Voluntary separation plan 197,748 - (83,348) 114,400 62,400

Total long-term obligations  $ 28,311,850 $ 1,216,223 $ (2,367,312) $ 27,160,761 $ 2,682,274

2020
Beginning Ending Due within
Balance Additions Reductions Balance One Year
Bonds payable:
2009 Community College Refunding
Bonds $ 420,000 $ - $ (420,000) $ - 8 -
2012 Community College Refunding
Bonds 525,000 - (170,000) 355,000 175,000
2015 Community College Refunding
Bonds 2,485,000 - (2,485,000) - -
2016 Community College Facilities
Bonds 19,760,000 - (755,000) 19,005,000 780,000
2018 Community College Facilities
Bonds 7,040,000 - (265,000) 6,775,000 275,000
Total direct borrowings and
direct placements principal
outstanding 30,230,000 - (4,095,000) 26,135,000 1,230,000
Unamortized bond discounts 570,747 - (30,873) 539,874 30,874
Total bonds payable 30,800,747 - (4,125,873) 26,674,874 1,260,874
Accrued vacation and sick leave 1,384,570 1,134,530 (1,079,872) 1,439,228 1,199,000
Voluntary separation plan 314,347 - (116,599) 197,748 83,348
Total governmental activities
long-term debt $ 32,499664 $ 1,134,530 $ (5,322,344) $ 28,311,850 $ 2,543,222

Principal and interest on the 2015 Community College Refunding Bonds and 2009 Community College
Refunding Bonds were payable from the proceeds of ad valorem taxes levied on all taxable properties in
the College's taxing district without limitation as to rate or amount. Both bonds were fully paid as of June
30, 2020.
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Community College Refunding Bonds, 2009

The College issued $3,645,000 in Unlimited Tax General Obligation Refunding Bonds with an interest
rate of 2.5 percent to 4.25 percent to refund $3.795 million of outstanding 1999 Series Bonds with an
interest rate of 4.92 to 5.75 percent, maturing in 2020. The bonds are payable from tax revenue of the
College in installments ranging from $380,000 to $420,000, are callable at a premium, and matured at
varying amounts through 2020. As of June 30, 2021 and 2020, the 1999 Series Bonds are considered
defeased, and the liability has been removed from the statement of net position. At June 30, 2021 and
2020, no amounts remain in escrow, and the defeased bonds have been paid in full. The bonds were
paid off during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2020.

Community College Refunding Bonds, 2012

The College issued $1,620,000 in General Obligation - Limited Tax Refunding Bonds with an interest rate
of 2.05 percent to refund $1.635 million of outstanding 2002 Series Bonds with an interest rate of 4.625 to
5.15 percent, maturing in 2022. The 2012 bonds are payable from operating revenue of the College in
installments ranging from $165,000 to $180,000, are callable at a premium, and mature at varying
amounts through 2022. As of June 30, 2021 and 2020, the 2002 Series Bonds are considered defeased,
and the liability has been removed from the statement of net position. At June 30, 2021 and 2020, no
amounts remain in escrow, and the defeased bonds have been paid in full.

Community College Refunding Bonds, 2015

The College issued $12,200,000 in Unlimited Tax General Obligation Refunding Bonds with an interest
rate of 0.7 percent to 1.80 percent to refund $12.1 million of outstanding 2005 Series Bonds with an
interest rate of 5.00 percent, maturing in 2020. The bonds are payable from tax revenue of the College in
installments ranging from $2,445,000 to $2,485,000, are callable at a premium, and mature at varying
amounts through 2020. As of June 30, 2021 and 2020, the 2005 Series Bonds are considered defeased,
and the liability has been removed from the statement of net position. At June 30, 2021 and 2020, no
amounts remain in escrow, and the defeased bonds have been paid in full. The bonds were paid off
during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2020.

Community College Facilities Bonds, 2016

The College issued $20,890,000 in Limited Tax General Obligation Bonds with an interest rate of 2.78
percent. The 2016 bonds are payable from operating revenue of the College in installments ranging from
$405,000 to $1,405,000 and mature at varying amounts through 2038. The net proceeds of $20,788,154
(after payment of $101,846 in underwriting fees and other issuance cost) were used to construct
residence housing, renovations to the museum, a new library, and various other campus infrastructure
projects.

Community College Facilities Bonds, 2018

The College issued $7,300,000 in Limited Tax General Obligation Bonds with an interest rate of 3.25
percent to 3.50 percent. The 2018 bonds are payable from operating revenue of the College in
installments ranging from $260,000 to $495,000 and mature at varying amounts through 2038. The net
proceeds of $7,130,750 (after payment of $169,250 in underwriting fees and other issuance cost) were
used to finance the West Hall Innovation Center renovation.

Accrued Vacation and Sick Leave

The College provides vacation benefits to employees, as defined by each respective labor contract and
administrative policy. The liability has been recorded based on the number of days available for each
employee. Additionally, the College accrues unused sick days for those union employees who have met
the conditions of the plan at year end.
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Voluntary Separation Plan

During 2018, the College offered a voluntary separation plan to certain employees. The liability and
expense was recognized when the employee accepts the offer and the amounts can be estimated.

Debt Service Requirements to Maturity

Annual debt service requirements to maturity for the above bonds and note obligations are as follows:

Years Ending

June 30 Principal Interest Total
2022 $ 1,275,000 $ 767,465 $ 2,042,465
2023 1,135,000 730,213 1,865,213
2024 1,175,000 695,425 1,870,425
2025 1,215,000 659,413 1,874,413
2026 1,265,000 622,175 1,887,175
2027-2031 7,055,000 2,500,213 9,555,213
2032-2036 8,465,000 1,331,775 9,796,775
2037-2038 3,320,000 150,000 3,470,000

Total $ 24,905,000 $ 7,456,679 $§ 32,361,679

Note 8 - Retirement Plans
Plan Description

The College participates in the Michigan Public School Employees' Retirement System (the "System"), a
statewide, cost-sharing, multiple-employer defined benefit public employee retirement system governed
by the State of Michigan that covers substantially all employees of the College. Certain college
employees also receive defined contribution retirement and health care benefits through the System. The
System provides retirement, survivor, and disability benefits to plan members and their beneficiaries. The
System also provides postemployment health care benefits to retirees and beneficiaries who elect to
receive those benefits.

The System, and all assumptions therein, is administered by the Office of Retirement Services (ORS).
The Michigan Public School Employees' Retirement System issues a publicly available financial report
that includes financial statements and required supplemental information for the pension and post-
employment health care plans. That report is available on the web at
http://www.michigan.gov/orsschools.

Benefits Provided

Benefit provisions of the defined benefit (DB) pension plan and the postemployment health care plan are
established by state statute, which may be amended. Public Act 300 of 1980, as amended, establishes
eligibility and benefit provisions for the defined benefit pension plan and the postemployment health care
plan.

Depending on the plan option selected, member retirement benefits are calculated as final average
compensation times years of services times a pension factor ranging from 1.25 percent to 1.50 percent.
The requirements to retire range from attaining the age of 46 to 60 with years of service ranging from 5 to
30 years, depending on when the employee became a member. Early retirement is computed in the
same manner as a regular pension but is permanently reduced to 0.50 percent for each full and partial
month between the pension effective date and the date the member will attain age 60. There is no
mandatory retirement age.
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Depending on the member's date of hire, MPSERS offers the option of participating in the defined
contribution (DC) plan that provides a 50 percent employer match (up to 3 percent of salary) on employee
contributions.

Members are eligible for nonduty disability benefits after 10 years of service and for duty-related disability
benefits upon hire. Disability retirement benefits are determined in the same manner as retirement
benefits but are payable immediately without an actuarial reduction. The disability benefits plus
authorized outside earnings are limited to 100 percent of the participant's final average compensation,
with an increase of 2 percent each year thereafter.

Benefits may transfer to a beneficiary upon death and are determined in the same manner as retirement
benefits but with an actuarial reduction.

Benefit terms provide for annual cost of living adjustments to each employee's retirement allowance
subsequent to the employee's retirement date. The annual adjustment, if applicable, is 3 percent. Some
members who do not receive an annual increase are eligible to receive a supplemental payment in those
years in which investment earnings exceed actuarial assumptions.

MPSERS provides medical, prescription drug, dental, and vision coverage for retirees and beneficiaries.
A subsidized portion of the premium is paid by MPSERS, with the balance deducted from the monthly
pension of each retiree health care recipient. Depending on the member’s date of hire, this subsidized
portion ranges from 80 percent to the maximum allowed by the statute.

Contributions

Public Act 300 of 1980, as amended, required the College to contribute amounts necessary to finance the
coverage of pension benefits of active and retired members. Contribution provisions are specified by
state statute and may be amended only by action of the state Legislature. Under these provisions, each
school district's contribution is expected to finance the costs of benefits earned by employees during the
year, with an additional amount to finance a portion of the unfunded accrued liability.

Under the OPEB plan, retirees electing this coverage contribute an amount equivalent to the monthly cost
for Part B Medicare and 10 percent, or 20 percent for those not Medicare eligible, of the monthly premium
amount for the health, dental, and vision coverage at the time of receiving the benefits. The MPSERS
board of trustees annually sets the employer contribution rate to fund the benefits. Participating
employers are required to contribute at that rate.

Under Public Act 300 of 2012, members were given the choice between continuing the 3 percent
contribution to the retiree health care and keeping the premium subsidy benefit described above or
choosing not to pay the 3 percent contribution and, instead, opting out of the subsidy benefit and
becoming a participant in the Personal Healthcare Fund (PHF), a portable tax-deferred fund that can be
used to pay health care expenses in retirement. Participants in the PHF are automatically enrolled in a 2
percent employee contribution into their 457 account as of their transition date, earning them a 2 percent
employer match into a 401(k) account. Members who selected this option stopped paying the 3 percent
contribution to retiree health care as of the day before their transition date, and their prior contributions
were deposited into their 401(k) accounts.

The College's contributions are determined based on employee elections. There are multiple pension and
health care benefit options included in the plan available to employees based on date of hire and the
elections available at that time. Contribution rates are adjusted annually by the ORS.
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The ranges of rates are as follows:

Pension OPEB
October 1, 2018 - September 30, 2019 13.39% - 19.59% 7.57% - 7.93%
October 1, 2019 - September 30, 2020 13.39% - 19.41% 7.57% - 8.09%
October 1, 2020 - September 30, 2021 13.39% - 19.78% 7.57% - 8.43%

Depending on the plan selected, member pension contributions range from 0 percent up to 7.0 percent of
gross wages. For certain plan members, a 4 percent employer contribution to the defined contribution
pension plan is required. In addition, for certain plan members, a 3 percent employer match is provided to
the defined contribution pension plan.

The College's required and actual pension contributions to the plan for the years ended June 30, 2021
and 2020 were $5,001,913 and $4,742,602, respectively, which include the College's contributions
required for those members with a defined contribution benefit. The College's required and actual
pension contributions include an allocation of $2,215,137 and $1,964,280 in revenue received from the
State of Michigan and remitted to the System to fund the MPSERS unfunded actuarial accrued liability
(UAAL) stabilization rate for the years ended June 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively.

The College's required and actual OPEB contributions to the plan for the years ended June 30, 2021 and
2020 were $1,282,734 and $1,258,330, respectively, which include the College's contributions required
for those members with a defined contribution benefit.

Net Pension Liability

At June 30, 2021 and 2020, the College reported a liability of $56,797,390 and $57,892,016, respectively,
for its proportionate share of the net pension liability. The net pension liability was measured as of
September 30, 2020 and 2019, and the total pension liability used to calculate the net pension liability
was determined by an actuarial valuation as of September 30, 2019 and 2018, which used update
procedures to roll forward the estimated liability to September 30, 2020 and 2019. The College's
proportion of the net pension liability was based on a projection of its long-term share of contributions to
the pension plan relative to the projected contributions of all participating reporting units, actuarially
determined. At September 30, 2020, 2019, and 2018, the College's proportion was 0.165344 percent,
0.174810 percent, and 0.181270 percent, respectively, representing a change of (5.415142) and
(3.563745) percent, respectively.

Net OPEB Liability

At June 30, 2021 and 2020, the College reported a liability of $8,622,821 and $12,287,488, respectively,
for its proportionate share of the net OPEB liability. The net OPEB liability was measured as of
September 30, 2020 and 2019, and the total OPEB liability used to calculate the net OPEB liability was
determined by an actuarial valuation as of September 30, 2019 and 2018, which used update procedures
to roll forward the estimated liability to September 30, 2020 and 2019. The College's proportion of the net
OPEB liability was based on a projection of its long-term share of contributions to the OPEB plan relative
to the projected contributions of all participating reporting units, actuarially determined. At September 30,
2020, 2019, and 2018, the College’s proportion was 0.160956 percent, 0.171189 percent, and 0.179276
percent, respectively, representing a change of (5.978392) and (4.511283) percent, respectively.
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Pension Expense and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources Related
to Pensions

For the years ended 2021 and 2020, the College recognized pension expense of $7,192,027 and
$8,572,592, respectively, inclusive of payments to fund the MPSERS UAAL stabilization rate. At June 30,
2021 and 2020, the College reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources
related to pensions from the following sources:

2021 2020
Deferred Deferred Deferred Deferred
Outflows of Inflows of Outflows of Inflows of
Resources Resources Resources Resources
Difference between expected and
actual experience $ 867,818 $ (121,226) $ 259,490 $ (241,404)
Changes in assumptions 6,293,698 - 11,335,297 -

Net difference between projected

and actual earnings on pension

plan investments 238,637 - - (1,855,341)
Changes in proportion and

differences between the College's

contributions and proportionate

share of contributions - (3,420,670) 262,191 (2,146,629)
The College's contributions to the

plan subsequent to the

measurement date 4,175,573 - 3,945,524 -

Total $ 11,575,726 $ (3,541,896) $§ 15,802,502 $ (4,243,374)

The $2,215,137 and $1,964,280 reported as deferred inflows of resources resulting from the pension
portion of state aid payments received pursuant to the UAAL payment will be recognized as state
appropriations revenue for the years ended June 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively. Amounts reported as
deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions will be recognized in
pension expense as follows:

Years Ending Amount
2022 $ 2,051,369
2023 1,253,354
2024 458,367
2025 95,167

Total  $ 3,858,257

In addition, the contributions subsequent to the measurement date will be included as a reduction of the
net pension liability in the next year.

OPEB Expense and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources Related
to OPEB

For the year ended June 30, 2021 the College recognized OPEB recovery of $66,740. For the year
ended June 30, 2020 the College recognized OPEB expense of $66,740.

41



54

Northwestern Michigan College

Notes to Financial Statements
June 30, 2021 and 2020

Note 8 - Retirement Plans (Continued)

At June 30, 2021 and 2020, the College reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of
resources related to OPEB from the following sources:

2021 2020
Deferred Deferred Deferred Deferred
Outflows of Inflows of Outflows of Inflows of
Resources Resources Resources Resources
Difference between expected and
actual experience $ - 3 (6,424,807) $ - % (4,508,627)
Changes in assumptions 2,843,115 - 2,662,450 -

Net difference between projected

and actual earnings on OPEB

plan investments 71,967 - - (213,685)
Changes in proportionate share or

difference between amount

contributed and proportionate

share of contributions 10,777 (1,503,978) 2,825 (1,038,291)
Employer contributions to the plan

subsequent to the measurement

date 880,324 - 865,188 -

Total $ 3,806,183 $ (7,928,785) $ 3,530,463 $ (5,760,603)

Amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to OPEB
will be recognized in OPEB expense as follows (note that employer contributions subsequent to the
measurement date will reduce the net OPEB liability and, therefore, will not be included in future pension

expense):
Years Ending Amount
2022 $ (1,341,865)
2023 (1,242,111)
2024 (1,039,090)
2025 (789,627)
2026 (590,233)

Total $ (5,002,926)
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Note 8 - Retirement Plans (Continued)

Actuarial Assumptions

The total pension and OPEB liabilities as of September 30, 2020 and 2019 are based on the results of an
actuarial valuation as of September 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively, and rolled forward. The total
liabilities were determined using the following actuarial assumptions:

2021 2020
Actuarial cost method Entry age normal
Investment rate of return - 6.00% - 6.80% 6.00% - 6.80% Net of investment
Pension expenses based on
N the groups
Investment rate of return - 6.95% 6.95% Net of investment
OPEB expenses based on
the groups
Salary increases 2.75% - 11.55% 2.75% - 11.55% Including wage
inflation of 2.75%
Health care cost trend rate - 7.00% (Year 1 gradedto 3.5% 7.50% (Year 1 graded to 3.5%
OPEB year 15, 3.0% to Year 12) year 12)
Mortality basis RP-2014 Male and Female RP-2014 Male and Female

Employee Annuitant Mortality Employee Annuitant Mortality
tables, scaled 100% (retirees:  tables, scaled 100% (retirees:
82% for males and 78% for 82% for males and 78% for
females) and adjusted for females) and adjusted for
mortality improvements using mortality improvements using
projection scale MP-2017 from  projection scale MP-2017 from
2006 2006
Cost of living pension 3.00% 3.00% Annual
adjustments noncompounded for
MIP members

Assumption changes as a result of an experience study for the periods from 2012 to 2017 have been
adopted by the System for use in the annual pension and OPEB valuations beginning with the September
30, 2017 valuation.

Significant assumption changes since the prior measurement date, September 30, 2019, for the OPEB
plan include a reduction in the health care cost trend rate of 0.50 percentage points, and the actual per
person health benefit costs were lower than projected. There were no significant changes in assumptions
for the pension actuarial valuation. There were no significant benefit terms changes for the pension or
OPEB plans since the prior measurement date of September 30, 2019.

Discount Rate

The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 6.00 to 6.80 percent as of September
30, 2020 and 2019, depending on the plan option. The discount rate used to measure the total OPEB
liability was 6.95 percent as of September 30, 2020 and 2019. The projection of cash flows used to
determine the discount rate assumed that employee contributions will be made at the current contribution
rate and that district contributions will be made at statutorily required rates.

Based on those assumptions, the pension plan's fiduciary net position and the OPEB plan's fiduciary net
position were projected to be available to make all projected future benefit payments of current active and
inactive employees. Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on pension plan and OPEB plan
investments was applied to all periods of projected benefit payments to determine the total pension
liability and total OPEB liability.
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The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan and OPEB plan investments was determined using
a building-block method in which best-estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return (expected
returns, net of plan investment expense and inflation) are developed for each major asset class. These
ranges are combined to produce the long-term expected rate of return by weighting the expected future
real rates of return by the target asset allocation percentage and by adding expected inflation. The target
allocation and best estimates of arithmetic real rates of return for each major asset class are summarized
in the following table:

2021 2020
Long-term Long-term
Expected Real Expected Real
Asset Class Target Allocation Rate of Return Target Allocation Rate of Return
Domestic equity pools 25.00 % 5.60 % 28.00 % 5.50 %
Private equity pools 16.00 9.30 18.00 8.60
International equity pools 15.00 7.40 16.00 7.30
Fixed-income pools 10.50 0.50 10.50 1.20
Real estate and infrastructure pools 10.00 4.90 10.00 4.20
Absolute return pools 9.00 3.20 15.50 540
Real return/Opportunistic pools 12.50 6.60 - -
Short-term investment pools 2.00 (0.10) 2.00 0.80
Total 100.00 % 100.00 %

Long-term rates of return are net of administrative expense and inflation of 2.1 percent.
Sensitivity of the Net Pension Liability to Changes in the Discount Rate

The following presents the net pension liability of the College, calculated using the discount rate
depending on the plan option. The following also reflects what the College's net pension liability would be
if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1 percentage point lower or 1 percentage point higher
than the current rate:

2021
1 Percentage Current 1 Percentage

Point Decrease  Discount Rate Point Increase
(5.00-5.80%) (6.00-6.80%) (7.00-7.80%)

Net pension Iiability of the College $ 73514587 $§ 56,797,390 $§ 42,942,561
2020
1 Percentage Current 1 Percentage

Point Decrease  Discount Rate  Point Increase
(5.00-5.80%) (6.00-6.80%) (7.00-7.80%)

Net pension liability of the College $ 75263324 $ 57,892,016 $ 43,490,603
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Note 8 - Retirement Plans (Continued)
Sensitivity of the Net OPEB Liability to Changes in the Discount Rate

The following presents the net OPEB liability of the College, calculated using the current discount rate. It
also reflects what the College's net OPEB liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that
is 1 percentage point lower or 1 percentage point higher than the current rate:

2021
1 Percentage Current 1 Percentage
Point Decrease  Discount Rate  Point Increase
(5.95%) (6.95%) (7.95%)
Net OPEB liability of the College $ 11,076,993 $ 8,622,821 $ 6,556,613
2020
1 Percentage Current 1 Percentage
Point Decrease  Discount Rate  Point Increase
(5.95%) (6.95%) (7.95%)
Net OPEB liability of the College $ 15,072,450 $ 12,287,488 $ 9,948,893

Sensitivity of the Net OPEB Liability to Changes in the Health Care Cost Trend Rate

The following presents the net OPEB liability of the College, calculated using the current health care cost
trend rate. It also reflects what the College's net OPEB liability would be if it were calculated using a
health care cost trend rate that is 1 percentage point lower or 1 percentage point higher than the current

rate:
2021
1 Percentage 1 Percentage
Point Decrease = Current Rate Point Increase
(6.00%) (7.00%) (8.00%)
Net OPEB liability of the College $ 6,477,502 $ 8,622,821 $ 11,062,856
2020
1 Percentage 1 Percentage
Point Decrease Current Rate Point Increase
(6.50%) (7.50%) (8.50%)
Net OPEB liability of the College $ 9,849,747 $ 12,287,488 $ 15,072,120

Pension Plan and OPEB Plan Fiduciary Net Position

Detailed information about the plan’s fiduciary net position is available in the separately issued MPSERS
financial report.

Payable to the Pension Plan and OPEB Plan

At June 30, 2021, the College reported a payable of $579,391 and $79,317 for the outstanding amount of
contributions to the pension plan and OPEB plan, respectively, required for the year ended June 30,
2021. At June 30, 2020, the College reported a payable of $518,011 and $70,250 for the outstanding
amount of contributions to the pension plan and OPEB plan, respectively, required for the year ended
June 30, 2020.

At June 30, 2020, the College reported a payable of $518,011 and $1 for the outstanding amount of
contributions to the pension plan and OPEB plan, respectively, required for the year ended June 30,
2020.
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Note 9 - Unrestricted Net Deficit

The College, through application of the board-approved resources guidelines, reserved the use of
unrestricted net deficit as follows at June 30:

2021 2020

Reserved for General Fund state appropriations $ 2,460,775 § 2,453,450
Reserved for General Fund medical insurance 470,000 470,000
Reserved for General Fund working capital 4,614,835 5,705,731
Reserved for maintenance and replacement after bond commitments 5,398,088 4,865,653
Reserved for auxiliary expenses 9,567,395 6,269,460
Reserved for unemployment insurance 108,082 108,082
Reserved for GLMA equipment and vessel 512,401 -
Reserved for energy contingency 200,000 200,000
Reserved for MPSERS 832,800 832,800
Reserved for transformation 1,704,584 1,596,084
Reserved for strategic projects 1,256,884 847,386
Reserved for insurance liability 69,000 69,000
Reserved for wellness initiatives 364,114 364,114

Total reserves before pension and OPEB liabilities 27,558,958 23,781,760
Reserved for OPEB liability fund deficit (12,745,423) (14,517,628)
Reserved for pension liability fund deficit (50,978,697) (48,297,168)

Total $ (36,165,162) $§ (39,033,036)

Note 10 - Risk Management

The College is exposed to various risks of loss related to property loss, torts, errors, omissions, employee
injuries (workers' compensation), and medical benefits provided to employees. The College participates
in risk management pools for claims relating to auto, property, workers' compensation, errors, omissions,
and liability.

Risk-sharing Programs

The College participates in the Michigan Community College Risk Management Authority (MCCRMA) risk
management pool for auto, property, and liability claims and in the SET-SEG risk management pool for
workers' compensation claims, errors, and omissions coverage. Both programs operate as claims
servicing pools for amounts up to member retention limits and operate as common risk-sharing
management programs for losses in excess of member retention amounts. Although premiums are paid
annually to the pools, which the pools use to pay claims up to the retention limits, the ultimate liability for
those claims remains with the College.
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Self-insurance

The College is self-insured for unemployment compensation and health benefits. The College estimates
the liability for self-insured claims that have been incurred through the end of the fiscal year, including
both those claims that have been reported and those that have not yet been reported. The estimated
liabilities for unemployment compensation for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2021 and 2020 were
insignificant. Changes in the estimated liability for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2021 and 2020 for
health benefits were as follows:

Medical Claims

2021 2020 2019
Unpaid claims - Beginning of year $ 332,800 $ 139,304 $ 120,767
Incurred claims, including claims incurred but not
reported 3,209,461 3,109,973 3,454,217
Claim payments (3,301,448) (2,916,477) (3,435,680)
Unpaid claims - End of year $ 240,813 $ 332,800 $ 139,304

Note 11 - Contingent Liabilities

The College is subject to various legal proceedings and claims that arise in the ordinary course of its
activities. The College believes that the amount, if any, of ultimate liability with respect to legal actions will
be insignificant or will be covered by insurance.

Note 12 - Dennos Museum Center

Dennos Museum Center operates as an auxiliary function of the College. Revenue and expenses for
Dennos Museum Center for the years ended June 30 were as follows:

2021 2020
Revenue
Sales and services $ 190,295 $ 334,898
Federal grants and contracts 5,298 5,000
State grants and contracts 22,200 24,000
Support from component unit 453,208 489,744
Other sources 11,043 41,401
Total revenue 682,044 895,043
Operating and Capital Expenses
Public service 721,971 886,527
Operations and maintenance of plant 91,156 152,365
Total operating and capital expenses 813,127 1,038,892
Change in Net Position before Transfers (131,083) (143,849)
Transfers In (Out) ' 328,206 (129,179)
Change in Net Position 197,123 (273,028)
Net Position (Deficit) - Beginning of year (264,106) 8,922
$ (66,983) $ (264,106)

Net Position (Deficit) - End of year
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Contributions Receivable

Foundation contributions receivable consist of several unconditional promises to give generated from a
capital campaign. They include the following:

2021 2020
Gross promises to give before unamortized discount $ 3,764,252 $ 2,703,710
Less allowance for uncollectible contributions (25,000) (15,000)
Less allowance for net present value discount (221,880) (155,704)
Total $ 3,517,372 § 2,533,006

Amounts due in less than one year and amounts due between one and five years total $1,163,712 and
$2,353,660, respectively.

Investments

Investments at the Foundation are as follows:

2021 2020
Mutual funds $ 40,912,214 $ 31,001,873
U.S. Treasury securities 3,792,717 3,901,201
Corporate bonds 3,486,082 6,148,507
Alternative investments 4,398,566 -
Total $ 52,589,579 $ 41,051,581

Net realized gains from security transactions for the Foundation for the years ended June 30, 2021 and
2020 were $1,747,505 and $376,109, respectively. Net unrealized gains (losses) from security
transactions for the Foundation for the years ended June 30, 2021 and 2020 were $9,245,260 and
$(844,717), respectively. The mutual funds and U.S. Treasury securities are valued using Level 1 inputs,
while the corporate bonds are valued using Level 2 inputs.

Net Assets

Net assets without donor restrictions consist of the following as of June 30:

2021 2020
Quasi endowment $ 1,503,480 $ 1,250,411
Undesignated net assets 3,968,153 3,044,497
Total $ 5,471,633 $ 4,294,908
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Net assets with donor restrictions as of June 30 are available for the following purposes:

2021 2020
Subject to expenditure for a specified purpose or the passage of time:
University Center $ 2,117,453 $ 1,683,130
Programs and scholarships 28,877,869 20,625,041
Dennos Museum Center 8,264,830 6,478,732
Great Lakes Campus 1,035 1,035
Not subject to appropriation or expenditure:
Endowment - Programs and scholarships 12,173,825 10,472,915
Endowment - Dennos Museum Center 4,236,123 4,207,925
Total $ 55671135 § 43,468,778
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Schedule of the College's Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability
Michigan Public School Employees' Retirement System

Last Seven Plan Years
Plan Years Ended September 30

2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014

College's proportion of the net pension

liability 0.16534 % 0.17481 % 0.18127 % 0.18535 % 0.18849 % 0.18036 % 0.17962 %
College's proportionate share of the net

pension liability $ 56,797,390 $ 57,892,016 $ 54,492,788 $ 48,031,699 $ 47,027,079 $ 44,052,461 $ 39,564,005
College's covered payroll $ 14,416,413 $ 15,079,019 $ 15,354,013 $ 15,460,385 $ 16,077,647 $ 15,446,667 $ 15,420,406
College's proportionate share of the net

pension liability as a percentage of its

covered payroll 393.98 % 383.92 % 354.91 % 310.68 % 292.50 % 285.19 % 256.57 %
Plan fiduciary net position as a »

percentage of total pension liability 59.49 % 60.08 % 62.12 % 63.96 % 63.01 % 63.17 % 66.20 %

Note: GASB Statement No. 68 was implemented in fiscal year 2015. This schedule is being built prospectively. Ultimately, 10 years of data will be
presented.

Benefit changes - There were no changes of benefit terms for the plan years ended September 30.

Changes in assumptions - There were no significant changes of assumptions for each of the reported plan years ended September 30 except for the
following:

2019 - The discount rate used in the September 30, 2018 actuarial valuation decreased by 0.25 percentage points.

2018 - The discount rate used in the September 30, 2017 actuarial valuation decreased by 0.45 percentage points. The valuation also includes the impact
of an updated experience study for the periods from 2012 to 2017.

2017 - The discount rate used in the September 30, 2016 actuarial valuation decreased by 0.50 percentage points.
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Schedule of Pension Contributions
Michigan Public School Employees' Retirement System

Last Seven Fiscal Years
Years Ended June 30

2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015

Contractually required contribution $ 4818835 $ 4,571,582 $ 4688968 $§ 4,683,462 $§ 4397619 $ 4,112,085 $ 4,726,013
Contributions in relation to the

contractually required contribution 4,818,835 4,571,582 4,688,968 4,683,462 4,397,619 4.112,085 4,726,013
Contribution Excess $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ -
College's Covered Payroll $ 14,250,782 $ 14,429,193 $ 15,279,724 $ 15,376,191 $ 15,454,034 $ 15,593,732 $ 15,479,214

Contributions as a Percentage of
Covered Payroll 33.81 % 31.68 % 30.69 % 30.46 % 28.46 % 26.37 % 30.53 %

Note: GASB Statement No. 68 was implemented in fiscal year 2015. This schedule is being built prospectively. Ultimately, 10 years of data will be
presented.
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Schedule of the College's Proportionate Share of the Net OPEB Liability
Michigan Public School Employees' Retirement System

Last Four Plan Years
Plan Years Ended September 30

2020 2019 2018 2017

College's proportion of the net OPEB liability 0.16096 % 0.17119 % 0.17928 % 0.18655 %
College's proportionate share of the net OPEB

liability $ 8,622,821 $§ 12,287,488 $ 14,250,585 $ 16,520,072
College's covered payroll $ 14,416,413 $ 15,079,019 $ 15,354,013 $ 15,460,385
College's proportionate share of the net OPEB

liability as a percentage of its covered payroll 59.81 % 81.49 % 92.81 % 106.85 %
Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of

total OPEB liability 59.76 % 48.67 % 43.10 % 36.53 %

Note: GASB 75 was implemented in fiscal year 2018. This schedule is being built prospectively. Ultimately, 10
years of data will be presented. There were no changes of benefit terms for the plan years ended September 30.

Changes in assumptions - There were no significant changes of assumptions for each of the reported plan years
ended September 30 except for the following:

2020 - The health care cost trend rate used in the September 30, 2019 actuarial valuation decreased by 0.50
percentage points, and actual per person health benefit costs were lower than projected. This reduced the plan's
total OPEB liability by $1.8 billion in 2020.

2019 - The discount rate used in the September 30, 2018 actuarial valuation decreased by 0.20 percentage
points. The valuation also includes the impact of an updated experience study for the periods from 2012 to 2017.
This resulted in lower than projected per person health benefit costs to reduce the plan's total OPEB liability by an
additional $1.4 billion in 2019.

2018 - The discount rate used in the September 30, 2017 actuarial valuation decreased by 0.35 percentage
points. The valuation also includes the impact of an updated experience study for the periods from 2012 to 2017.
This resulted in lower than projected per person health benefit costs to reduce the plan's total OPEB liability by

$1.4 billion in 2018.
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Schedule of the College's OPEB Contributions
Michigan Public School Employees' Retirement System

Last Four Fiscal Years
Years Ended June 30

2021 2020 2019 2018

Statutorily required contribution $ 1,164,378 $ 1,148,856 $ 1,192,398 $§ 1,109,834
Contributions in relation to the statutorily

required contribution 1,164,378 1,148,856 1,192,398 1,109,834
Contribution Deficiency $ - $ - $ - 9 -
College's Covered Payroll $ 14,250,782 $ 14,429,193 $ 15,279,724 $ 15,376,191
Contributions as a Percentage of Covered

Payroll 8.17 % 7.96 % 7.80 % 7.22 %

GASB Statement No. 75 was implemented in fiscal year 2018. This schedule is being built prospectively.
Ultimately, 10 years of data will be present.
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Combining Statement of Net Position

Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Receivables - Net
Prepaid expenses and other assets

Due (to) from other funds
Total current assets

Noncurrent assets:
Restricted cash and cash equivalents
Investments

Capital assets - Net
Total noncurrent assets
Total assets
Deferred Outflows of Resources

Liabilities
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable
Accrued liabilities and other:
Accrued wages and benefits
Accrued interest payable
Unearned revenue

Long-term obligations - Current
Total current liabilities
Noncurrent liabilities:
Net pension liability
Net OPEB liability

Long-term obligations - Net of current
portion

Deposits
Total noncurrent liabilities
Total liabilities
Deferred Inflows of Resources

Net Position (Deficit)
Net investment in capital assets

Unrestricted

Total net position (deficit)

Current Funds

June 30, 2021
(with comparative totals for 2020)

Board-designated Pension and OPEB
General Fund Fund Auxiliary Fund Liability Fund Restricted Fund Plant Fund Agency Fund 2021 2020

$ 11,656,762 $ - $ 3,950 $ - $ 200 $ - $ 75 § 11,660,987 $ 9,578,355
6,419,361 297,126 86,141 - 2,266,422 - 2,525 9,371,057 10,871,304
707,379 20,000 419,392 - 6,250 411,971 - 1,664,992 1,165,689

(20,993,961) 4,775,326 9,435,026 - (364,651) 5,280,062 2,167,680 - -
(2,210,459) 5,092,452 9,944,509 - 1,908,221 5,692,033 2,170,280 22,597,036 21,615,348
« = - - - 2,187,806 - 2,187,806 3,392,945
18,372,322 - - - - - - 18,372,322 13,509,912
% = - - - 81,034,451 - 81,034,451 83,144,942
18,372,322 - - - - 83,222,257 - 101,594,579 100,047,799
16,161,863 5,092,452 9,944,509 - 1,908,221 88,914,290 2,170,280 124,191,615 121,663,147
- - - 15,381,909 - - - 15,381,909 19,332,965
1,013,307 44,587 134,855 - 52,717 167,113 25,461 1,438,040 4,466,942
906,017 - - - - - 1,715,507 2,621,524 2,555,579
- - - - - 126,832 - 126,832 133,050
1,331,913 - 80,151 - 4,400,029 - 30 5,812,123 1,329,242
1,376,400 - - - - 1,305,874 - 2,682,274 2,543,222
4,627,637 44,587 215,006 - 4,452,746 1,699,819 1,740,998 12,680,793 11,028,035
- - - 56,797,390 - - - 56,797,390 57,892,016
- - - 8,622,821 - - - 8,622,821 12,287,488
370,361 - - - - 24,108,126 - 24,478,487 25,768,628
186,439 - 162,108 - 888,291 - 429,282 1,665,120 1,425,478
555,800 - 162,108 65,420,211 888,291 24,108,126 429,282 91,563,818 97,373,610
5,183,437 44,587 377,114 65,420,211 5,341,037 25,707,945 2,170,280 104,244,611 108,401,645
- - - 13,685,818 - - - 13,685,818 11,968,257
- - - - - 57,808,257 - 57,808,257 59,659,246
10,978,426 5,047,865 9,567,395 (63,724,120) (3,432,816) 5,398,088 - (36,165,162) (39,033,036)
$ 10,978,426 $ 5,047,865 $ 9,567,395 $ (63,724,120) $ (3,432,816) $ 63,206,345 $ - $ 21,643,095 $ 20,626,210
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Combining Statement of Revenue, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position

Current Funds

Board-designated

Pension and OPEB

Year Ended June 30, 2021
(with comparative totals for 2020)

Operating Revenue
Student tuition and fees $
Federal grants and contributions
State grants and contributions
Private gifts, grants, and contracts
Expended for plant facilities
Sales and services of auxiliary activities

Other sources

Total operating revenue

Operating Expenses
Instruction
Public service
Academic support
Student services
Institutional administration
Operation and maintenance of plant
Depreciation

Information technology

Total operating expenses

Operating Loss

Nonoperating Revenue (Expense)
State appropriations
Federal Pell grants
Federal COVID-19 funding
Property taxes
Support from component unit
Investment (loss) income
Bond issuance and amortization costs

Interest expense on capital-related debt

Total nonoperating revenue
(expense)

Capital Contributions

Transfers (Out) In

Change in Net Position

Net Position (Deficit) - Beginning of year

General Fund Fund Auxiliary Fund Liability Fund Restricted Fund Plant Fund Loan Fund Eliminations 2021 2020

19,730,147 § 297,126 $ 4,385 § - $ 3,189 § - $ - $ (2,493,650) $ 17,541,197 § 18,310,823
8,500 - 5,298 - 1,612,254 - - - 1,626,052 1,962,027
7,206 - 22,200 - 93,799 - - - 123,205 134,563
37,254 - 11,050 - 25,666 - - - 73,970 42,550

- - - - - 21,969,989 - (21,969,989) - -
10,000 - 2,928,226 - - - - - 2,938,226 3,938,053
313,305 - 138,505 - - 3,000 - - 454,810 1,448,985
20,106,412 297,126 3,108,664 - 1,734,908 21,972,989 - (24,463,639) 22,757,460 25,837,001
15,997,998 54,921 (13,114) 297,680 1,331,669 312,600 - (463,753) 17,518,001 17,775,423
191,879 18 1,190,030 23,637 105,166 52,472 - (55,497) 1,507,705 2,483,841
6,881,989 - 129,719 106,021 30,948 30,200 - - 7,178,877 7,738,665
4,561,888 - 2,387,461 90,728 7,245,459 5,885 - (2,538,753) 11,752,668 12,417,175
5,577,572 513,180 47,770 53,347 86,947 37,469 - - 6,316,285 6,888,414
4,350,838 - 187,437 53,454 84,221 21,269,035 - (21,004,696) 4,940,289 5,190,386
- - - - - 4,671,562 - - 4,671,562 4,435,278
3,448,724 - 41 33,600 421,390 203,505 - (400,940) 3,706,320 3,835,361
41,010,888 568,119 3,929,344 658,467 9,305,800 26,582,728 - (24,463,639) 57,691,707 60,764,543
(20,904,476) (270,993) (819,680) (658,467) (7,570,892) (4,609,739) - - (34,834,247) (34,927,542)
12,670,517 - - (250,857) - - - - 12,419,660 11,448,288
- - - - 3,606,784 - - - 3,606,784 4,286,174
- - - - 5,912,440 - - - 5,912,440 1,679,357
11,569,141 - - - - 3,231 - - 11,672,372 14,076,230
969,348 188,991 531,770 - 1,640,025 1,007,770 - - 4,337,904 4,649,330
(341,701) - - - - 3,379 - - (338,322) 574,459
s 5 - - - 30,374 - - 30,374 24,874
- - - - - (797,171) - - (797,171) (878,437)
24,867,305 188,991 531,770 (250,857) 11,159,249 247,583 - - 36,744,041 35,860,275
“ = = - - (892,909) - - (892,909) 7,199,000

(2,518,845) 1,112,401 3,585,845 - (6,115,913) 3,936,512 - - - -
1,443,984 1,030,399 3,297,935 (909,324) (2,527,556) (1,318,553) - - 1,016,885 8,131,733
9,534,442 4,017,466 6,269,460 (62,814,796) (905,260) 64,524,898 - - 20,626,210 12,494,477
$ 10,978,426 § 5,047,865 §$ 9,567,395 $ (63,724,120) $ (3,432,816) $ 63,206,345 $ - $ - $ 21,643,095 $ 20,626,210

Net Position (Deficit) - End of year

57






Northwestern Michigan College

Presentation to Board of Trustees

« Summary of Presentation to Board of Trustees:

v Audited Financial Statements and Schedule of Expenditures of Federal
Awards

= Audits required for accreditation by the Higher Learning Commission
and to receive federal grants and aid for students

= Clean, unmodified opinion — highest level of assurance

= No significant deficiencies or material weaknesses in internal controls
were identified in the financial statement audit

= Federal awards tested this year — Coronavirus Relief Fund (CRF) and
Higher Education Emergency Relief Fund (HEERF) funding

= Testing is substantially completed
= |ssuance of single audit report to follow reviews

planie
Moran



Northwestern Michigan College

Presentation to Board of Trustees

* Other Required Communications
v Our Responsibility Under Generally Accepted Auditing Standards
v Qualitative Aspects of Accounting
v" Significant Estimates
v" Allowance for uncollectible accounts
v" Proportionate share of the Michigan Public School

Employees Retirement System (MPSERS) net pension
and net OPEB liabilities

v No material adjustments required

v Implemented Government Auditing Standards Board — GASB
Statement No. 84, Fiduciary Activities — minimal impact

v Upcoming Accounting Standard — GASB Statement No. 87, Leases

plante
moran



Northwestern Michigan College

Revenues (all funds)
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Revenues were $64.6, $69.8, and $59.4 million for 2019, 2020, and 2021, respectively.



Northwestern Michigan College

Expenditures (all funds)
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Expenditures were $62.3, $61.6, and $58.4 million for 2019, 2020, and 2021, respectively.

Institutional Administration

B Information technology

Plant Operations

B Interest expense
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Northwestern Michigan College

Assets (All Funds)

Cash and cash
Deferred Outflow equivalents
11% 10%

Investments
13%

« Receivables

/ Other Assets
1%

Property and
equipment
58%

Assets = $124,191,615
Deferred Outflow of Resources = $15,381,909



Northwestern Michigan College

Liabilities and Net Position (All Funds)

2021

Net position Current liabilities
15% 9%

Deferred inflows
10%

v7 

Long term debt
obligations
19%

Net OPEB liability
6%

Net pension
liability
41%

Liabilities = $104,244.611
Deferred Inflows of Resources = $13,685,818
Net Position = $21,643,095
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Commitment Scholarship
Program

Northwestern Michigan College

The Commitment Scholarship Program
e Whatis it?

O  Tuition & Fees
m The Commitment Scholarship covers the costs associated with tuition and fees at NMC.
o 60 credit hours / 3 years
= With Commitment, students have 60 credit hours and/or 3 years with which to use the
Scholarship.
e Who's eligible?
o Academic promise and potential
m High School students who have demonstrated academic promise and potential, and
have been recommended by their guidance counselor.
o Financial Need
m Students who have a demonstrated financial need or hardship that might otherwise
preclude them from attending college.
o First-generation student
m Students who are first in their family to attend and complete college.
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The Commitment Scholarship Program

e Requirements - High School

Graduate high school with at least a 2.50 GPA.

Participate in Commitment Program events and activities.
Attended a participating high school for all four years.
Meet high school attendance guidelines.

Model good citizenship and not use alcohol and/or drugs, etc.
e Requirements - NMC

Maintain at least a 2.00 GPA.

Attend Program meetings held by Coordinator.

Participate in Program related events, on- and off-campus.
Meet NMC'’s Satisfactory Academic Progress.

O O O O O

o O O O

The Commitment Scholarship Program

e Program Events, i.e.:
o “Ready or Not?!” series -- Preparing students, and parents/guardians, for the transition from
high school to college.
m  Your First Steps to NMC! -- Planning for Fall 2022
m Financial Literacy & the Costs of College
m I'm First! -- Navigating College
m A Parent’s 101 Guide -- After High School
o “Fall Kickoff event” -- Complete your senior-year checklist by reviewing financial aid,
scholarships, textbook info., how to read your class schedule, walking tour of campus, etc.
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Program Events .. .

By the Numbers:

e 1993
o Since 1993, the Commitment Scholarship has given high school students access to
post-secondary education at NMC.
e 1,500+
o For nearly 30-years, the Commitment Scholarship has served more than 1,500 students
throughout northwest Michigan.
e 18
o 18 high schools -- from Frankfort to Alba, and from Northport to Manton -- participate in the
Commitment Scholarship Program.
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By the Numbers:

e 250+
o  Currently, there are more than 250 students in the Commitment Program -- which includes
students in high school and NMC.

e $6,420.00
o The potential value of the Commitment Scholarship for an in-district student who completes 60
credit hours and/or two years of coursework at NMC.

e $13,620.00
o The potential value of the Commitment Scholarship for an out-of-district student who
completes 60 credit hours and/or two years of coursework at NMC.

Poignant Reminders:

Dear Kevin,

Thank you so much for everything you do at NMC and for the Program. The
Commitment Program has honestly changed my life in such a positive way.
Without this Scholarship, | don’t think | would’ve been able to attend college.
Thank you so much for everything you do to make the Program work. I’'m so
excited to attend NMC next year!

Sincerely,

(Leland HS, 2017)
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Poignant Reminders:

To Whom This May Concern,

Thank you so much for the Scholarship given to me from NMC. It makes a huge
impact in my college life and enables me to be successful and fulfill dreams that in
the past seemed bleak. Thank you again and God bless you and your kind heatrt.

Sincerely,

(Kingsley HS, 2017)

Poignant Reminders:

Dear Kevin,

Thank you for all that you have done for me through high school. The
Commitment Scholarship has been a wonderful opportunity for me. | am so glad
that you have been helping us all (Commitment Scholars) get to know each other
and preparing us for what is to come at NMC and the world ahead. | look forward
to my time and experiences at NMC. This opportunity helps me fulfill or at least
work towards my goal of graduating college/university with minimal or no debt.
Thank you.

(Leland HS, 2020)
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Commitment Scholarship Program

o Commitment Cohort 2021 -- (42):
o Total number of inductees admitted to NMC:
o Total number of inductees enrolled at NMC:

67% of admitted students
5 attending another institution

® 79% of original cohort went on to post-secondary education

2 joined the armed forces
2 moved out-of-state
5 ineligible, no contact, “gap” year, etc.

o Average contact hours of those enrolled:
o Average high school GPA of those enrolled:

o Commitment Cohort 2020 -- (100):
o Total number of inductees admitted to NMC:
o Total number of inductees enrolled at NMC

Fall 2020:
® 64% of admitted students
Spring 2021:
® 76% retention from fall
Summer 2021:
® 24% took at least one summer course
Fall 2021:
® 97% retention from spring semester

o Average contact hours of those enrolled:
o Average GPA of those enrolled:

o Commitment Cohort 2019 -- (100):
o Total number of inductees admitted to NMC:
o Total number of inductees enrolled at NMC
m Fall 2019:

o 83% of admitted students

m Spring 2020:

o 79% retention from fall

m  Summer 2020:

o 30% took at least one summer course

84



m Fall 2020:
® 76% retention from spring
m Spring 2021:
® (6% retention from fall
m  Summer 2021
® 48% took at least one summer course
m Fall 2021
e ]120% retention/increase from spring semester

o Average contact hours of those enrolled:
o Average GPA of those enrolled:

Graduation Info.:

> Commitment 2017 cohort:
o 26 graduates

> Commitment 2018 cohort:

o

19 graduates

o 4 pending in 2022

> Commitment 2019 cohort:
o 3 graduated

o

11 pending in 2021/2022

> Commitment 2020 cohort:

o

11 pending graduates in 2022

m 74 ‘graduates’ / ‘pending graduates’ over the past four-years.
m In the previous 2-years (2015-2016), only 9 graduates.

35

23

11
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NMC BOT Faculty Presentation Form
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NMC BOT Faculty Presentation Form

This form will be shared with the BOT before the meeting so they know what you will be presenting and a
little bit about you. Thank you for sharing your time and expertise with the BOT so they continue to be
informed about the high quality educators and programs we have here at NMC.

Name *

Brandon Everest / Kristy McDonald

Your Title *

Social Science Faculty / Business Faculty

Presentation Title *

NMC ELI: Supporting Experiential Education through COVID and Beyond

Please provide a description of what you will be presenting to the BOT. *

Our presentation will provide a *faculty focus* in what the ELI has done to support teachers in planning,
implementing and expanding experiential learning opportunities (ELOs) in the last 16 months. The
presentation will also focus on what is planned for this academic year.

https://docs.google.com/forms/d/1QyoymEZUInTeCMOPAoKOYJNJYb_17y_jin6_ZNJjbzM/edit#response=ACYDBNjm_dVi-ZHXJCCd4VIWTUAvcwfA...  1/2



NMC BOT Faculty Presentation Form
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Who are you? Please upload or type a bio here. If you do not have one, just tell The BOT a bit
about yourself. This info will be given to them before the meeting. *

Brandon Everest has been a NMC social science professor for over 20 years. He has used experiential
learning techniques in classrooms and professional environments during that time. He is dedicated to
'‘whole person education’ that seeks deep connections between people and what they are learning in order
to increase effectiveness and make for lasting impact. Brandon came to teaching after a career in social
work. He specializes in poverty, social mobility and inequality in his field, and has a background in research
and community service. As a teacher, he promotes civic and democratic education, connecting learners to
their communities and promoting personal and professional development and lifelong learning.

Kristy McDonald is a business professor at Northwestern Michigan College whose passion is helping
people discover their full potential for innovation, communication and happiness. She joined the college in
2006 after teaching at Eastern Michigan University in the communications department for five years. Kristy
started her career at NMC as a career counselor, and moved to faculty in 2011. Her areas of expertise are:
interpersonal and professional communication, marketing, conscious communication, positive psychology,
customer service and mindfulness. In 2012 she received NMC’s Imogene Wise Faculty Excellence Award.

This form was created inside of Northwestern Michigan College.

https://docs.google.com/forms/d/1QyoymEZUInTeCMOPAoKOYJNJYb_17y_jin6_ZNJjbzM/edit#response=ACYDBNjm_dVi-ZHXJCCd4VIWTUAvcwfA...  2/2


https://www.google.com/forms/about/?utm_source=product&utm_medium=forms_logo&utm_campaign=forms
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NMC
EXPERIENTIAL
LEARNING
INSTITUTE

ELI Is the Future of What Is Possible at NMC

The future of education needs to:

Promote engagement and impact

Enhance humanity

Prepare for an interconnected world

Help learners to be life and work ready

Include reflective practice to promote critical thinking

LA

NMC
EXPERIENTIAL
LEARNING
INSTITUTE
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ELI Is the Future of What Is Possible at NMC

e For these reasons and others related to COVID, ELI has focused on teacher
development in the last 18 months.

e Thisis a report of examples of faculty work during this period, which were

NMC
EXPERIENTIAL
LEARNING
INSTITUTE

supported by ELI.

ELI vs. COVID

e COVID has presented opportunities and challenges for the institute.
o (+) Supporting online and livestream formats and development
o (+) Incorporation of reflecting as a primary tool of critical thinking
o (+) Reinforcing the importance of feedback for better connections in

this environment

NMC
EXPERIENTIAL
LEARNING
INSTITUTE
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ELI vs. COVID

e COVID has presented opportunities and challenges for the institute.
o (-) Few people are on campus for richer experiences
o (-) Creative community partnerships have not been safe and have been
harder to find and create (until recently)
o (-) Teachers and staff are still ‘pivoting” with fewer staff across the
college to support the work

NMC
EXPERIENTIAL
LEARNING
INSTITUTE

Professional Development

e Workshops (on various topics including reflection, feedback, planning,
development)
e EL101 (online and livestream)
o Comprehensive boot camp training for beginners and advanced faculty.
® EL Learning Community
o Upon completion of EL101, take next steps and share with a committed
community of practice.
e ELI Fellowship
o Intensive 5-week course with graduate level training
o 10 Fellows graduated with roughly 30 course sections attac‘hed.?)'(v;‘»EmENnm_

LEARNING
INSTITUTE
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v ol i

. Lisa Blackford

Tammy Coleman Sarah Montgomery-Richards Social Science
Science Humanities/Communications

CIT

2020 ELI Fellows

i i\

‘ \

Brian Sweeney Caroline Schaefer-Hills
Technical Visual Communications

2021 ELI Fellows

Constanza Hazelwood

Water Studies

Cathy Warner Cheryl Bloomquist

Becca Richardson Communications >
Mathematics Early Chlll:ihood
Education

NS NMC
S ) EXPERIENTIAL
. . LEARNING
Betsy Boris, Nursing INSTITUTE
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Northwestern
Michigan
College
Enrollment Services
To: Dr. Nick Nissley, President
From: Todd Neibauer, VP for Student Services & Technologies
Date: October 19, 2021
Subject: Enrollment Report — October 2021

Spring 2022

Though the Spring enrollment cycle is the shortest, it is still early in that cycle and registration
does not open until October 20, 2021. Below is the year over year comparison for applications
and admits. The difference last year in the overall trend reflects the beginning of Future for
Frontliners. While there are large differences in the percentages from last year, it is important to
note that that these differences were not reflected in the final numbers. While we had more
applications and admits last year than the previous year, we ended up with fewer admits
registered than the previous year.

Current Statistics
(Source: October 13, 2021 -Digital Dashboard — Same Date Comparison, SP2019-2022)

2019 2020 2021 2022
Applications 531 503 756 515
Admits 268 309 512 276

The final numbers from last year are included below to illustrate how the cycle matured through
January 2021. The differences that were evident in October did not change much in actual
numbers. While Frontliners can no longer enroll under that program, we have maintained contact
with students and those eligible for Reconnect to assist them should they decide to attend.

Last Year Final Statistics
(Source: Digital Dashboard — Same Date Comparison, January SP2019-2021)

2019 2020 2021
Applications 1,794 1,636 1,853
Admits 1,213 1,283 1,362

Admits Registered 794 836 824
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MEMO
Enrollment Services
TO: Nick Nissley, President
Todd Neibauer, Vice President for Student Services & Technologies
FROM: Linda Berlin, Director of Financial Aid
DATE: October 15, 2021
SUBJECT: NMC Scholarship and Financial Aid Report for Aid Year 2020-2021

Northwestern Michigan College (NMC) Enrollment Services provides students and families with a variety of
opportunities to learn about the availabilty of federal, state, and institutional financial aid. From financial aid,
scholarship and FAFSA (Free Application for Federal Student Aid) workshops, to individualized assistance, we
strive to promote college affordability and payment options to students. We encourage students and families to
actively engage in their financial aid process and to take advantage of our services, from before they make a
college decision to long after they graduate from NMC.

During the 2020-2021 aid year, the Financial Aid Office partnered with Student Success to implement targeted
coaching to students who had appealed and were placed on an academic plan for financial aid. Success coaches
made sure they understood the terms of their plan and that they were accessing all available supports.

In addition to our usual sources of financial aid, during the 2020-2021 aid year, some additional forms of
assistance were available to students:

e NMC disbursed $1.7 million in Higher Education Emergency Relief Funds to our students.

e The federal government provided relief through existing financial aid programs.

o Return of aid was waived for students who withdrew due to COVID-19 related issues. They were
not required to repay loans for the semester, and the Pell Grant usage did not count toward their
lifetime limit.

o More flexibility was allowed in deciding appeals for students who failed to meet federal
Satisfactory Academic Progress and lost aid.

e The State of Michigan implemented the Futures for Frontliners and Michigan Reconnect aid programs.
Nearly 300 NMC students recieived funds from these programs.

Cost of Attendance and Student Need
Financial need is the difference between cost of attendance and expected family contribution. Fifty-five percent
of NMC students completed a FAFSA this year. Fifty percent received aid (difference is ineligible students).

Cost of attendance (COA) refers to the total amount of education expense: tuition, fees, books and supplies,
housing and dining, personal expenses, and transportation expenses. NMC’s annual full time cost of attendance
ranged from $15,400 for an in-district student in a general program living with family to $51,300 for an out-of-
state Aviation student living off campus. The average COA was $15,700.

Expected Family Contribution (EFC) is the result of the FAFSA calculation, which determines the amount the
student/family could contribute toward the COA. The average EFC was $4,400.
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ELI Fellowship Focus

Some highlights of recent graduates:

® Becca Richardson

o Revamp of MTH231 Calculus

o Developmental MTH amp with Brie Mills (ELI101 grad)
e Cheryl Bloomquist

o ECE developments with Discovery Center

o Oleson Center ideas brewing
® Betsy Boris

o NUR supporting program intake and honors program O NMC

. . ., . . EXPERIENTIAL
o Starting a ‘Belonging’ learning community LEARNING

INSTITUTE

Directors as Teachers

e BUS231
o Food for Thought Thanks-for-Giving
o Project management and event planning
o Communications is key

e SOC101 (and SWK170, ENG111)
o Poverty focus
o Walk for Health and Housing
o Place-based research

NMC
EXPERIENTIAL
LEARNING
INSTITUTE




95

NMC
EXPERIENTIAL
LEARNING
INSTITUTE

EL at NMC

NMC
EXPERIENTIAL
LEARNING
INSTITUTE



https://youtu.be/P3STAYp1dAU
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=P3STAYp1dAU
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The average gross need for NMC students this year was $11,300.

Gross Need $11,300 — Average Aid* $5,800 = Average Unmet Need $5,500

*Aid is defined here as federal, state, and institutional scholarships, grants, loans, and work-study.

Paying for College
While NMC students and their families pay the biggest share of their college expenses, financial aid is critical to
covering the cost of attendance.

Paying for College at NMC

M Student paid (incl. college savings accts.)*
M Loans

Grants

Scholarships

B School/State for Dual Enrolled/Early College

M Veteran benefits
W Waivers

B Other third parties

* Does not reflect amounts students paid for costs not billed by NMC (off campus housing, transportation, etc), while grants loans, and scholarship
amounts may include funds refunded to students for these costs.

Financial Aid Sources
NMC’s financial aid includes funding from federal, state, institutional and other outside resources. Of the $14
million in financial aid disbursed to students in 2020-2021:
e $9.7 million or 70% from Title IV Federal Student Aid programs: Pell Grant, Supplemental Educational
Opportunity Grant, Direct Student and Parent Loans, Work-Study funds, and Futures for Frontliners.
e $1.5 million or 11% from the State of Michigan: Tuition Incentive Program, Michigan Competitive
Scholarships, Fostering Futures Scholarship, and Michigan Reconnect.
e $1.5 million or 11% from external sources: scholarships and private loans (most commonly used by
Aviation students to cover flight fees).
e Arecord $1.2 million or 8% from NMC scholarships.

Thanks to increases in State and Federal Grants, in combination with reduced borrowing, for the first time in
recent history, grants and scholarships made up a higher percentage of total aid than loans.

2019-2020 2020-2021
Grants and Scholarships 5 7,847,621 48% S 7,134,742 51%
Loans 5 8,354,169 52% & 6,785,182 49%
Total Aid S 16,201,790 $ 13,919,924




NMC Foundation Scholarships

Thirty percent of NMC students received scholarships, up again from 25% in 2019-2020. The most recent National
Postsecondary Student Aid Study (NCES NPSAS:16) states that only 6% of public 2-year college students receive
institutional aid. Several factors make it possible for NMC to continue increasing the number of students

receiving scholarships:

While NMC has awarding control over donor/institutional scholarships, not all funds can be awarded and
disbursed in an award year. The majority of scholarships are awarded for the entire year with the award being
split 50% to fall and 50% to spring. Funds are also saved to assist with student needs for the summer semester.
In 2020-2021, 82% of available funds were disbursed.

Efforts by staff and faculty to encourage application. Forty-one percent of enrolled students (1,711)
completed the scholarship application

Public Relations and NMC Foundation provide personal stories to help students understand that every
student has the potential to receive a scholarship

Continued donor support

Scholarships

Available
Disbursed

Percent Disbursed

# of NMC Scholarship Recipients
% of Unduplicated Headcount
Average Amount per Recipient

External Scholarships Disbursed
# of External Scholarship Recipients
Average Amount

CARES Act Higher Education Emergency Grants
# of CARES Recipients
Average Amount

2019-2020
5 1,520,819
$ 1,355,491

89%

1,149

25%

s 1,180
$ 370,095
202

5 1,832
5 835,590
479

3 1,744

2020-2021
$ 1,427,087
% 1,167,252

82%

1,259

30%

5 027
S 320468
169

5 1,896
$ 1,746,320
1881

S 928

Unduplicated Headcount for the year is the actual number of individual students enrolled for the year.
Students may be enrolled in one or more classes, but they are counted only once. *Percentages are based

on the total number of unduplicated students for the year.
2019-2020

4,546

Student Loan Debt
The Financial Aid Office provides loan counseling and monitors student debt and default rates:

(Source: U.S. Dept. of Education College Scorecard)

31% of NMC's full-time, first-time undergraduate students borrowed federal loans
$9,574-523,853 is the median total debt after graduation (dependent on field of study)
$91-$228/mo. is the typical monthly loan payment
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NMC’s 2018 Cohort Default Rate (CDR) of 10.2% compares favorably to other similar colleges. The 2018
CDR measures the percentage of borrowers who entered repayment between Oct. 1, 2017 and Sept. 30,
2018 and subsequently defaulted prior to Sept. 30, 2020.

NMC
Michigan 2-year public schools
Mational 2-year public

Michigan all schools
National all schools

MNMC
#in Default
#in Repayment

FY2018

10.6%
12.1%
11.5%

na

7.3%

99
929

FY2017

13.2%
16.1%
15.1%

na

9.7%

131
990

Northwestern Michigan College Cohort Default Rates
Compared to State and National Rates

FY2016 FY2015

16.1%
16.7%
15.9%

11.5%

10.1%

186
1151

15.4%
18.2%
16.7%

12.2%

10.8%

185
1195

FY2014

15.3%
19.9%
18.3%

12.9%

11.5%

213
1,382

Source: NSLDS.ed.gov
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MEMO

Northwestern Administrative Services
Michigan
College
To: Dr. Nick Nissley, President
From: Troy Kierczynski, Vice President of Finance and Administration
Date: October 18, 2021
Subject: Summary Report for the General Fund as of September 30, 2021

The attached reports summarize the financial results for the General Fund as of September 30, 2021.
The third month represents 25% of the year.

Month End Results
The month end reports are interim and not a reflection of actual year-end results.
The timing of revenue and expenses fluctuates throughout the year and will affect year end results.

The general fund ended the month with revenue over expenses of $1,288,324. Revenue increased by
1% when comparing September 2021 to September 2020. The increase is primarily due to timing of
property tax receipts. Operating expenses through September 2021 were comparable to the same
period last year.

Revenue (letters refer to the attached General Fund summary)

A. Tuition and fees decreased $202,000 (-4%) compared to September 2020 largely due to the College
eliminating its flexible learning online course fee. For Fall 2021, the budget was set at 33,823 for a
total budgeted revenue of $6,523,277. Actual fall billing hours are 34,805 with actual fall revenue
of $6,729,814. Fall revenue is over budget by $206,537.

B. Property Taxes: Tax revenue is recorded as payments are received. The overall increase for the
fiscal year is expected to be 3% over the previous fiscal year.

C. State Sources include budget appropriations, personal property tax payments and MPSERS
retirement offset payments. State appropriations payments will begin in October.

D. Federal Sources consist primarily of direct payments from MARAD restricted for academy
operations and fuel.

E. Actual year-to-date investment income recorded for fiscal year 2021 reflects interest income only.
Interest income is comparable to prior year due to a lingering low interest rate environment.

F. Both Private Sources and Other Sources are timing and event dependent.

EXxpenses

G. Salaries and benefits are under budget due to open unfilled positions.

H. Overall expenses are under budget at this time.

I. Capital Outlay reflects expenditures budgeted through the allocation of COAT dollars.
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Northwestern Michigan College
Unaudited

Summary Report for General Fund Accounts

Month end reports are interim and not a reflection of year end results.
Fiscal Year 2022, Period 03

2021-2022 YTD % of
Funds Accounts Adjusted Budget Activity Annual Budget
TOTAL GENERAL FUND
50 Revenues
Tuition and Fees 19,916,110 5,515,881 27.710% A
Property Taxes 12,030,623 3,982,361 33.10% B
Other Local 0 0 *
Local Sources 31,946,733 9,498,242 29.73%
State Sources 10,730,000 1,376 0.01% C
Federal Sources 1,075,000 0 0.00% D
Private Sources 868,897 110,185 12.68% F
Investment Income 172,000 40,877 23.77% E
Other Sources 392,600 92,557 23.58% F
Total Revenues 45,185,230 9,743,237 21.56%
60 Labor
Salaries & Wages 22,282,506 4,423,221 19.85%
Benefits 9,332,244 1,945,734 2085% ¢
Total Labor 31,614,750 6,368,955 20.15%
70 Expenses
Purchased Services 2,311,193 519,479 22.48% H
Supplies & Materials 3,318,742 443,129 13.35% H
Internal Services 99,220 -11,709 -11.80% H
Other Expenses 1,670,689 281,761 16.86% H
Institutional Expenses 1,737,924 247,486 14.24% H
Maintenance & Renovation 1,828,864 369,196 20.19% H
Prof Develop, Travel & Events 362,070 65,163 18.00% H
Capital Outlay 177,852 6,760 3.80% |
Total Expenses 11,506,554 1,921,266 16.70%
Total Expenditures 43,121,304 8,290,220 19.23%
80 Transfers
Transfers 2,063,926 164,693 7.98%
Total Transfers 2,063,926 164,693 7.98%
Total Expenditures and Transfers 45,185,230 8,454,913 18.71%
Net Revenues over (under) Expenditures 0 1,288,324
03_Summ Gen Fund_Sep_2021.xls
for internal use only 10/14/2021 11:28 AM Page 1 of 1
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Northwestern Michigan College INTERIM
Comparison - Fiscal Year to Date This statement does not
General Fund reflect year-end resuilts.
Northwestern Sep 2021 vs. Sep 2020
Michigan
College
YTD YTD
9/30/2021 9/30/2020 $ Diff % Diff Comments
Revenue
Local Sources:
" Primarily due to lower academic course fees in FY22 and timing of fall tuition allocations; partially offset
Tuition & Fees 5,515,881 IEIENAVALIN $ (202,070) by higher summer tuition in FY22
Property Taxes 3,982,361 3,667,421 314,940 Timing of property tax payments received from townships and overall increases in taxable values
Total Local Sources 9,498,242 112,870
State Sources 1,376 (506) Changes in values for Ren Zone payment
State PPT Reimbursement - - Consistent with prior year
Federal Sources - (9,677) Timing of MARAD payments
Private Sources 110,185 (11,829) Timing of Foundation gifts
Investment Income 40,877 (917) Consistent with prior year
Other Sources 92,557 25,559 Primarily due to higher write off reversals for students in FY22
Total Revenue 9,743,237 9,627,737 115,500
Expenses
Salaries and Wages 4,423,221 4,656,779 (233,558) Due to open, unfilled positions
Benefits 1,945,734 1,949,404 (3,670) 0% Consistent with prior year
. Primarily due to food services for GLMA cruises (higher cruise activity in summer 2021 than summer
Purchased Services 519,479 371,748 147,731 40% 2020) and timing of Sodexo invoices
. . Primarily driven by lower general supplies and printing expenses; partially offset by timing of software
Supplies & Materials 443,129 464,056 (20,927) -5% license purchases
. Timing of internal events/charges including fall fitness fee transfers and internal bookstore charges in
Internal Services (11,709) (4,657) (7,052) 151% Fy22
o Primarily related to higher recruiting/promotional expenses and non-professional development travel
Other Expenses 281,761 298,572 (16,811) -6% expenses in FY22; partially offset by timing of equipment rental expenses from the GLMA tugboat lease
Institutional Expenses 247,486 222,314 25,172 11% Primarily due to the timing of invoices/payments and slight increases in insurance expenses
Maintenance & Renovation 369,196 341,246 27,950 8% Primarily due to higher facility maintenance expenses in FY22
. Increase in professional development expenses as professional development has been added back into
Professional Development 65,163 52,106 13,057 the budget in FY22
Capital Outlay 6,760 5,816 944 Timing of COAT purchases
Total Expenses 8,290,220 8,357,384 (67,164)
Transfers 164,693 115,190 49,503 Aviation flight hours transfer

Total Expenses & Transfers 8,454,913 8,472,574 (17,661)

Net Revenue Over (Under) Expenses [EIRWLERYZE $ 1,155,163 KRN
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Northwestern Michigan College INTERIM
Comparison - Month Over Month This statement does not
General Fund reflect year-end results.
o Sep 2021 vs. Aug 2021
Michigan
College
YTD YTD Sep 21 Aug 21
9/30/2021 8/31/2021 Activity Activity Comments
Revenue
Local Sources:
Tuition & Fees $ 5515881 KIEVIALEE $ 2308170 IB 926,539 tSueizt;i);erzlmber had 4.5 weeks of fall tuition allocated; August had 1 week of summer & 0.5 weeks of fall
Property Taxes 3,982,361 1,325,995 2,656,366 1,067,806 Timing of tax collections received
Total Local Sources 9,498,242 4,533,706 4,964,536 1,994,345
State Sources 1,376 1,376 Annual Ren Zone payment received in September
State PPT Reimbursement - - Consistent with prior month
Federal Sources - - Consistent with prior month
Private Sources 110,185 110,185 Quarterly Foundation invoicing recognized in September
Investment Income 40,877 (1,644) Primarily due to corrections made to accrued interest recognition made in September
Other Sources 92,557 34,520 Consistent with prior month
Total Revenue 9,743,237 4,634,264 5,108,973 2,056,239
Expenses
Salaries and Wages 4,423,221 2,653,880 1,769,341 1,650,105 Increased hours for adjuncts, supplementals, and students in Sept as Fall semester commenced
Benefits 1,945,734 1,189,782 755,952 644,258 Increased hours for adjuncts, supplementals, and students in Sept as Fall semester commenced
Purchased Services 519,479 359,292 160,187 261,258 Primarily due to timing of food services for the GLMA cruises
Supplies & Materials 443,129 277,181 165,948 167,401 Consistent with prior month
. Primarily due to internal transfer occurring in September to general fund from halls auxiliary fund for
Internal Services (11,709) 219 (11,928) 659 L ess fee rovenue
Other Expenses 281,761 165,274 116,487 107,197 Consistent with prior month
Institutional Expenses 247,486 132,750 114,736 106,736 Consistent with prior month
Maintenance & Renovation 369,196 205,476 163,720 142,582 Primarily due to timing of software and equipment maintenance expenses in September
Professional Development 65,163 40,984 24,179 31,193 Primarily driven by timing of professional development expenses
Capital Outlay 6,760 - 6,760 - $6,760 Fireboy Suppression System for GLMA
Total Expenses 8,290,220 5,024,838 3,265,382 3,111,389
Transfers 164,693 - 164,693 - Aviation flight hours transfer

Total Expenses & Transfers 8,454,913 5,024,838 3,430,075 3,111,389

Net Revenue Over (Under) Expenses $ 1,288,324 K RLEYZ)] $ 1,678,898
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Northwestern Michigan College
Statement of Net Postion
General Fund

Michigan

September 30, 2021 College

As of September 30,

Assets 2021
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 3,839,462 5,404,576 A
Accounts receivable, net 5,895,731 5,902,715
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 1,026,587 520,607 B
Total current assets 10,761,780 11,827,898
Noncurrent assets
Long-term investments 22,985,122 21,040,873 A
Due to other funds (14,274,010) (15,325,945)
Total noncurrent assets 8,711,112 5,714,928
Total assets $ 19,472,892 17,542,826
Liabilities
Current liabilities
Accounts payable 90,761 257,173
Accrued payroll 2,024,123 1,828,322
Unearned revenue 4,977,903 4,569,978
Total current liabilities 7,092,787 6,655,473
Noncurrent liabilities
Voluntary separation plan 114,400 197,748
Total noncurrent liabilities 114,400 197,748
Total liabilities 7,207,187 6,853,221
Net position
Net position, beginning of year $ 10,978,421 9,534,442
Change in net position 1,287,284 1,155,163
Total net position 12,265,705 10,689,605
Total liabilities and net position 19,472,892 17,542,826

Notes:

A - Cash and investments balances fluctuate due to timing of investment purchases, sales, and payroll.
Larger balance in long-term investments offsets the lower balance in cash and cash equivalents.

B - Timing of prepaid expenses
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MEMO

Public Relations, Marketing,

Northwestern 1 : i .
Michigan and Communications
College

To: Nick Nissley, President

From: Diana Fairbanks, Associate Vice President of PR, Marketing and Communications
Date: 10-18-21
Subject: September 2021 Monthly Report

September is a busy month for PRMC as the new academic year is in full swing. This also leads
to an increase across all media categories. Highlights include strong earned and owned media
with many positive news stories including distribution of COVID relief to students, alumni in the
news, and efforts to help our veterans. PRMC has also been working with Human Resources on
the new positions in the re-imagined PRMC effort supported by the Board earlier this year. The
job openings were posted with applications accepted until mid-October followed by material
review and interviews. The following is an overview of the work of PRMC for September 2021.

Paid Media
e Google search, display, remarketing
Paid Facebook
Paid Instagram
Spotify
Programmatic digital
Ticker
TCBN
Northern Express

September highlights for our digital marketing efforts include campaigns for gaming audiences
and adult learners. Conversions to the “apply” page were also up. September was a more
competitive month so cost per click was higher and we saw a dip in performance in some areas.
We continue to refine our digital campaigns to better respond to the algorithms and increases
conversions. Our identified conversion goals include visiting the Ellucian page to apply or log-in,
the admissions page and mail/telephone link.

Outcomes:
e Conversions

Campaigns September | MOM
‘21

NMC General- 183
- |




remarketing (adult

learner MI)

NMC General 141.4 +141
(traditional learners

MI) '
NMC General- 97.1 "‘
display (adult +97
learners MI)

NMC General- 145.23 -851

display (traditional
learners local)

NMC General display | 136.17 -45 §
(adult learners local)

Paid social
o One FB/IG campaign (8/1-8/31)
m 423 clicks to landing page
Ticker
o 5 headliner ads
m clicks to landing page
Programmatic
o Gamer campaign
m clicks to landing page
Web traffic (8/1-8/31)

o Affordable degrees landing page for paid campaigns

m 11,010 visits/pageviews

m 4% of all site traffic

m It's driven:
e 334 visits to apply page
e 239 NMC homepage

o Adult learners landing page

m 9,602 visits/pageviews

m 3% of all site traffic

m It's driven:
e 412 visits to the apply page
e 63 NMC homepage

e 53 visits to the admissions page
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https://www.nmc.edu/landing/affordable-degrees.html
https://www.nmc.edu/landing/adult-students.html
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Earned Media
Monthly recap of media coverage and sentiment

NMC was featured in 79 media mentions with an estimated publicity value of $60,500 based on
the Cision media monitoring system. Media stories that had high attention include:
e Indigenous boarding school experience, art showcased at Dennos Museum Center
Record-Eagle, September 10 (picked up by U.S. News and World Report)
23 of the Best Winter Getaways to Start Planning Now Oprah Daily, September 17
NMC students to receive fourth round of federal COVID funds TV 9 & 10 News,
September 15
e Great Lakes Maritime Academy To Accept Military Service For Credits The Ticker,
September 29

Media sentiment ranking for September (based on a Cision algorithm that ranks pre-assigned
tone of keywords) shows 97.5% positive or neutral coverage. This is basically flat MOM (August,
97.9%) and YOY (2020, 97.4%).

Owned Media
Monthly published owned media

PRMC published three NMC Now e-newsletters to 866 supporters and community members.
The average open rate was 46.2%. The feature article highlighting NMC alum Edris Fana and
his family in Afghanistan was the most read story. Other popular links include:

e NMC distributes $5.2 million to students over 18 months 9-29-21
NMC set to kick off first esports season TV 9&10, Sept. 20
Free College? Read Between The Lines Northern Express, Sep 4, 2021

2021-2022 State Budget Helps People Get Higher Education or Skills Training 9&10
News, September 29

Work continues strategic planning communications and COVID-19 communications. Planning is
underway for the January Nexus magazine which will highlight the college’s strategic planning
and DEI efforts.

Shared Media
Monthly progress report on NMC’s Main social media channels

September is traditionally a strong month for shared media performance as activity picks up on
campus early in the fall semester. We saw a lot of organic growth that was further boosted by an
increase in paid content. Highest performing organic posts this month include the first class of
learners 70 years ago, Lobdell’'s opening, GLMA alumni and nursing students.

Platform Followers | Impressions | Engagement | Gender Age Region
Facebook | 11,881 160% Up* 62% Up Fans #1 25-34 | GT Region
Up 1% *.‘ " 68% F (26.8%) | & Grand
' YOY YOY 31% M Rapids
YOY #2 35-44



https://www.record-eagle.com/news/indigenous-boarding-school-experience-art-showcased-at-dennos-museum-center/article_397574f8-0fd2-11ec-a77a-7fed57bbe195.html
https://www.oprahdaily.com/life/g25713584/best-winter-getaways/?slide=19
https://www.9and10news.com/2021/09/15/northwestern-michigan-college-students-to-receive-fourth-round-of-federal-covid-funds/
https://www.traverseticker.com/news/great-lakes-maritime-academy-to-accept-military-service-for-credits/
https://mailchi.mp/nmc/nmc-now-afghan-alumnus-reflects-on-current-events
https://mailchi.mp/nmc/nmc-now-stewarding-covid-relief-funds
https://www.9and10news.com/2021/09/20/northwestern-michigan-college-set-to-kick-off-first-esports-season/
https://www.northernexpress.com/news/feature/free-college-read-between-the-lines/
https://www.9and10news.com/2021/09/29/2021-2022-state-budget-helps-people-get-higher-education-or-skills-training/
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118% Up* 25% Down Reach (20%)
Up 0.1% -I MOM § 49%F
-I MOM 50%M #3 45-54
MOM (19.9%)
Instagram | 2,746 50% Up 35% Down 58% F #1 18-24 | GT Region
up 10% ' YOY § 36% M | (28.6%) |& Grand
I YOY 6% NB Rapids
YOY) 34% Up #2 25-34
MOM (29.7%)
1.7% Up 25% Up '
I‘ ‘I #3 35-44
MOM 18.2%
MOM (18.2%)

* This was boosted by an increase in paid social media content.
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Northwestern Michigan College
Board of Trustees
Audit Committee Minutes
October 4, 2021
Osterlin Building 203
1701 E. Front Street, Traverse City, MI 49686

Committee Chair Kennard Weaver called the meeting to order at 10:01 a.m.

Members Present: Kennard Weaver, Ken Warner, Laura Oblinger

Others Present: Nick Nissley, Troy Kierczynski, Lindsey Lipke, Lynne Moritz, Jeff Pohler
Katie Thornton

Review and Draft Audited Financial Statements

Katie Thornton and Jeff Pohler of Plante & Moran, PLLC, presented an overview of the draft
required communications and financial report for the year ended June 30, 2021, to the group.

Thornton noted overall a great audit was conducted through a hybrid of in-person and virtual
communication and stated no deficiencies need to be reported. The impact of the COVID-19
pandemic on the operations of the college is included again for this year as a sensitive disclosure
affecting the financial statements. Thornton also thanked Troy Kierczynski, Lindsey Lipke, and
college staff for their cooperation and courtesy. Jeff Pohler then reviewed the fincancial report,
stating a clean unmodified opinion was received.

The committee recommended bringing the audit to the full Board for review and auditors shared
they will present the audited financial statements to the full Board at their meeting on October
25,2021.

Public Comment—There was no public comment offered.

The meeting was adjourned at 10:58 a.m.

Recorded by Lynne Moritz, Executive Director of the President’s Office and Board Operations
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Northwestern Michigan College
Board of Trustees
Building and Site Committee Minutes
October 18, 2021
Gray Conference Room 202
University Center
2200 Dendrinos, Traverse City, MI 49686

Committee Chair Rachel Johnson called the meeting to order at 3:35 p.m.

Members Present: ~ Rachel Johnson, Doug Bishop
Members Absent: Laura Oblinger
Others Present: Nick Nissley, Vicki Cook, Troy Kierczynski, Lynne Moritz

Signage for the Timothy J. Nelson Innovation Center

The committee reviewed options for placement of signage for the renaming of the previously
referred to West Hall Innovation Center. At the regular Board of Trustees meeting on July 26,
2021, the Board approved renaming the building the Timothy J. Nelson Innovation Center, in
honor of the former president of NMC who was instrumental in obtaining state funding for the
project. The committee unanimously agreed on placing the building name on the southwestern
facade, as seen in attached rendering.

There was discussion regarding lighting for the signage, to which the committee expressed desire
for the lighting to be placed not on the building, but either backlighting the lettering or
originating from the ground. The plaque inside the building will also be updated.

The next step for the project is to move forward to the bidding process.

There was also discussion to refer to the new, full name of the building in documents such as
meeting appointments, minutes, and agendas, although the complete update of campus
wayfinding signs is still in progress.

Public Comment—There was no public comment offered.

The meeting was adjourned at 3:45 p.m.

Recorded by Lynne Moritz, Executive Director of the President’s Office and Board Operations
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MEMO

Northwestern Administrative
Miclligan ChAanrvsinne
College
To: Dr. Nick Nissley, President
From: Stephen Siciliano, Vice President for Educational Services

Vicki Cook, Special Assistant to the President
Date: October 14, 2021

Subject: Monthly Strategic Planning Update
Attachments: Timeline, Process Map

The Strategic Planning process is progressing as agreed upon by the Board of Trustees and the
Strategic Planning Steering Committee (SPSC). CampusWorks was able to facilitate meetings
with the SPSC to finalize the draft Mission, Vision, Values and Strategic Directions. Once
reviewed by the Board of Trustees, a survey to all constituent groups that participated in the
SWOT analysis and previous focus groups will be conducted.

The SPSC reviewed the feedback from the September Board of Trustees meeting. They have
revised both the Mission and Vision statements based on that feedback. The revised statements
are on page 2 of this memo. The Committee also completed the values statements.

The Strategic Directions and the descriptions were completed by the SPSC at the October 8§,
2021 meeting. These Strategic Directions establish the ends for the college and thus will require
Board approval as all ends policies do. Objectives set the course, or means, to reach the
established directions. The SPSC and Work Team will write three to five objectives for each of
the Strategic Direction statements. These are what will differentiate us from our peers.
Objectives are a means to the end statements, or strategies, and will be the responsibility of the
administration to lead and implement with our faculty and staff.

Public Relations continues to provide monthly updates to employees and students. Community
members and NMC stakeholders can access the Strategic Planning website to stay informed.
The website is nmc.edu/strategic-planning

Upcoming October and November activities include:
e October 22 Objective workshop #1
October 25 BOT to review draft strategy statements to be included in survey
October 26-31 Survey and Focus groups
November 5  Objective workshop #2
November 8  BOT policy committee to review Mission, Vision and Values
November 9  Implementation workshop
November 11  SPSC to approve objectives
November 19  Action planning meeting


https://www.nmc.edu/strategic-planning/index.html
https://www.nmc.edu/strategic-planning/index.html
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Mission: We deliver lifelong learning opportunities to transform lives and enrich our
communities.

Vision: We aspire to be a global community where all learners unlock their full potential.
Values:

— Integrity: We act with the highest degree of ethics, personal responsibility, fairness, and
openness ensuring that we match our actions with our words.

— Collaboration: We co-create solutions and celebrate the joy of working together,
empowering each other and nurturing community partnerships for the benefit of our
learners.

— Respect: We demonstrate mutual regard and appreciation for one another to assure a
culture of trust.

— Inclusion: We foster belonging and build organizational capacity that celebrates
diversity and promotes equity.

— Innovation: We are agile, imaginative, and forward-thinking, taking risks to meet future
needs of the college and our communities.

— Learning: We are life-long learners; learning is foundational to a thriving community
and is at the center of all we do.

— Stewardship: We practice stewardship by investing responsibly in the human, physical,
financial, and environmental resources entrusted to our care.

— Excellence: We commit to the highest standards of quality and service, and to exceeding
the expectations of our learners and communities through continuous improvement.

Strategic Directions and Strategy Statements: (The destination or ends for the institution)

— Future-Focused Education: Enhance offerings through flexible academic pathways,
innovative instructional delivery models, and relevant, hands-on educational experiences
to empower global learners for the future.

— Student Engagement and Success: Develop and deliver comprehensive support
services, robust engagement opportunities, and a vibrant collegiate experience to foster
learner success, goal completion, and employability.

— Diversity, Equity, and Inclusion: Cultivate an inclusive environment that fosters a
sense of belonging and delivers equitable opportunities so all are able to thrive and
succeed.

— Community Partnerships and Engagement: Expand collaborations that advance
community engagement, economic and workforce development, and innovative
opportunities for lifelong learning.
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Institutional Distinction and Sustainability: Leverage distinctive programs that
strengthen institutional sustainability and expand global connections for our learners and
communities.
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Strategic Planning Process
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Month Activity Purpose Participants
April Trend in Higher Education workshop Inform campus BOT; Work team;
community Strategic Planning committee
(SPSC),employees
Student Experience workshop Guiding principles when Students; employees; SPSC and
drafting implementation | Work Team
plans
SWOT survey Inform planning process BOT; SPSC, Work team;
employees
Internal focus groups Inform plan Specific groups
May External Focus groups Inform plan Specific groups
SWOT analysis Inform plan SPSC/Work team
Data review workshop (internal data) Inform plan SPSC/Work team
Future summit topics Inform plan SPSC/Work team
Mission workshop Input into statement BOT
June Mission/Vision/Values Inform SPC BOT
Future Summit; Inform plan themes for BOT,;SPSC;employees; Work
objectives team
July 7 Meet to review timeline and roles and Update on process and SCPSC
3:00-4:00 responsibilities future meetings
July 14 Future Summit impact statements and Inform plan and scenario | SPSC, work team
2:00-4:00 scan team assignments building
Scan team research Inform objectives SPSC, work team, other experts
August 10 | Mission/Vision Workshop Recommend Mission SPSC committee
2:00-5:00 statements to BOT
August 17 | Scan teams to present findings Inform plan SPSC/Work Team
3:00-5:00
August 23 | Opening Conference values workshop Input into values All Employees
statements
August 24 | Scan to plan workshop #1 Strategy Start to draft Strategies SPSC/Work team
9:00-12:00 | workshop for plan
August 30 | Value survey Inform SPSC on value All employees
statements
Sept. 8 Vision & Values workshop Finalize Vision & values SPsC
2:00-5:00 statement to send to BOT
for employee survey
Sept. 15 Advancing strategies workshop #2 Finalize strategies SPSC and work team
2:00-5:00
Sept 17 Values workshop Statements to define SPSC
values
Sept 22 Approve statement to be sent to BOT Mission, vision, values to | SPSC
9:00-11:00 | for inclusion in survey to constituents finalize
Sept 27 BOT presentation: Provide input on BOT

Mission/Vision/Values statement survey

statements
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Strategic Planning Process
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Month Activity Purpose Participants
October 8 | Finalize Excellence value statement Finalize for survey SPSC
1:00-3:00 Revise Mission & Vision statement

Finalize Strategic Directions statements
October 22 | Objective workshop #1 Draft objectives for each | SPSC, work team, other college
11:00-2:00 of the strategies management
October 27 | Implementation workshop Design implementation SPSC
9:30-11:30 process
October 25 | BOT Mission/Vision/Values & Strategy Input before survey & BOT

statements focus groups
Week of Survey and focus groups Feedback on mission, BOT, Employees, Students &
Oct 25 vision, values and Community

strategies
Nov 2 or 4 | Finalize Mission, Vision, Values and Finalize based on SPSC
TBD strategies feedback of survey &
focus groups

Nov. 5 Objective workshop #2 Draft objectives for each | SPSC, work team, other college
11:00-2:00 of the strategies management
Nov. 8 Submit to BOT policy council finalized Review for BOT first BOT Policy committee
11:00 statements — to submit for first reading | reading
Nov 9 Implementation workshop Draft implementation of | SPSC
3-5 strategic plan
Nov 11 Approve objectives Approve objectives and SPSC
10-12:00 assign leads
Nov 19 Action Planning workshop #1 Draft implementation Strategy Owners;
12:00-3:00 plan and assign leads leads; management team
Nov 22 Submit objectives to BOT Inform BOT BOT
Dec 3 Action planning workshop #2 Draft implementation Strategy Owners;
12:00-3:00 plan and assign leads leads; management team
Dec 8 Finalize strategic plan Recommend final plan for | SPSC
1:00-4:00 BOT approval
Dec 20 Strategic Plan submitted to BOT BOT to set time for BOT

approval after review

Note: The timeline is not inclusive of all activities but is intended to provide major milestones in the process.



Approved by SPSC - May 2021
Faculty, Staff, Students — April 2021 —— G
Y
Trends ST e Campus &
: urve
Presentation gl y Community
Experience April - May 2021
Workshop Campus &
FUture. Community
SPSC - July/Aug Summit Constituents
2021 SPSC - Sept 2021 June 2021
Mission Vision Scan Teams SPSC & Work e
Development Development & Scan to Team —July/Aug
Workshop Workshop Plan 2021
Employees — Sept 2021
SPSC Approved & BOT Approved — Oct 2021 SPSC & Work Team —
e Sept/Nov 2021
Strategies & P
. . - oI Approved by SPSC
[ Mission ] [ VISI_On ] Objectives Reviewed by BOT
Oct/Nov 2%

NMC's Strategic Plan 2022-2025 /

Submitted by SPSC for BOT Approval - Dec 2021

CAM PU S‘ JORKS THIS INFORMATION MAY BE PROPRIETARY OR CONFIDENTIAL WORK. IT IS NOT INTENDED FOR DISTRIBUTION WITHOUT PRIOR WRITTEN CONSENT. 1
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MEMO: Resource Development

To: The Board of Trustees
President Nick Nissley, Ed.D.

From: Rebecca Teahen, CFRE
bl gl g e Assoc. Vice President, Resource Development

FOUNDATION Executive Director, NMC Foundation

Date: October 18, 2021

Subj: Foundation Update

Fund Raising — a “check” on FY22 goals

e The foundation continues its active fundraising efforts to support NMC students, programs, and
the Fund for NMC. We continue to ask you and our community to make gifts of all sizes to
help students because every gift makes a difference for a student in need and to
advance critical NMC programs.

e To date, donors have given:
$513,315 Total received (including Annual Fund, pledges, and documented
planned gift intentions) raised toward goal
+ $71.792 Gross event revenue
$585,107 Total of gifts + events (Goal: $3,550,000)

Note: We have also received $400,000 from a previously
documented planned gift.

Foundation Initiatives
e Fall direct mail and email campaigns are underway.

e Staff are hosting donors and potential donors for regular lunches at Lobdell’s - A Teaching
Restaurant. This is a great way to connect donors directly with students and the impacts of
philanthropy at NMC.

e Giving Tuesday is Tuesday Nov 30, 2021 . The Foundation will have an active communications
and fundraising campaign around this date.

e The Foundation is eager to learn more about the NMC strategic plan, and begin a
complementary strategic planning process to determine how to best support the college and our
students in the future.

1701 East Front Street, Traverse City, MI 49686 231-995-1021
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@,@ Northern Strategies 360

Comprehensive Government Affairs Solutions

148 E. Front Street, Suite 203 Phone: (517) 449-6453
Traverse City, Ml 49685 www.northernstrategies360.com
MEMO

To: Northwestern Michigan College Board of Trustees

Cec: Dr. Nick Nissley, Ed.D.

From: Gabe Schneider, Founder/Principal, Northern Strategies 360
Date: Monday, October 18, 2021

Re: State/Federal Legislative Update

State

Supplemental Funding Requests

As you may know, the state has on hand approximately $10 billion in a combination of additional general funds
and one time federal COVID funding. As a result, the Legislature will be considering supplemental
appropriations bills that would allocate some or all of this funding. We understand that the legislature is in the
process of compiling information about potential projects/proposal to be considered for funding. However, we
also understand that the legislature may be waiting until Congress decides on the future of federal infrastructure
bill, which might determine what projects the state decides to fund vs. those funded in an infrastructure bill.

Ask
We ask that as the Legislature looks to allocate additional supplemental funding, they consider three
transformational projects on our campuses that, if funded, would create lasting impacts on our learners and our
community.

e Integrated Student Services Hub ($2.8 million requested)

e Central Campus Geothermal Project ($12 million requested)

e Aviation Program Hanger Improvements ($1.5 million requested)

We are also supporting the Michigan Community College Association’s request for $250 million to establish
the one-time Community College Equipment Fund. The fund would provide funding or community colleges to
aquire the latest technology or equipment needed for workforce training and development

Actions
e In early October, Gabe met with legislators in Lansing to press the importance of these projects
e Also in early October, we sent a letter to Rep. Roth and Sen. Schmidt outlining these project requests

Capital Outlay

In addition to the request to fund our capital outlay request via one-time supplemental funds, we are also
encouraging the legislature to fund all community college capital outlay projects as a way to invest state funds
in community college infrastructure. We are also in the process of preparing our FY23 Capital Outlay request
for funding for the Integrated Student Services Hub.

Ask
e Support funding all community college capital outlay projects this year

Actions
e (Gabe has communicated the need to support funding for capital outlay projects to Joint Capital Outlay
Committee Chairs Sen. Horn and Rep. Maddock
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Community College BSN Legislation
Rep. Roth and Rep. Damoose (Emmet County) are gathering co-sponsors for legislation that they are
sponsoring that would allow community colleges to confer Bachelor of Science in nursing degrees. We
understand that the goal is to gather 60 co-sponsors before introducing the bill. We also understand that the
goal is to introduce the bill before the next recess period in mid-November. Both offices are working closely
with the MCCA and Michigan Legislative Consultants on this strategy.

Even though “poison pill” legislation (HB 5362) has once again been introduced (by Rep. VanSingel and Rep.
Steckloff) we believe that the community college BSN legislation has some traction. This includes support
from the Senate Majority Leader and Speaker of the House. We also understand that the Michigan Hospital
Association has made this legislation a priority knowing that it would help to address the critical staffing issues
facing hospitals around the state.

Actions
o We will be working closely with Rep. Roth and Rep. Damoose on a strategy to support this legislation
including offering to provide testimony in support of the bill once it is introduced and assigned to
committee.

Federal

USDA Rural Development

Longtime regional manager for U.S. Senator Debbie Stabenow, Brandon Fewins, was recently appointed by
President Biden to serve as the State Director for USDA Rural Development. Replacing Brandon in Senator
Stabenow’s Traverse City Office is Melissa Fruge, who had served alongside Brandon for the last few years.

From the USDA Press Release:

Brandon Fewins has served as Northern Michigan Regional Manager for U.S. Senator Debbie Stabenow for
over 20 years. He has extensive experience working with elected officials, community leaders, USDA and
agencies at all levels of government on local economic development and rural development initiatives. He has
been an advisor to the Senator and staff of the U.S Senate Committee on Agriculture, Nutrition and Forestry on
issues related to Michigan agriculture, forestry, rural development, the Great Lakes, and conservation. Brandon
is a lifelong resident of the Grand Traverse region, grew up on a centennial farm and owns a small business.


https://www.legislature.mi.gov/(S(fxufrfjnfhtla51ngwqxn11i))/mileg.aspx?page=getobject&objectname=2021-HB-5362&query=on
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Office of the
Northwestern President
Michigan
College

To: Chris Bott, Chair, Board of Trustees
Nick Nissley, President

From: Lynne Moritz, Executive Director of the President’s Office and Board Operations
Date: October 20, 2021
Subject: January 2022 Board Retreat Considerations

Based on best practices discussed at the Association of Community College Trustees' Leadership
Congress session on “Why hold a Board Retreat?” I recommend the NMC Board of Trustees
consider the criteria listed below as planning begins for a retreat early in 2022.

e Multiple days and an off-campus location increases trustee engagement
o Consider a Thursday afternoon/Friday daytime or Friday afternoon/Saturday
daytime option in early January 2022
o Select an in-area location minimizing travel
e Determine an external facilitator to prepare agenda and objectives (along with Board
Chair and President), and facilitate discussion
e [ssue a statement of accomplishment and identify next steps at conclusion of retreat

While the NMC Board of Trustees has held numerous half-day and day-long study sessions in
the past few years, there has not been an off-campus Board Retreat in some time, and most
certainly, not with the current members. The Board’s current budget for professional
development conferences could be utilized to cover the expenses of an offsite retreat, especially
given that not all trustees were able to participate in the 2021 ACCT Leadership Congress.

For further context, ACCT’s list of purposes for a retreat, include the following:

Self-review and Presidential Review
Frequency is outlined in Board policy
Review of Board policies
Onboarding

Build relationships

Strategic Planning

Accreditation
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NORTHWESTERN MICHIGAN COLLEGE
BOARD OF TRUSTEES
MINUTES
Monday, September 27, 2021
Timothy J. Nelson Innovation Center, Room 106/107

CALL TO ORDER—Chair Chris M. Bott called the regular meeting to order at 5:30 p.m.

ROLL CALL

Trustees present: Rachel A. Johnson, Laura J. Oblinger, Kenneth E. Warner, Douglas S. Bishop
attending remotely from Bonita Springs County, FL; Michael Estes (until
7:01p.m.), Kennard R. Weaver, Chris M. Bott

Trustees absent: None

Also present: President Nick Nissley, Sally Smarsty, Lisa Blackford, Glenn Blackford, Patti
Burgess, Vicki Cook, Marguerite Cotto, Diana Fairbanks, Madison Ford, Craig
Hadley, Troy Kierczynski, Mark Liebling, Lindsey Lipke, Janet Lively, Lynne
Moritz, Kyle Morrison, Todd Neibauer, Stephen Siciliano, Jason Slade, Rebecca
Teahen

REVIEW OF AGENDA—The agenda was accepted as presented.

SPECIAL REPORTS AND PRESENTATIONS

Program Focus—Sally Smarsty, Coordinator for Student Success, presented on the services
provided by the Student Success Center (SSC). The SSC seeks to understand students’ lives and
needs and connect them to the resources they need. Smarsty explained how the Success Center
collects and uses a data informed approach to build a holistic view of every student, providing early
alerts to support staff when students demonstrate signs of veering off track or of facing an obstacle
they need to continue their education.

Faculty Report—Lisa Blackford, Social Work Instructor, explained how she engages students in
psychology courses and the social work program.

Enrollment Report—Todd Neibauer, Vice President for Student Services and Technology,
provided the enrollment report for the Fall 2021 semester. Fall semester enrollment is up 20 students
and 162 contact hours over last year. The .5% increase is a positive variance over budget
projections, which anticipated a 3.8% decline in contact hours for the fall. Neibauer also noted
residence halls are at a 73% occupancy rate and spring 2022 enrollment begins on October 20, 2021.

Financial Report—Board Chair Chris Bott congratulated Troy Kierczynski on formally becoming
the Vice President of Finance and Administration after serving as interim vice president of this area
since March 2021 when Vicki Cook announced she would be reducing her workload ahead of her
retirement at the end of December. Kierczynski reviewed the financial report for the period ending
August 31, 2021. There was discussion regarding the state budget process.

Presidential Performance and Compensation Committee—Committee Chair Rachel Johnson
reviewed the evaluation timeline and process included in the written report in the packet. Johnson
noted the committee is asking President Nissley to include a 360 review in his plans for 2022.

EXECUTIVE REPORTS—The following written reports were provided in the packet of materials:
Foundation Report, PRMC Report, Executive Committee Report, and Legislative Issues Report.
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PUBLIC INPUT—There was no public input offered.

UPDATES

President’s Update—President Nick Nissley began his update by reviewing state budget
developments as they pertain to community college funding.

In regards to COVID-19, Nissley noted 7 students and 2 employees with positive on-campus
exposure this semester. The recent vaccination clinics held on campus have been minimally
attended. However, 899 students registered for the lottery open to those providing proof of COVID-
19 vaccination. Prizes for vaccination include free housing for the spring semester, $500 gift
certificates to the NMC bookstore, and $100 Amazon gift cards.

Nissley noted several recent events on his calendar, as well as student events on campus such as the
upcoming first meeting of the student chapter of Rotaract. The NMC Diversity, Equity, Inclusion
(DEI) Committee held virtual campus presentations over the past few weeks regarding their
assessment report. Nissley noted area business leaders have expressed their workplace needs for
diverse demographics.

Lastly, Nissley reviewed a memo included in the packet which provides an overview how the
college is reimagining facilities use and welcoming students to campus for fall semester.

Board Chair Update—Chair Chris Bott noted his recent visits with NMC Aviation and the GLMA.
Bott encouraged trustees to review the facilities overview provided in this month’s packet.

DISCUSSION ITEMS

Strategic Planning Report—President Nissley thanked the Board for their courage and support for
strategic planning during a pandemic and their broad and deep engagement with internal and
external stakeholders throughout the process. Nissley reminded everyone this is a process the college
has not undertaken in a decade and thanked Stephen Siciliano and Vicki Cook as co-chairs of the
process.

Stephen Siciliano, VP for Educational Services, noted recent adjustments to the process timeline,
which include final approval of the plan in early 2022 rather than December 2021. Siciliano
emphasized the committee’s desire to gather feedback from the Board of Trustees on the draft
mission, vision, and values statements, as they have been developed by the Strategic Planning
Steering Committee through numerous input sessions and methods with all stakeholder groups.

Each member of the full Board of Trustees then provided their input on the draft mission, vision, and
values statements. There was consensus to find a more actionable alternative to the word “promise”
in the mission statement and to develop the vision statement into a full sentence.

Vicki Cook, Special Assistant to the President, noted the feedback from the Board will be taken to
the Steering Committee. Cook noted that while strategic directions are broad and similar to other
institutions’ strategic plans, objectives and tactics will be what sets NMC apart. Strategy statements
will be included in the October report to the Board, as the Steering Committee will be working on
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the statements at a workshop on October 8. Cook also noted additional faculty and staff have been
added to the SPSC to ensure representation from both employee groups.

FY23 Capital Outlay Overview

VP for Finance and Administration Troy Kierczynski provided a high level overview of the capital
outlay process and the documentation included in the packet. The FY2023 Five Year Capital Outlay
Plan will be submitted to the NMC Board of Trustees at their meeting on October 25, 2021. In Fall
2020, the State’s Department of Technology, Management Budget (DTMB) notified Northwestern
Michigan College that they were not accepting major project requests for Fiscal Year 2022.
However, in June 2021, at the request of a State legislator, we submitted an informal funding request
to the State’s Joint Capital Outlay Committee to renovate the Osterlin building into an “Integrated
Student Services Hub”. We intend to resubmit the Integrated Student Services Hub as our Fiscal
Year 2023 project along with the Five Year Capital Plan.

Trustee Bishop attended the meeting remotely. According to the bylaws of the Board of Trustees and
State statute, Bishop’s virtual attendance counts toward constitution of a quorum, but does not allow
for his participation in voting. All votes referenced below reflect the votes of those present at the in-

person meeting.

CONSENT ITEMS—On a motion by Rachel Johnson, seconded by Kennard Weaver, the minutes
of the August 23, 2021, regular meeting were approved by unanimous vote of those present without
discussion.

ACTION ITEMS

Local Strategic Value Resolution--Laura Oblinger made a motion, seconded by Kennard Weaver,
to adopt the presented Local Strategic Value Resolution certifying that Northwestern Michigan
College meets the best practice standards required by the appropriations law for fiscal year 2022.
The motion passed with a unanimous vote of those present.

Storage System Replacement--On a motion by Laura Oblinger, seconded by Kennard Weaver, the
Board authorized administration to enter into contract with iXsystems for the replacement of the
Storage Area Network System at a cost of $489,598.50. Todd N addressed a question regarding how
often storage system replacements are required. The motion passed with a unanimous vote of those
present.

Security Log Management Software--On a motion by Rachel Johnson, seconded by Laura
Oblinger, the Board authorized for administration to enter into contract with August Schell
Enterprises for the capacity increase and license extension of the Security Log Management System
at a cost of $40,458.64. The motion passed with a unanimous vote of those present.

Voicemail System Replacement--On a motion by Laura Oblinger, seconded by Ken Warner, the
Board authorized administration to enter into a contract with BSB Communications for the
replacement of the voicemail system on our Mitel phone system at a cost of $56,148.80. The motion
passed with a unanimous vote of those present.
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Drone Purchase--On a motion by Kennard Weaver, seconded by Laura Oblinger, the Board
authorized administration to purchase a DJI Matrice 300 RTK Combo (drone) from Unmanned
Vehicle Technologies (UVT) for the purchase price of $55,141. In response to a question, Jason
Slade, Dir of Technical Division, described the size and capabilities of the drone, noting the
technical aspects of the drone are the greatest expense and fulfill the commercial needs (advanced
payloads). The motion passed with a unanimous vote of those present.

REVIEW OF FOLLOW-UP REQUESTS—Confirmed requests made by the Board that require
administrative follow-up for information to be provided to the Board at a later date.

ADJOURNMENT—The meeting adjourned at 7:51 p.m.

Recorded by Lynne Moritz, Executive Director of the President’s Office and Board Operations.

SIGNED

Chris M. Bott, Chair

ATTESTED

Kenneth E. Warner, Secretary
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FY 2023
FIVE YEAR
CAPITAL OUTLAY PLAN

NORTHWESTERN MICHIGAN COLLEGE
1701 East Front Street
Traverse City, Michigan 49686

Submit to the
NMC Board of Trustees on October 25, 2021

Questions should be directed to:
Troy Kierczynski
Vice President of Finance and Administration
231-995-1147
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Northwestern Michigan College
Budget Letter — Capital Outlay
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Section III — Staffing and Enrollment
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Appendix K Replacement Value - Appraisal of Buildings

Appendix L  Map of Parking and Roads

Appendix M Energy Audit Report

Appendix N Land Inventory
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NORTHWESTERN MICHIGAN COLLEGE
FIVE-YEAR CAPITAL OUTLAY PLAN

OVERVIEW

Northwestern Michigan College (NMC) is a comprehensive community college founded in 1951
and located in Traverse City, Michigan.

It provides programming at five principal sites in Traverse City. The major campus facilities are
found at the:

Main campus located at 1701 East Front Street

Great Lakes Campus located at the base of West Grand Traverse Bay
Aero Park campus located in the Traverse City airport industrial park
University Center campus located on South Cass Street in Traverse City
Rogers Observatory site located in Garfield Township

To meet our mission, we are engaged in the following purposes:

Associate degree, certificate and transfer education in liberal arts and sciences, and
occupational studies

Career/occupational education and workforce development

Bachelor degrees in select programs

Cultural and personal enrichment

Baccalaureate and graduate program facilitation

Regional economic development

The delivery of these programs leads to the:

Bachelors of Science Degree in Maritime Technology
Associate in Science and Arts degree

Associate in Applied Science degree

Associate in General Studies

Associate Degree in Nursing

Career Certificates

Skills Training

Lifelong Learning opportunities

Cultural Enrichment

Economic Development

Merchant Marine Officer's licenses valid for service on the Great Lakes and oceans
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1. — Mission Statement

Northwestern Michigan College was the first comprehensive community college chartered in the
State of Michigan. Since its founding in 1951, NMC has provided quality, affordable access to
higher education for learners of all ages and backgrounds. NMC is integrally woven into the
economic, social and cultural fabric of the region, providing leadership and support for key
initiatives that shape our communities and prepare our learners for rich and meaningful lives.

Mission
Northwestern Michigan College provides lifelong learning opportunities to our communities.
Vision

NMC will be the resource of choice for higher education, lifelong learning and cultural
experiences. NMC will be an essential contributor to quality of life and a vibrant economy. We
will demonstrate collaborative and inventive approaches to education and training for liberal
studies, careers, interests and emerging learner markets.

Values

Our individual and collective efforts create the legacy of NMC. In order to achieve our
mission, we are individually committed and responsible to live these values:

e [ earning is at the center of all we strive to achieve. It is the foundation upon which an
enlightened citizenry and a dynamic community are built and is a lifelong process in
which we are all engaged.

e We will continuously improve the learning experience and its global relevance to those
we serve through innovation, agility and thoughtful risk-taking.

Our actions are governed by the highest degree of ethics, integrity and personal responsibility,
exhibited through transparency, openness and trust.

We each will practice responsible stewardship for the human, physical, financial and
environmental resources entrusted to our care.

Each of us will strive to exceed expectations for quality and service in all that we do.
We value all people and will invest in their personal and professional growth and development.

We will exhibit foresight by monitoring the changing world around us and taking actions today
that prepare us to meet future needs of our communities.

We will seek others who share our vision and values, and collaborate with them on behalf of
our communities.
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Purposes

To meet our mission, we are fully engaged in each of the following purposes with the result that
our learners meet their goal(s) of being college ready, transfer ready, career ready and lifelong-
learning ready.

e Associate degree, certificate and transfer education in liberal arts and sciences, and
occupational studies

Career/occupational education and workforce development
Bachelor degrees in select programs

Cultural and personal enrichment

Baccalaureate and graduate program facilitation

Regional economic development

Current Strategic Directions and Capacities

In order to accomplish NMC'’s stated Mission, Vision, and Purposes, organizational activities
focus on achieving the following strategic directions and demonstrating competence in
Institutional Effectiveness Criteria.

N —

wnhw

Strategic Directions

Ensure that NMC learners are prepared for success in a global society and economy.
Establish national and international competencies and provide leadership in select
educational areas connected to the regional economy and assets.

Deliver learning through a networked workforce.

Establish lifelong relationships with learners.

Transcribe most learning to establish credentials of value.

Institutional Effectiveness Criteria
College Policy C-104.00

Learning

a.

Scholarship: NMC promotes the acquisition of knowledge, skills, and attitudes
that all students need to function effectively in a changing world through
outstanding academic programs recognized for their regional and national level
competencies. NMC is committed to helping students acquire the ability to
communicate effectively, to think critically, and to be aware of diversity in our
world. The scholarship criterion measures the effectiveness of how well NMC
prepares students for success in the workplace related to their chosen field and the
extent to which NMC provides credible transfer and articulation programs for
those students who choose to continue their education at other colleges and
universities. Furthermore, in support of our open access philosophy, NMC
encourages the academic success of under-prepared college students in their
pursuit of basic educational skills and abilities.
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b. Enrichment: NMC provides lifelong learning opportunities to regional residents
by offering quality educational opportunities for all ages. Programs are designed
to be flexible, convenient, and responsive to the needs of the community.
Moreover, NMC is committed to enriching and broadening the knowledge base
and cultural life of the community. It does so by offering a wide range of
programs and curricula that emphasize continuing education, skill enhancement,
professional development, and cultural and personal enrichment. The enrichment
criteria measures how effectively NMC performs in responding to the
community's learning needs in those areas.

c. Workforce: NMC is a significant contributor to regional economic development.
The College supports economic development by providing programs responsive
to key economic drivers and in support of business and partnership needs. NMC is
committed to working collaboratively with community agencies, assessing the
economic climate, and providing excellent and reputable training and services.
The workforce criterion assesses how well NMC serves in this capacity.

2. Organization

a. Partnership: NMC develops and maintains collaborative relationships with the
communities it serves to create a learning-centered College that meets the needs
of its students and stakeholders. To this end, NMC effectively communicates with
its communities. It successfully raises resources to support strategic initiatives.
NMC develops meaningful relationships with partners in seeking out potential
areas for improvement. The partnership criteria assesses the extent to which NMC
effectively builds relationships with educational institutions, businesses, service
organizations, external agencies, alumni and the general community to fulfill its
mission.

b. Operations: NMC conducts College operations in a manner reflecting the highest
standards of business and professional ethics, legal compliance, and
accountability to the public trust. College leaders guide the institution in
establishing and accomplishing institutional directions and action plans and in
seeking opportunities to build and sustain an effective learning environment.
NMC promotes a goals and outcomes related culture by collecting and using data
to responsibly manage its operations and to continuously improve.

c. Champion: NMC is committed to supporting (championing) students in a
learning-centered environment. NMC seeks to understand student and stakeholder
needs and expectations through a variety of methods. NMC provides quality
academic and support services with the goal of meeting students’ needs in an
environment of continuous improvement. The champion criterion evaluates how
well NMC understands its students’ and stakeholders’ needs as well as how well
it supports those needs.

d. Culture: NMC fosters a work environment that reflects the College's values and
leads to an effective work culture. NMC is committed to the development of the
talents and continuous learning of all its faculty, staff, and administrators. NMC
manages its employees through effective personnel processes.



IIL. Instructional Programming

As part of our capital outlay planning process it is important to recognize both our current
academic programs and major academic initiatives that could have an impact on facilities and its
The following section addresses current academic programming and future

infrastructure.
growth.

At NMC, you'll find more than 60 areas of academic study, all of which feature dedicated
faculty, small classes and personal attention. NMC offers transfer courses, Bachelor’s degrees in
select areas, two-year associate degrees and professional certificates, with access to BA and
advanced degrees through our University Center. We also offer online learning options.

II-A.

Describe existing academic programs and projected programming changes in the

next S years in so far as academic programs are affected by specific structural

considerations (i.e. laboratories, classrooms, current and future distance learning

initiatives, etc.)

The executive staff evaluated the proposed projects that were included in the 2012 campus
master plan study. The college is in the final stages of completing those priorities. As a starting
point, the framing assumptions were part of the discussion. In addition to the framing

assumptions, we evaluated the projects based on:

L=

The 5 strategic directions/or continuous improvement.

Was there data to demonstrate an immediate or future need?
Was there a business model that demonstrated financial thriveability?
Evaluate the project on the basis of the 8§ prioritization criteria (listed in the table).
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The table below evaluates the projects that have met the first three above criteria and at least one
of the eight prioritization criteria.

Create
Meet excess Meet
Support | current | capacity/ planned for
Strategic | capacity | undefined | Safety capacity Learner Time
Project Plan need growth issue | requirement | Cosmetic | expectation | sensitivity
Osterlin X X X X X X X X
Aviation Hangar X X X X X X X
Energy Infrastr. X X X X X X
Founder’s Hall X X X X X
Physical Ed X X X X
UC Driveway X
Project Total Cost

Integrated Student Services Hub (Osterlin Building renovation) $ 4.5 million

Aviation Hangar (expansion)

Energy Infrastructure Upgrade (geothermal, multi-building)
Founders Hall renovation

Physical Education Building (renovation)

UC Driveway

$ 1.5 million
$ 12.0 million
$ 4.0 million
$ 8.2 million

$ 326 thousand



https://www.nmc.edu/uc/index.html
https://www.nmc.edu/programs/online-programs/index.html
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In addition to these facility building projects, we see continued need for investment in
technology to support the changing environment of learning. During FY 21, the college invested
$350,000 to expand wireless infrastructure, ensuring students would have access to the internet
in all areas of the college and creating more flexibility for students to connect anywhere on our
campuses. The College also invested $500,000 in an upgraded firewall to enhance its
cybersecurity infrastructure.

Safety and security upgrades have been completed in the last three years. The college installed
remote door access in all of our buildings. This investment allows for NMC security to lock
down buildings remotely. Additional cameras have been installed on all campuses for the safety
and security of our students, employees and visitors.

Section II, Appendix A, provides a link to NMC’s complete catalog for 2019-2020.
Academic programs offered during the 2019-2020 academic year are listed below.

Bachelor of Science Degree in Maritime Technology
Emphasis in:

e Marine Technology

e Maritime, Deck Officer

e Maritime, Engine Officer

e Power Systems

Associate in Science and Arts (ASA) Degree
Emphasis in:
e Accounting e Engineering e Political Science
o Art e English e Pre-Law
e Biology e Freshwater Studies e Pre-Medical
e Business Administration e Geography e Psychology
e Chemistry e History e Social Sciences
e Communications e Liberal Arts/Science e Surveying
e Criminal Justice e Mathematics e Visual Communications
e Early Childhood Education e Performing Arts e World Languages
e Economics e Philosophy/Religion
e Physical Sciences
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Programs in:

Associate in Applied Science (AAS) Degree

Accounting

Audio Technology
Automotive Service
Technology

Business Administration
Computer Information
Technology-Developer
Computer Information
Technology-Infrastructure
Construction Management
Construction Technology
0 Electrical

Culinary Arts/Sales

Dental Assistant

Early Childhood Education

Engineering Technology

Freshwater Studies

Law Enforcement

Manufacturing Technology

Paramedic

Plant Science

0 Fruit & Vegetable Crop
Production

0 Landscape Management

e Renewable Energy
0 Electrical
o HVAC/R

e Surgical Technology

e Technical Management
Administration

e Visual Communications

e Visual Communications-
Creative Management in Art
Direction

e Welding Technology

o HVAC/R 0 Viticulture
Associate Degree in Nursing (ADN)
Associate in General Studies (AGS)
Certificates of Achievement

Accounting e Computer Information Technology e Culinary Arts
Administrative Support 0 Developer I, 111 e Culinary Arts, Baking
Specialist 0 Infrastructure Specialist L, II, III Concentration
Audio Tech [ & 11 0 Office Applications Specialist e Dental Assistant
Automotive 0 Computer Support Specialist e Early Childhood
0 Electrical & 0 Web Developer I, 11, 111 Education

Drivability Specialist Construction Technology e Engineering
0 Hybrid Tech Specialist 0 Carpentry Technology e Entrepreneurship I, 11
0 Master Automotive 0 Electrical Technology e Practical Nursing

Technician 0 Facilities Maintenance e Welding Technology I, 11
0 Under Car Specialist 0 HVAC/R Technology
o] 0 Programmable Logic Controllers

New and Projected Programming Changes

e Improving the success rate of its learners
e Meeting the needs of its communities

NMC’s programmatic changes are influenced by the following factors:
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e Contributing to the economic development of the region
e Ensuring the fiscal stability of the College

New Certificates and Programs - Last Six Years

Northwestern Michigan College developed new associate degree programs and a new bachelor
of science degree in six program areas during the past five years:

o Audio Technology
Engineering Technology
Paramedic
Surgical Technology
Water Studies
Marine Technology

The following certificates were approved in the past five years:
Computer Information Technology — Developer I & 11
Early Childhood Care — Infant/Toddler & Preschool
Programmable Logic Controllers

Carpentry Technology — Level 11

Health Education

Also supporting the health care industry, NMC has continued to expand the activities offered
under the Health Education Institute (HEI), a collaborative effort between Munson Health Care
(MHC) and NMC. HEI coordinates continuing professional development based on the prioritized
learning needs as identified by managers and administrative staff. HEI facilitates delivery of
training programs, certificates, or degree options based on strategic need. Since 2006, HEI has
coordinated the design and delivery of community learning opportunities that make MHC
content experts available through NMC’s Extended Educational Services (40,000 household
outreach capability). In 2011, NMC expanded collaboration with Michigan State University’s
College of Human Medicine to facilitate a community lecture series in collaboration with the
Family Medicine Residency program hosted at Munson Medical Center. The series provides
highlights from current medical research projects of topical interest. In 2015, NMC has
prioritized the relationship with MHC by fast-tracking new degree programs such as EMT and
Surgical Technology, and, through initiation of a joint visioning approach to establish regional
assets for simulation training for new and incumbent healthcare workers.

Building on this partnership with Michigan State University (MSU) and Munson Healthcare,
NMC established the NMC/MSU Early Assurance Program in August 2015 whereby at least one
NMC student will have an enhanced opportunity for admission to medical school for premedical
students who are interested in practicing in an underserved area of medicine. This enrichment
program will be open to all premedical students at NMC. It will include seminars and
workshops, special advising, and other extracurricular activities that will strengthen student
candidacy for medical school at MSU.

Great Lakes Maritime Academy

Established in 1969, the Great Lakes Maritime Academy (GLMA) is one of only seven federally
regulated maritime academies in the United States. Since inception, GLMA has successfully

10
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prepared cadets for service as Officers in the United States Merchant Marine. Beginning in 2002
GLMA cadets had the option of earning a merchant marine officers license valid for Great Lakes
and ocean service. With the advent of the Bachelor’s Degree in Marine Transportation, the
course work required for earning a license valid for ocean service was built into the model
schedule. Therefore, all cadets now earn a license valid for ocean and Great Lakes service.
GLMA is the only program where Great Lakes Pilotage and the required coursework for earning
an ocean license are built into the curriculum.

In August 2002, the U. S. Maritime Administration (MARAD), at the request of Michigan’s
Governor, transferred operation of the USNS Persistent (T-AGOS-6) to GLMA where she was
rechristened the T/S State of Michigan. Since that time the vessel has been an integral part of the
Academy's training program. Beginning in 2016 GLMA began to hold two annual training
cruises. This ensures all cadets have an avenue to obtain requisite sea service. In the summer of
2019 the Academy held one 75 day cruise. This longer cruise was created to help ensure
retention and completion.

The following are just a few examples of the value the T/S State of Michigan has added to the
program:

e GLMA has been able to ensure the curriculum meets both the U.S. law as described in 46
Code of Federal regulations, and also be in full compliance with the complex
international treaty Standards for Training, Certification and Watchkeeping for Seafarers
(STCW Code).

e By having cadets complete their first sea project on the T/S State of Michigan, they are
fully versed in shipboard culture prior to being assigned a berth on a commercial vessel
as part of subsequent sea project (cadets must complete three sea projects). This has
greatly improved retention.

e The T/S State of Michigan serves as a dockside laboratory for courses of instruction in
diesel engines, shipboard auxiliary systems, air conditioning and refrigeration,
firefighting and damage control, stability, and navigation, just to name a few.
Interdisciplinary uses of the ship being studied include collaboration with the Great Lakes
Culinary Institute (GLCI). These collaborations have resulted in several graduates from
GLCI earning Merchant Marine Credentials in addition to their Associate's degree, thus
greatly expanding employment opportunities.

e Having the use of the training ship ensures that GLMA will be able to accrue requisite
sea service required for graduation and licensure.

The Michigan Legislature passed House Bill 4496 enabling Michigan community colleges to
offer a select number of baccalaureate degrees, among them a Bachelor of Science degree in
Maritime Technology on December 13, 2012. The Governor signed the bill into law on
December 27, 2012.

In April 2013, the NMC Board of Trustees authorized the college to offer the Bachelor of
Science degree in Maritime Technology program and supported the administration to seek
approval of the Higher Learning Commission to authorize the college to offer the degree.
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In February 2019, the United States Coast Guard reapproved the Academy’s programs. It is now
approved through February 2023,and certified as meeting the requirements of the international
treaty STCW Code. This includes the most recent amendment to the STCW Code.

In November 2013, the Higher Learning Commission authorized Northwestern Michigan
College to award the Bachelor’s Degree in Maritime Technology. In January 2014, Northwestern
Michigan College became the first community college in Michigan to award a bachelor’s degree.
The degrees were awarded to GLMA cadets. Since that time, 174 cadets have received a
bachelor’s degree from NMC. This number includes greater than 75 GLMA alumni who have
earned their Bachelor’s Degree in Maritime Technology through the use of a prior learning
system process which awarded academic credit based upon upper division merchant marine
license exams and other completed coursework.

II-B. Identify the unique characteristics of each institution’s academic mission.
Northwestern Michigan College is recognized by members of its service district and various
accrediting agencies for unique characteristics and special programming that are a part of the
fabric of the college.

These include:

Aviation Pilot Training Program
Unmanned Aerial Training

Aero Park Laboratories

Audio Technology

Center for Instructional Excellence
Childcare Center

Commitment Scholarship Program
Construction Technology Program
Dennos Museum Center (DMC)
Early Colleges

Electronics Technology
Entrepreneurial Studies

Extended Educational Services
Global Endorsement

Great Lakes Culinary Institute
Great Lakes Maritime Academy
Great Lakes Water Studies Institute
Health Education Institute
International Affairs Forum
International Services

International Partnerships

Joseph H. Rogers Observatory

Lean Consortium

Math Center

Michigan Energy Demonstration Center
Military and Veteran Services

NMC Foundation

On-Campus Residence Life Opportunity
Online Nursing

Outdoor Sculpture Collection

Phi Theta Kappa

Remote Operated Vehicle Training (Marine)
Service Learning

Student Success Center

Training Services

Tutoring Center

University Center

Writing and Reading Center
WNMC-FM Radio Station

Below are brief descriptions for some of these unique characteristics and special programs.

Aviation Division
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Established in 1967, Northwestern Michigan College has a proven background in delivering safe
and effective flight training to generations of pilots. Today, the Aviation Division operates an
FAA approved Part 141 training facility, has established exclusive training agreements with (5)
international universities to provide flight training in Traverse City, and offers extensive hands-
on training on several different Unmanned Aerial Systems platforms.

The professional pilot program currently operates at maximum student capacity, training 100 full
time students in a diverse fleet of 17 aircraft valued at more than $5 million.

Between 2012 and 2018, the Aviation Division has established numerous hiring partnerships
with regional airlines, allowing graduates direct routes to employment opportunities.

In 2011, the Aviation Division launched Michigan’s first Unmanned Aerial Systems (UAS)
program, with focus on preparing UAS operators to meet the needs of a rapidly growing
industry. In 2015, NMC was named one of the /5 Best Drone Training Colleges in America and
was the only community college listed in the top 10.

One of the 2015 recipients of the Community College Skilled Trades Equipment Fund
(CCSTEF), the UAS Department now maintains a fleet of commercial-grade unmanned aircraft
designed to meet the training and experience demands of today’s (and tomorrow’s) employers.

Great Lakes Maritime Academy

Established in 1969, the Great Lakes Maritime Academy (GLMA) is one of only seven maritime
academies in the United States that is federally regulated under 46 Code of Federal Regulations
310. These regulations allow for a holistic approach which allows GLMA to accept a cadet with
no prior seagoing experience and within four years he or she can complete both a bachelor’s
degree and earn a merchant mariner’s credential valid for service on large tonnage vessels which
are in ocean or Great Lakes service.

All GLMA cadets must complete one course in Naval Science which is delivered by active duty
Naval personnel. Those cadets that are accepted into the U.S. Navy’s Strategic Sealift Officer’s
program complete an additional two classes in Naval Science, earn a commission as a Naval
Officer, and are awarded $32,000, by the U.S. Navy, over the course of their four years at the
academy.

In August 2002 the U. S. Maritime Administration (MARAD), at the request of Michigan’s
Governor, transferred operation of the USNS Persistent (T-AGOS-6) to GLMA where she was
rechristened the T/S State of Michigan. Since that time the vessel has been an integral part of the
Academy's training program. In 2018 GLMA conducted two training cruises for the third
consecutive year. The vessel was underway from 07 May 2018 through 08 August 2018. In
addition to providing training for GLMA and Massachusetts Maritime Academy cadets, the
vessel carried three GLCI interns and for the first time an NMC instructor who was not part of
the GLMA faculty. As previously noted, in 2019 GLMA held one 75 day cruise. GLMA did not
carry cadets from other academies, but the transition will ensure all cadets earn pilotage and
assist with retention and completion. Lakes and ocean shipping companies now routinely request
to speak with the GLCI interns who sailed with GLMA. Additionally, carrying an NMC faculty
member allowed nine GLMA cadets to complete three General Education credits, thus assisting
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GLMA in meeting its retention and completion goals. There are currently 47 GLMA cadets on
track to graduate in 2020. This will be the one of the largest GLMA graduating class in over 30
years:

In November 2013, NMC was granted authorization to award GLMA cadets a bachelor’s degree.
The GLMA program of study was the first academic program, in a Michigan community college
to offer a bachelor’s degree. All GLMA cadets are now enrolled in the bachelor’s degree
program. Federal regulation contained in 46 U.S. Code 51506 requires a cadet complete both a
degree and merchant mariner credential examinations. GLMA cadets must earn both. They
cannot be issued a credential if they do not complete degree requirements; they cannot be issued
a diploma if they do not successfully complete their merchant mariner credential exams.

Great Lakes Water Studies Institute

The Great Lakes Water Studies Institute (GLWSI), located on the Great Lakes campus, delivers
programs and conducts research directly related to the area's most important natural resource.
Students may focus on multiple areas of water studies including management, policy, business
and science, or may focus in marine technology including applied technical work in support of
the marine industries involving the calibration, deployment, operation, maintenance, and
management of marine technology assets, including data collection, processing and mapping, for
use in the marine environment both offshore and onshore.

In fall 2015, the GLWSI officially launched NMC’s third Bachelors of Science in Maritime
Technology major in the area of Marine Technology. This program is unique to the United
States and one of the only in the world and builds directly on the Engineering Technology AAS
marine specialty. Specific training emphasis includes remotely operated vehicles and marine
platforms, marine acoustics and sonar, marine data processing and project management.

Multiple industry collaborations allow graduates a broad range of career opportunities. The
Great Lakes Water Studies Institute also offers professional development opportunities in sonar
training for industry and government partners. Beginning in 2015, ROV training at NMC will be
certified through the Association of Diving Contractors International (ADCI).

The Great Lakes Campus site includes a water analysis laboratory for student experiments/labs,
qualified environmental research organizations and university partners. Students work aboard the
56 foot R/V Northwestern or the 21 foot R/V Hawk Owl in Grand Traverse Bay, Lake Michigan
or the inland waters of Michigan. The Great Lakes campus harbor also serves as a year round
laboratory where training occurs from NMC’s pier. The GLWSI is also home to two advanced
Remotely Operated Vehicle systems, multiple sonar systems, advanced GPS and water quality
sampling equipment. Additionally, there is a 60,000 gallon indoor training tank located at
NMC’s Aeropark campus for year round, climate controlled operations.

In 2014, collaboration with Western Michigan University (WMU) led to the joint development
of a bachelor's degree completion program in Freshwater Science and Sustainability, currently
offered through the NMC's University Center and delivered entirely at Northwestern Michigan
College in Traverse City. This degree is the first of its kind in the United States.

In September 2015, Northwestern Michigan College officially started delivery of the third
Bachelor’s Degree in Maritime Technology major in Marine Technology.
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The GLWSI is involved in multiple Great Lakes research projects with university and
government partners and also collaborates globally with multiple institutions in many areas of
water and the marine environment. MOU’s with institutions in China and also Costa Rica have
generated additional water opportunities. The partnership with Costa Rica has resulted in
multiple internships, faculty exchanges and collaborative research projects.

Great Lakes Culinary Institute

This program provides rigorous and concentrated study for those students who plan careers in the
rapidly growing food service industry. The program’s main emphasis is to prepare students for
positions as entry-level chefs and kitchen managers. Consideration is given to the science and
techniques associated with the selection, preparation and serving of foods to large and small
groups. Students further develop their knowledge of food and guest service through internships
at area restaurants, hotels and resorts. The program includes an Institute-run training restaurant,
Lobdell’s, which greatly enhances the level of restaurant experience of graduates. The facility
provides five kitchen "laboratories" including Lobdell's, a training restaurant, which is a critical
component of a top quality culinary program.

The GLCI is also pursuing collaboration with other learning opportunities. In an effort to
enhance student retention, culinary certificate programs have been implemented. For years, the
Culinary Institute has provided lifelong learning and professional development offerings in
collaboration with other areas of the College. The expanded facilities, with its lakefront location,
have been leveraged to create world-class food and wine events, open to the public. All events
have served to showcase Michigan agricultural and value added agricultural products.

The American Culinary Federation Education Foundation Accrediting Commission

accredits Great Lakes Culinary Institute programs, one of only approximately 400 such schools
to receive this program accreditation in the United States. In 2018, the Great Lakes Culinary
Institute received a five-year program accreditation by the American Culinary

Federation Education Foundation. Upon completion of the Great Lakes Culinary Institute
program, students are eligible for certification through the American Culinary Federation.

Agribusiness

Agriculture and viticulture are significant parts of the region’s economy, eco-structure and
quality of life. Since 2001, the Great Lakes Culinary Institute has emphasized the relationship
between the hospitality industry and local agribusiness by a special focus on local foods, and by
serving as a regional leader modeling recycling and reprocessing of food waste. This year, NMC
has begun the redevelopment of specialty programming within its associate degree program in
Applied Plant Science, a program delivered in conjunction with the Institute of Agricultural
Technology of Michigan State University’s College of Agriculture, Natural Resources and
Recreation. Distinctive of this partnership is a new staff specialist position jointly funded by both
institutions to provide continuity between the specialty courses (MSU) and the field experiences
and general education courses (NMC). In 2016, a joint research project partnered NMC UAS,
Leelanau County Horticulture research station, and private growers supporting a student-based
application for early diagnosis of Cherry Leaf Spot.

Science and Mathematics Curriculum On-line
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Since fiscal year 2005, NMC has offered the Associate in Science and Arts Degree in the online
format. This was made possible by putting our high-demand Physics and Chemistry courses in
the online hybrid format. Students take their didactic coursework online and visit the campus on
alternating weekends or one evening per week to complete their laboratory work in our state-of-
the-art facility, the Health and Science Building. More importantly, our five most popular
Biology courses, including the year-long Anatomy and Physiology sequence, are all offered
entirely online including the laboratory portion of the courses. We have also put additional
courses in Mathematics, including Intermediate Algebra, College Algebra, and Probability and
Statistics, online.

Construction Technology

During the 2009-2010 academic year, NMC received authorization to offer four new level I
certificates and one AAS degree in Construction Trades. These certificates include HVAC/R
installation and service, Electrical, Plumbing and Carpentry. For students that complete any one
of these four certificates, we have developed appropriate construction trades courses to
customize their degree requirements for the remainder of the trades courses and infuse the
required general education courses to achieve the sixty four credits required to complete an AAS
degree. Students in this program have the option to include a specialization in renewable energy
with options in residential and light commercial solar PV, solar thermal, wind installation,
including both net-metered and independent installations. A certificate in Programmable Logic
Controls (PLC) has been developed and available to students Fall 2014.

Engineering Technology

In 2011, a new associate degree in Engineering Technology offers students a broad-based
curriculum across all areas of technical education, preparing the graduates for emerging job
markets and highly technical fields. The program is designed to allow students to focus on areas
of interest or specialize in one of seven technical specializations: Computers, Electronics,
Photonics, Marine, Robotics & Automation, Unmanned Aerial Systems, and Unmanned Ground
Vehicles. In 2018, a new specialization was added to the degree pathway this is focused on
Biomedical Equipment Technologies. Partnering with Leica Geosystems, an AAS degree in
Surveying was added in 2019 to serve the growing demand for surveying technicians in the
region.

Engineering technology education focuses primarily on the applied aspects of science and
engineering aimed at preparing graduates for practice in that portion of the technological
spectrum closest to product improvement, manufacturing, robotics, unmanned systems, and
engineering operational functions.

Parson-Stulen Building

In 2015 Northwestern Michigan College was awarded a $2.8MM grant from the State of
Michigan in support of the Community College Skilled trades Program Fund (CCSTEP). $2.1
MM dollars from the grant was used to purchase equipment and renovate facilities in support of
the Colleges Engineering Technology, Marine Technology and Computer Technology programs.
This included an advanced electronics lab and marine technology, 60,000 gallon indoor test tank,
a state of the art remote operated vehicles, three unmanned aerial platform and flight simulators.
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Aero-Park Laboratories

In 2011, NMC opened the Aero-Park Laboratories (APL) building at the Aero-Park Campus as a
companion facility housing laboratories for construction technology, renewable energy,
engineering technology and welding. APL is a 29,600 sq. ft. facility which allows a variety of
configurations to accommodate large group lectures as well as individualized student space or
small team project areas. The facility is LEED certified and equipped to support a high level of
instructional technology requirements and welding facilities.

Audio Technology

An associate program in applied audio technology /technician was approved in July 2012 to meet
the needs of students entering the recording, editing, and live music engineering specializations
of the music industry. At the core of the degree program are Logic-Pro certifications offered
through Apple, Inc. NMC’s program has certified instructors, and is certified by Apple, Inc. as a
Logic-Pro training center. NMC’s program is one of two Apple, Inc. certified programs in
Michigan. The audio technology laboratory facility includes the only Raven simulation sound
board in use by an academic program in North America as of this writing.

Commitment Scholarship Program

The NMC Commitment Scholarship Program was developed to encourage academically
promising students with financial need to successfully complete high school and enter college.
The program began in 1993, and has included over 1,000 first-generation college students from
19 participating high schools. Each fall, 40-50 new students are inducted from the region to
engage in activities that support successful educational attainment. The students, in partnership
with the parents and high schools, commit to regular participation in the program activities,
demonstration of good citizenship, and completion of high school with a minimum of a 2.5 grade
point average.

NMC Math Center

The Math Center is a drop-in tutoring resource to help students with all NMC math classes, from
Pre-Algebra through Calculus III and Differential Equations. Math Center employees are tutors
and instructors who are equipped to help students with homework and general math skills.
Students come to the Math Center with specific questions about class lectures or assignments, or
to work with classmates. Many students complete homework assignments in the Math Center so
they can review their answers with Math Center employees and receive tutoring as needed.

NMC Writing and Reading Center

The NMC Writing and Reading Center is a unique service dedicated to helping students become
better and more confident readers and writers. Students can, at no charge, receive assistance
from the Center at all stages of the writing process and have their work reviewed by a trained and
experienced reader. They can also receive guidance in critical reading strategies.

Since employers demand solid communication skills, the NMC Writing and Reading Center
helps students prepare for their futures by showing them what it takes to become effective
readers and writers. The best students at NMC often wind up working as Writing and Reading
Center readers, allowing them to share their knowledge and experience with others, while
continuing the rich tradition of service for which the NMC Writing and Reading Center is
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known.

On-Campus Residence Life Opportunities

The Residence Hall Living/Learning program at NMC is one of six residence hall programs
offered at the community college level in Michigan. Student and professional staff provide peer
social programs, educational seminars, and community service opportunities. The Residence
Halls are alcohol/drug free zones except for designated suites in North Hall where all residents
are over 21 and agree to special restrictions. Affordable housing is limited in the Traverse City
area which is reflected in our growth in the number of students living in the halls and apartments
in the past several years. Having reached capacity in three consecutive years, the college opened
a new residence Hall in August of 2017 expanding overall capacity to 370. There are also 36
apartments on NMC’s main campus which are consistently full with a waiting list.

Extended Educational Services

Providing opportunities for lifelong learning is the mission of Extended Educational Services.
Extended Educational Services (EES) offers over 700 continuing education and non-credit
courses for all ages. Continuing Education Certificate programs available include: Northern
Naturalist Program, Mobile Marketing Certificate, Small Business Entrepreneur Certificate,
Certified Nurse Assistant, and the International Affairs Forum. Of note is the College for Kids
catalog and the Life Academy catalog for learners over 50. In 2015, Cheboygan and Kalkaska
public libraries established cooperative programs for delivery of select non-credit programs
through EES. An innovation grant was awarded for a new project supporting a non-credit
program for individuals on the autism spectrum.

University Center

The mission of NMC’s University Center is to facilitate the delivery of high quality programs
and course offerings beyond the associate degree level to northwest Michigan as deemed
desirable by the citizens of the region. The University Center is a unique partnership between
Northwestern Michigan College and eight participating universities. NMC offers associate’s
degrees in over 50 liberal arts, health, business, and technical programs. The partnering
universities offer all courses required for the completion of the final two years of selected
bachelor degree programs, complete master’s programs in selected areas, post-bachelor’s and
graduate certificates, specialized endorsements, and two professional doctorates. University
Center partners include: Central Michigan University, Davenport University, Ferris State
University, Grand Valley State University, Michigan State University, and Western Michigan
University.

Global Endorsement

Beginning in the fall of 2014, the college developed a cross-curricular endorsement for students
who complete a variety of curricular and extra-curricular experiences that are recorded on an
official college transcript. In part funded by the NMC Global Opportunity Fund, students take
coursework, attend the college's Window on the World Week, Passport Student Lecture Series,
and International Affairs Forum and even travel to international educational sites to receive
credit towards this endorsement. This effort is part of the college's strategic direction to "Ensure
that NMC learners are prepared for success in a global society and economy."
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Dennos Museum Center

The Dennos Museum Center at Northwestern Michigan College is the region’s premier cultural
center offering programming in the visual and performing arts to the citizens of northwestern
Michigan and tourists from the state and nation. Changing exhibitions are selected to provide a
variety of experiences for our visitors with the added goal of offering thought-provoking and
course related programming for students and instructors as part of the academic program
whenever possible. The museum holds the College’s art collection which now consists of
approximately 2,600 catalogued works of art, 1,600 of which comprise the College’s major
collection of Inuit art, currently the largest and most historically complete collection in the
United States. The museum also features a “hands on” interactive Discovery gallery for children
and their families. The museum’s 367 seat Milliken auditorium offers an array of lectures,
theater and performances year round. The auditorium provides performance space for NMC
students and Music Department performing groups and presentation space for college events.
The museum, which opened in 1991, is owned and operated by Northwestern Michigan College.
Ground breaking for an addition to the museum occurred in August 2016. The expansion opened
to the public in January 2018, adding 14,545 square feet to the facility. It includes five new
galleries, a classroom and additional storage and support space. The addition allows our
academic programs to better integrate their course outcomes with the museum’s permanent art
collection which is now exhibited in the new galleries. The classroom provides space for
instruction connected to collections, exhibitions and performances.

Joseph H. Rogers Observatory

The primary function of the Northwestern Michigan College’s Joseph H. Rogers Observatory is
to serve as the laboratory facility for NMC astronomy students. It also provides educational
opportunities for the community. The 1,500 square foot building, with two observing domes,
stands as an example of this area’s commitment to education. Constructed completely with
donated funds, the Observatory houses astronomical equipment utilized for both education and
research. The Observatory hosts Open Houses for the general public throughout the year with
over 5,000 visitors annually. The Joseph H. Rogers Observatory is one of fifteen sites in the
National Network of Project ASTRO™ | a K-12 science education outreach program, and one of
three sites chosen to host Family ASTRO™,

Great Lakes Professional Development Center

The Great Lakes Campus is also home to the Great Lakes Professional Development Center,
called the Hagerty Center. The Center provides a flexible, technology-equipped space to
accommodate seminars, classes, and specialized training in support of all NMC programs. The
site also serves as a venue for professional development seminars for regional, national, and
international businesses. This enables NMC to increase its role in bringing new learning
opportunities and new visitors to the region, thus providing economic growth and quality of life
improvements. It also promotes further integration of programs within NMC, and enables NMC
programs to draw on resources from outside the area to augment its own program offerings.

Childcare Center
In the summer of 2014, NMC partnered with Munson Healthcare to open a childcare center at
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the Oleson Center on NMC’s main campus. NMC is a member of the 5toOne Initiative of the
Great Start Traverse Bay Collaborative which has been working to create a comprehensive
regional system for early childhood development programs. Munson Healthcare and Traverse
Bay Area Intermediate School District (TBAISD) have also been included in these discussions
and have been aware of our on-going concerns for NMC students as it relates to children’s
educational services. By partnering with Head Start and GSRP students who qualify are able to
access free quality preschool services.

Key factors in this arrangement are two grant opportunities that provide a source of funding to
pay for daycare services. The two grants awarded by the State of Michigan and available
through TBAISD are the Great Start Readiness Program and Headstart. For students that do not
qualify for one of these programs, the hourly rate is $3.50. Munson allows families to call one
week in advance to schedule time.

II-C. Identify other initiatives which may impact facilities usage.

In the next five-year period, the College expects to significantly expand health occupations
related programming. Continued growth in this area will require investment in additional
simulation and teaching facilities. As the College continues AQIP projects designed to increase
persistence and credential completion, it is adding instructional support activities that have an
impact on experiential and supplemental instructional space. Finally, the College is embedding
within the curriculum a multi-disciplinary approach to learning that is desired by employers.
These initiatives require large interactive space that can be reconfigured for multiple uses. The
college’s current buildings do not accommodate this demand and renovation and additions to
existing college buildings is needed.

NMC has embarked on a strategy of programmatic partnerships and recruiting in the
international marketplace. It is expected that these efforts will draw in excess of 500 domestic
and international students to our region requiring additional housing and instructional spaces.

The current priorities for facilities planning are aimed at using the self-assessment to guide
establishment of flexible learning spaces. These efforts include:

e Major maintenance work required, or anticipated, on existing buildings.

e Increased flexible, technologically advanced classroom space.

e Energy, or other operational, savings.

Section 2, Appendix B provides an Executive Summary for NMC’s Campus Master Plan.

II-D. Demonstrate economic development impact of current/future programs.
According to a 2017 study by the economic modeling firm EMSI, NMC creates a significant
positive impact on the business community and generates a return on investment to its major
stakeholder groups — students, taxpayers, and society.

e 287.4 million in added income, approximately equal to 3.6% of the GRP of the NMC
Service Area, which is nearly as large as the entire Wholesale Trade Industry in the
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region
e NMC impacts 5,766 jobs or one out of every 22 jobs in the NMC Service Area

e Average annual rate of return for NMC students is 9.6% compared to the 10-year average
of 6.9% return to the U.S. stock market

e 2.9 benefit-cost ration. Every $1 in costs returns $2.09 in benefits-an average annual
return on investments for taxpayers is 10.5%

NMC serves more than 50,000 learners each year. Those with an associate degree in Northern
Michigan benefit in important ways.

e Average earnings for those with an Associate Degree earn $31,800 per year versus
$23,300 per year for those with a High School Diploma

e [ower unemployment. Associate degree holders experienced less than 6% unemployment
compared to over 12% for those with less than a high school diploma

Some specific examples of NMC initiatives directed at regional economic improvement are
highlighted below.

Technical Workforce and Career Development

NMC'’s Parson-Stulen Building houses a range of credit and non-credit programs that directly
support training for key skills of high value to the region. Each major program area facilitates
employer feedback through program Advisory Boards. In addition, faculty and staff participate
in state, regional, and national organizations, and are directly engaged in research to help with
development of appropriate programs and courses.

In collaboration with other workforce agencies and organizations, NMC has been able to respond
to the need for incumbent worker training directly in the workplace, and in areas customized to
employer needs. In addition, the technical workforce areas have prepared programs that can be
quickly delivered to area communities where there is an identified need to prepare individuals for
a specific labor pool. Recognized by the Governor’s office in 2012, NMC is host to the Regional
Entrepreneurial Collaborative — a partnership among NW Michigan Council of Governments,
Small Business Technology Development Center, Score, Michigan Works, PTAK, Grand
Traverse County Economic Development, Traverse Area Chamber of Commerce that supports
collaboration between organizations to facilitate service for business development and
expansion.

Michigan Manufacturing Technology Center

NMC is home to the Northwest regional office of the Michigan Manufacturing Technology
Center. The purpose of the MMTC is to strengthen the competitiveness of small to mid-sized
manufacturers through training and consulting services primarily through Lean Manufacturing
and strategy assistance. The MMTC is part of a national network though the Department of
Commerce's Manufacturing Extension Partnership and part of a statewide network of five
offices.
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Michigan New Jobs Training Program

Since authorization in 2009, NMC has been an active participant in the use of this economic
development tool for community colleges. To date, NMC has developed contracts representing
close to $5,167,750 in associated training, with over 863 jobs in sectors including advanced
manufacturing, value-added agriculture (food processors, distribution and retail), healthcare,
insurance and construction.

Great Lakes Maritime Academy

e The Great Lakes Maritime Academy (GLMA) cadets continue to enjoy 100%
employment. This is due to the age of the workforce on the Great Lakes which has
resulted in numerous vacancies due to retirements.

e In 2015 areport jointly authored by the U.S. Department of Education, Department for
Labor, and Department of Transportation predicted that the U.S. will need 35,000
credentialed mariners, with officer’s endorsements by 2020.

e During the fall semester recruiters from vessel operators and maritime unions visit the
Academy weekly. Additionally, each cadet will complete three internships, two of which
will be on commercial vessels. These internships expose the cadets to different options,
and allow the operators to see the quality of the cadets first hand.

The average age of the 2018 incoming class is 23.6, 15% are female, and 10% are
veterans. Additionally, two cadets have completed law degrees, and one has previously earned a
PhD. Many of these non-traditional students remain in Traverse City after graduation.

Great Lakes Water Studies Institute

GLWSI officially launched NMC'’s third Bachelors of Science in Maritime Technology major in
the area of Marine Technology. This program is unique to the United States and one of the only
in the world. Specific training emphasis includes remotely operated vehicles and marine
platforms, marine acoustics and sonar, marine data processing and project management.
Multiple industry collaborations allow graduates a broad range of career opportunities. The
Great Lakes Water Studies Institute also offers professional development opportunities in sonar
training for industry and government partners who travel from around the world to participate in
these training programs. Beginning in 2015, ROV training at NMC will be certified through the
Association of Diving Contractors International (ADCI) which will draw additional personnel to
our programs.

The Great Lakes Campus site includes a water analysis laboratory for student experiments/labs,
qualified environmental research organizations and university partners. The GLWSI is involved
in multiple Great Lakes research projects with university and government partners and also
collaborates globally with multiple institutions in areas of water and the marine environment.

Tourism and Hospitality Industries

Tourism and the hospitality industry are among the largest economic sectors in NMC's five
county service area. The Great Lakes Culinary Institute directly supports that sector. There is a
significant shortage of skilled professionals in this area. The Culinary Institute’s ability to
expand the programs that it offers is important to the area's economy.

Agribusiness
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Agriculture and viticulture are significant parts of the region’s economy, eco-structure and
quality of life. NMC has developed a successful and long-standing partnership with Michigan
State University’s Institute of Agricultural Technology to provide a series of technical specialties
within NMC’s associate of applied plant science. Students may select areas in applied
horticulture, turf management, nursery management, and viticulture. In 2013, NMC and MSU's
Institute of Agricultural Technology established a shared position, in collaboration with MSU's
Department of Horticulture, as an innovative approach toward collaboration in employer
outreach, student recruitment, and internship development. In 2014, this shared approach has
expanded NMC's capacity to provide specialized programming related to precision agriculture.

Health Care

The health industry is of critical importance to the citizens of the region and is characterized by
having the largest regional employer, Munson Health Care. NMC’s Health Occupation programs
are critical suppliers to this industry, especially in the preparation of associate degree nurses.

A successful strategy has been the development of the Health Education Institute, a partnership
between Munson Health Care and NMC that supports the coordination of community learning

resources, delivers continuing professional development to staff, and identifies areas for future

collaboration in the preparation of health care professionals.

HEI has completed an extensive internal assessment of program impact with the
recommendation to continue and expand the relationship as a shared approach to improving
efficiency in professional development for staff, career program planning in the nursing program
and related allied health areas.

Most recently, NMC has partnered with Munson Medical Center to offer Associate of Applied
Science Degrees in Paramedic and Surgical Technology.

III.  Staffing and Enrollment
The following section responds to questions related to staffing and enrollment trends for
Northwestern Michigan College.

ITI-A. Describe current full and part-time student enrollment levels and define how the
programs are accessed by the student.

Statistics on student enrollment are provided in two enrollment reports attached as Appendix III-
A shows full and part-time student counts by CIP program classification.

NMC uses multiple measures for student assessment of programs. NMC’s annual program
review process is the way in which we ensure that our programs and courses are up to date and
effective. The premise of the program review is an annual evaluation of quantitative metrics and
qualitative reflection on the prior year’s activities. From this, goals for the program are set and
action plans identified for the coming year. The program review documents and institutional
metrics are made available to the college community on the intranet site.

The metrics tracked in program review are categorized in four phases of evaluation: Learner
Perception and Behavior, Learning of Program Outcomes, Skill Transfer, and Results (Figure
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1.1). For Level One, Learner Perception and Behavior, the college measures learner assessment
of the quality of the course instruction and of the course itself, and learner satisfaction with the
program as a whole. Enrollment tracking and participation of non-traditional students in the
program are measured. For Level Two, Learning and Program Outcomes, the program areas
track course completion rates, enrollee success rates, completer success rates, graduation rates,
student retention or transfer rates, and non-traditional student completion rates. For Level Three,
Skill Transfer, NMC assesses student success on industry tests, such as licensure, and student
placement in employment. Finally for Level Four, Results, program managers query their
industry advisory groups for feedback on the curriculum, equipment, graduates, and program
administration. NMC has college targets or state baselines to measure progress for improvement.
When any of these measures fall short of the college targets or state baselines, the program
establishes goals and activities designed to improve its performance in these areas. Program
areas create action plans to address deficiencies as part of the institutional annual planning and
budgeting process.

Figure 1.1. Outcome Framework for Academic Program Review

( )

Level 1 Level 2
Learner Perception E> Learning on Specific

and Behavior Program Outcomes

. J

o

Level 3
Transfer of Skills and
Knowledge Beyond
the Program

(Source: Kirkpatrick, D.L. 1994. Evaluating Training Programs: The Four Levels. San
Francisco, CA: Berrett-Koehler.
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ITI-B. Projected enrollment pattern next 5 years

Enrollment experienced an expected increase from 2009-2011, peaking in the 2010-2011
academic year. This increase was primarily due to the economic factors in the state and region
related to unemployment. As in all Michigan community colleges, the pattern of increased
enrollment paralleled the regional impact of an increased unemployment rate and conversely the
decrease in the unemployment rate paralleled the decrease in enrollment. Though enrollment has
now reached a level previously held prior to the downturn, census data indicates that traditional
age student population (18-20) will continue to decline through 2023. We anticipate declining
enrollment due to this demographic shift taking place and continued reductions in
unemployment. We continue to promote the strong academic foundation that Northwestern
Michigan College provides students as they complete select bachelor’s degrees offered by NMC
and their associate degrees for transfer to 4-year colleges and universities, while also
highlighting the cost benefit and value students and families realize by attending a community
college. Enrollment remains very strong in a number of programs (i.e. aviation, maritime). In
addition, we are promoting two additional Bachelor of Science degrees in Maritime Technology;
Marine Technology and Power Systems. As the State focuses on economic growth, new and
enhanced job skills and transfer education will remain as key objectives. The largest potential for
increases in enrollment growth will be through dual enrollment, early college, and concurrent
enrollment and recruitment efforts related to specific programs. NMC is well positioned to offer
courses and programs which will capture this audience. NMC also continues to expand existing
and new relationships with colleges and universities in other countries such as China, Costa Rica,
South Africa and UK for the purpose of program expansion and student exchange opportunities.

HI-C. Evaluation of Enrollment History

Research shows that enrollment at community colleges during an economic downturn follows
the rate of unemployment. If the unemployment rate increases, enrollment increases as the
population returns to college to seek education for new career opportunities or access training to
increase skills to raise their potential for subsequent employment. This pattern occurred at NMC
during the surge of enrollment from Fall 2009 through Spring 2011 when the college saw record
enrollments. Prior to this time enrollment and contact hours rose modestly each year from 2005
through 2008. Enrollment numbers have returned to levels similar to those in previous years to
the enrollment increases. In addition, we continue to observe the trend of strong enrollment of
early college, concurrent enrollment and dual enrollment students as a clear reflection of our
efforts to provide options for high school students to complete college credit or specific
programs. NMC currently has early college partnerships with Traverse City Area Public
Schools and the Traverse Bay Intermediate School district in addition to an enhanced dual
enrollment agreement with Grand Traverse Academy. High school students have
significantly increased their participation in acquisition of college credit over the past six years,
though most recently, the high school population has decreased slightly.
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High School Student Enrollment Comparison

% of total enrollment % increase over previous vear

Year
Fall 2010 — 149 4.3
Fall 2011 — 181 5.0 i
Fall 2012 — 287 7.7 2.7
Fall 2013 — 324 9.1 1.4
Fall 2014 — 501 11.2 2.1
Fall 2015 — 485 114 2
Fall 2016 — 521 12.5 1.1
Fall 2017 — 510 12.9 4
Fall 2018 — 483 13.0 1
Fall 2019 — 447 12.5 -.5
Fall 2020 - 426 13.1 6

To strategically support these efforts NMC has participated in the Michigan College Access
Network (MCAN), Local College Access Network (LCAN) and with individual schools (ICAN).
We collaborate with these organizations providing presentations and face to face support for
students and their parents/guardians in order to assist them as they complete college applications,
the Free Application for Federal Student Aid (FAFSA) and college scholarship applications.

Section 111, Appendix D and E provides 2017 through 2021 enrollment reports.

ITI-D. Provide instructional staff/student and administrative staff/student ratios

NMC has a standing practice of evaluating all position vacancies for opportunities to distribute
work differently, assess the relevancy of a service level, and to identify areas in which
partnerships may provide options for joint appointments or other creative approaches to
management of personnel costs.

NMC and Michigan State University's Institute of Agricultural Technology (IAT) developed an
MOU to share equally in a replacement position serving NMC's Applied Plant Science degree
program, which uses IAT's specialty agriculture certificates. This has allowed funding for a full-
time position.

Based on fall student, faculty and staff headcount the ratio of student to staff is as follows for the
last five years.

Fall Student Fulltime Faculty Ratio of

Year headcount & Adjunct Student to

headcount Faculty
Fall 2017 3,956 235 17:1
Fall 2018 3,726 254 15:1
Fall 2019 3,581 226 16:1
Fall 2020 3,278 226 16:1
Fall 2021 3,285 221 14:1
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Year Fall Student Fulltime Admin. Ratio of
headcount & Professional Student to Staff
headcount
Fall 2017 3,956 118 33:1
Fall 2018 3,726 118 32:1
Fall 2019 3,581 111 32:1
Fall 2020 3,278 109 28:1
Fall 2021 3,285 108 28:1

Based on the structure at NMC some administrative positions include teaching as part of their
responsibilities.

Section III, Appendix F provides the annual number of faculty and staff employees for the
past five years.

III-E. Projected staffing needs based on projected enrollment

NMC has approached a number of staffing questions through the development of a multi-year
project-based approach toward Talent recruitment, development, retention, and succession. The
“Talent” projects have produced new employee orientation programs, the NMC Leadership
Institute, multiple professional development modules ranging from compliance training,
supervisor training, and including wellness initiatives and self-directed learning opportunities
related to workplace improvement.

The College is committed to aligning its workforce to support its strategic direction and to
establish a values-based framework to provide sustainable and competitive compensation.
During fiscal year 2018 we offered an early separation incentive to faculty and staft at the top of
their pay scale. This gave us an opportunity to restructure the organization. The college was
able to reduce 12 positions with this incentive program. The program was one strategy in
reducing salary costs.

ITI-F. Identify current average class size and projected class size needs

NMC has implemented a Section Management initiative, effective Fall 2001, targeted at
improving class size efficiency. Appendix III-G contains class size goals and guidelines, and
shows a four-year trend in class size averages. Class sizes are driven primarily by pedagogical
factors related to the subject matter being taught.

III - G. Appendix G provides a Course Efficiency report.

Section IV FACILITY ASSESSMENT

In 2012 NMC contracted for a campus master plan. The plan assessed building and plant
requirements to meet future needs. These items have been prioritized within the executive
summary of the campus master plan. The college has a contract with Sodexo for management
services within that contract Sodexo provides facility assessment that helps to prioritize deferred
maintenance projects. A full assessment was done in fiscal year 2018 and the college is using
the report to prioritize deferred maintenance projects.
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IV-A. Summary description of each facility
A summary of building’s ages, and square footage is included as Section IV — Appendix H.

IV-B. Building and classroom utilization rates.

Appendices IV-I provides information on the utilization, functionality and allocation of
organizational facilities. In 2003, NMC began the implementation of a Room Scheduling
software system. In 2005, the College began scheduling academic classes through R25.
Virtually all events and classes are scheduled through the system.

IV-C. Mandated facility standards
NMC’s programs fully comply with all applicable laws and safety standards.

IV-D. Functionality of existing structures -
Appendix IV-J summarizes functionality of existing structures.

IV-E. Replacement value of existing facilities

Appendices IV-K provides data on appraised values of NMC facilities. The replacement value
new of buildings is assessed at $227,520,600. The most recent insurance appraisal was
performed in the fall of 2019.

IV-F. Utility System Condition

Each item identified in the NMC Capital Improvement Plan is listed in a construction category
(i.e. electrical, mechanical, plumbing, etc.) Of the 7.7 million of Capital Improvement
Projects, 7.5 percent of the capital outlay needs were identified as 6 percent Electrical
Projects, 24 percent as Mechanical (HVAC), and 9 percent as Plumbing.

As part of our annual deferred maintenance budget we have allocated at least 30% of the annual
budget to projects in this category.

Table S Campus Utilities

Utility Comment

Electric Traverse City Light and Power (Traverse City Campuses). Sufficient city
capacity appears to be available to meet projected college needs.

Water Traverse City and Garfield Township provide water.

Sewage City of Traverse City and Garfield Township.

Storm Sewers Limited access to Traverse City storm sewers is available. The Front Street
campus is equipped with numerous dry wells into which storm water drains.
A large storm water retention system was recently added on the main
campus.

Natural Gas Campus heating systems are natural gas. Adequate capacities currently
exist.

IV-G. Facility Infrastructure Condition (i.e. roads, bridges, parking lots)
The majority of lots, roads and walks on and off Main Campus are in good shape. An annual
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schedule for the repair/replacement of sidewalks and the repair/seal/replacement of lots and
roads has been prepared and incorporated in the Capital and Operational budgets as applicable.

The University Center currently has one driveway. A secondary means of egress for vehicles
was recommended in the 2012 campus master plan. A second means of egress would be able to
be used in a case of emergency or downed trees and/or power lines.

Section IV-L shows a map of the Front Street (Main) campus.

IV-H. Adequacy of existing utilities and infrastructure systems

Based on our current and five year projections NMC utilities and infrastructure systems are
sufficient. As a means to reduce utility costs NMC continues to investigate ways to provide
alternative energy solutions to our campus. The college board authorized geothermal for the
West Hall Innovation Building. The intention is to use the data from this building as a starting
point for an overall campus alternative energy project. Parking was at capacity in 2009 but
based on current and projected trends the campus master plan shows we have sufficient systems
to meet the needs for the next five years. We work closely with area public transportation
agency (BATA) in an effort to both encourage and promote public transportation as a means of
reducing the need for additional parking.

IV-1. Energy Audit

NMC contracted for an energy audit in 2010 and worked with Honeywell in 2015 to review
energy inefficiencies. These two reports have been used to prioritize project that will return
overall energy savings to the institution. During the annual deferred maintenance budget we
target several projects each year to address recommendations from the two audits.

The college has been implementing the lighting recommendations from the energy audit. The
estimated annual savings from the campus wide projects is over $40,000 per year. Other projects
included water conservation and low flow aerators and variable frequency drivers in some of our
buildings. The College also takes full advantage of Traverse City Light and Powers rebate
program. This program has enabled us to complete several lighting projects across campus.

All projects are evaluated for energy savings. As roofs are replaced additional insulation is
included in the project. Other areas of savings are insulated glass overhead doors in our power
house, replacement of old boiler and cooling towers to more energy efficient units.

Section IV, Appendix M. provides an energy audit.

The college will be using a geothermal system for our recent construction project. This will be
used to gather data that could benefit an overall campus renewable energy project.

IV-J. Land owned by the institution

Section IV - Appendix N. lists College properties. Under current assumptions for future growth,
there is existing capacity for future development on land owned by the college.

IV-K. State Building Authority Leases
Table 6 outlines the statistics on the three NMC buildings that are obligated to the State Building
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Authority.
Table 6
Building Description Primary Use Date of
Retirement
Health & Science Building (Integrated Classrooms 2042
Science & Tech Learning Center)
Great Lakes Campus (West Bay) Specialized classrooms and | 2043
conferencing facility
Oleson Center Specialized classrooms and | 2042
conferencing facility

V. IMPLEMENTATION PLAN

V-A. Prioritize major capital projects requested from the State, including a brief
description and estimated costs.

We have identified the renovation of the Osterlin Building for our major capital project — the
Integrated Student Service Hub. This 60-year old building would be renovated and remodeled to
provide our students a one-stop student service hub. The updated space would provide a holistic
approach to student services.

Estimated cost: $5,000,000

V-B. [If applicable, provide an estimate relative to the institution's current deferred
maintenance backlog. Define the impact of addressing deferred maintenance and
structural repairs, including programmatic impact, immediately versus over the next five
years.

Northwestern Michigan College recognizes the importance of addressing deferred maintenance
repairs. Beginning in 2009 the College began providing funding through our annual budget to
address deferred maintenance backlog. Each year the college evaluates its facilities based on the
APPA standards. The Board of Trustees has set an overall benchmark of good for its buildings.

The capital improvement identified approximately $9.4 MM in deferred maintenance required
over the next five years. Funding for identified items has been included in the College’s fiscal
year 2022 plant fund budget. Addressing deferred maintenance is critical for the college to carry
out its mission of providing a state of the art quality program to its students.

V-C. Status of on-going projects financed with State Building Authority
Northwestern Michigan College hosted a groundbreaking ceremony on September 24, 2018 for
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the West Hall Innovation Center (#332/16282). The West Hall Innovation Center was completed
in July 2021.

V-D. Identify to the extent possible a rate of return on planned expenditures.

The college evaluates each major building project to determine a rate of return. This is
accomplished by a reduction in operating costs such as utility savings along with any staffing
reductions that could be attributed to the redesign of a facility.

V-E. Where applicable, consider alternatives to new infrastructure such as distance
learning.

Although the college believes that distance learning plays a key role in program delivery, there is
still a role in facilities. The proposed building projects enhance current learning by engaging
students and faculty in an interactive learning environment.

V-F. Identify maintenance schedule for major maintenance items in excess of $1 million
for fiscal year 2023-2027. Currently, there are no identified maintenance items over $1 million.

V-G. Identify the amount of non-routine maintenance the institution has budgeted for in
its current fiscal year and relevant source of financing

In fiscal year 2003-2004, Northwestern Michigan College developed a comprehensive Facility
Capital Improvement Plan (FCAP) that is reviewed and updated annually. Each year data is
compiled and reviewed on each building to determine the physical needs of the individual
facilities. The twenty-seven (28) structures contained in the Capital Improvement Plan represent
approximately 862,632 square feet of space contained in facilities. The College includes deferred
maintenance of over $1,000,000 a year in its annual budget. NMC has established a benchmark
that overall facilities rating will remain at a rating of good. Northwestern Michigan College has
identified $1,200,000 non-routine maintenance that will be funded from the Plant Fund in
FY2019.

A summary of our deferred maintenance is in Section V.

10.18.21
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ATTACHMENT B
FISCAL YEAR 2023
CAPITAL OUTLAY PROJECT REQUEST

Institution Name: Northwestern Michigan College

Project Title: Integrated Student Services Hub
Project Focus: Academic Research X [ Administrative/Support
Type of Project: x | Renovation Addition New Construction

Program Focus of Occupants: Student Academic and Administrative Support
Approximate Square Footage: 26,000 square feet
Total Estimated Cost: $5,000,000

Estimated Start/Completion Dates: Project is ready for construction contingent upon
authorization approval. Total build time would be one-year.

Is the Five-Year Plan posted on the institution’s public internet site? | X | Yes No
Is the requested project the top priority of the Five-Year Capital Plan? | X | Yes No
Is the requested project focused on a single, stand-alone facility? | X | Yes No

Executive Summary
Student Learning Support Services Renovation Project

Project Overview

Northwestern Michigan College is applying for Capital Outlay funding to renovate and
upgrade the Osterlin Building on central campus into an Integrated Student Services
Hub (“the Hub”) or (“the project”). The Hub would become a central building for the
College’s key student service departments including admissions, advising, tutoring,
counseling, financial aid, cashier’s, international outreach; it would add a Veteran’'s
Lounge, testing center, and talent development services area. These services are
currently spread out among three different buildings on central campus.

Built in 1961 and expanded in 1984, Osterlin has reached the end of its functional life
and is in need of significant repairs and upgrades. This includes upgrades to the
building envelope, HVAC system and a reconfiguration of the layout to maximize use of
the existing building footprint. The project will also include energy efficiency upgrades
and student focused spaces to enable collaboration and learning. The project will not
impact tuition and will be cost shared from existing NMC reserves. The last Capital
Outlay project funded at NMC was in 2018 for the Student Services Learning Center
Renovation Project.
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Project Purpose
The purpose of this project is to address 3 main needs for NMC’s central campus:

1.

Enhance an Existing Asset: The Osterlin building is over 60 years old and has
reached the end of its functional life. Instead of demolishing the structure, NMC
intends to repurpose, transform, and extend the life of the building while creating
a functional, centralized hub for key student services.

Improve Student Efficiency: Currently, students must travel to several different
buildings for their support service needs. Consolidating all of our student support
services into one area will allow students to access resources in one location.
We believe this holistic customer service experience will lead to increased
student retention and completion due to the enhanced experience.

Improve Energy Efficiency: The project would include a complete envelope
overhaul including new energy efficient windows and doors, new insulation and a
new exterior that would increase efficiency and sustainability. Additional project
elements would include a new HVAC system and the installation of LED lights, all
of which will help reduce the carbon footprint for this building.

Describe the Scope of the Project

The project is the complete renovation and modernization of the 60 year old Osterlin
Building. The scope includes addressing deficiencies identified in the facility
assessment report (Attachment A) as well as making needed upgrades to transform the
space into a centrally located integrated student services hub.

Specific project elements include:

NMC

Updated information technology infrastructure

Replace existing windows and exterior doors to increase efficiency
Replace deteriorating stucco with new insulated metal panels to increase
efficiency and sustainable design

Updated facility to address ADA accessibility

Upgrade/replace lighting with LED lights

Replacement of current inefficient HVAC system with new energy efficient
system

Elevator upgrades

Electrical upgrades

New Interior finish

Create learning spaces that have the flexibility and adaptability for group and
individual learning and for learning partnerships with institutions outside the
region

Create breakout spaces to support services to students

Improved operating efficiencies

Consolidation of student support offices
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Once completed the Osterlin Building will be home to:

Admissions

Financial Aid and Cashiers

Registrar

Counseling

Health Services

Veterans Lounge

Advising and Tutoring

Learning Services and Student Testing Center
International Outreach and Service Learning

The project outcomes for our learners include:

Integrated student support services

Holistic advising experience to help them with their student success
Improved customer service to students

Increased use of student support services

Improved retention rates

Please provide detailed, yet appropriately concise responses to the following questions
that will enhance our understanding of the requested project:

1. How does the project enhance Michigan's job creation, talent enhancement
and economic growth initiatives on a local, regional and/or statewide basis?

Northwestern Michigan College plays a pivotal role in talent enhancement and
economic growth initiatives at the local, regional, state and national basis. A 2017
study conducted by Emsi, a leading provider of economic impact studies and labor
market data to educational institutions, concluded that NMC “benefits local
businesses by increasing consumer spending in the region and supplying a steady
flow of qualified, trained workers into the workers.” The study further found that NMC
“benefits the state and local taxpayers through increased tax receipts” and “benefits
society as a whole in Michigan by creating a more prosperous economy and
generating a variety of savings through the improved lifestyles of students.”

Specifically the study found that 1 out of every 22 jobs in the region is supported by
the activities of NMC and its students. The study also reported that NMC added
$42.3 million in income to the region during the analysis year as a result of its day-
to-day operations. Further, the 2017 economic impact study conducted by Emsi
found that for every $1.00 of public monies invested in NMC, taxpayers receive a
cumulative value of $2.90 over the course of the student’s working lives.

Therefore, the proposed integrated student services hub is critically important to
ensure that NMC is able to continue meeting its goal of providing our communities
and learners with the skills, experiences and values that help them create social and
economic wealth during their lifetime.
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2. How does the project enhance the core academic and/or research mission of
the institution?

This project is closely aligned with NMC’s mission of “providing lifelong learning
opportunities to our communities.” With an enrollment of approximately 4,000
students, services such as advising, tutoring, financial aid, and counseling play a key
role in student success and completion.

In 2017, financial aid was offered to 67% of our student population. A 2016 RAND
study! and a 2019 University of Chicago study? found that providing community
college students with comprehensive wraparound services increases full time
enrollment and completion rates. The 2019 study by the University of Chicago
Poverty Lab found that providing wraparound supports for community college
students can improve their chances of persisting, resulting in nearly doubling their
retention to the next term and leading to a 35% increase in full-time enroliment.

Therefore, to support success and completion for our approximately 4,000 students,
this project will allow NMC to provide a singular location to help students navigate
enrollment, financial aid and advising. Delivering more consistent and timely
answers will provide the project outcome of a more uniform, holistic customer
service experience that will help attract and retain students.

3. How does the project support investment in or adaptive re-purposing of
existing facilities and infrastructure?

The integrated student services hub will be an adaptive re-purposing of a centrally
located outdated facility. The project maximizes the use of an existing building to
accommodate the majority of our student support services in one location. In
addition, the project leverages space that is being vacated by the College’s library,
which is moving to a new space being constructed and funded by NMC. Without
completing the Learning Support Services project, 26,000 square feet of centrally
located space would not be repurposed in such a way as to benefit all students.

Does the project address or mitigate any current health/safety deficiencies
relative to existing facilities? If yes, please explain.

Yes, the project will address several health/safety deficiencies in the existing
structure. The building was built in 1961 and expanded in 1984. A renovation and
re-purposing of the building will allow us to update the building based on current
emergency management protocol and today’s ADA requirements. In summary,
some of the deficiencies addressed with a project would include:

e Additional barrier free restrooms

1 https://www.rand.org/news/press/2016/11/30/index2.html

2 https://news.uchicago.edu/story/study-evaluates-model-helping-students-complete-community-college
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e Remodel of interior of buildings to eliminate ramps that are not ADA compliant
o Currently the building utilizes a series of ramps to access portions of
the building that are not compliant with the current ADA standards
e HVAC heating and cooling upgrades
o Dated equipment will be replaced with a higher efficiency and
environmentally compliant system
e Window and exterior door replacement
0 Replace dated windows with energy efficient windows

4. How does the institution measure utilization of its existing facilities, and how
does it compare relative to established benchmarks for educational facilities?
How does the project help to improve the utilization of existing space and
infrastructure, or conversely how does current utilization support the need for
additional space and infrastructure?

NMC utilizes a robust analytic process for determining efficient use and utilization of
our classrooms and spaces. We were one of the first colleges to use classroom
efficiency rather than “go numbers” to determine enroliment decisions. Starting in
2000, NMC adopted an efficiency model whereby the college set an ambitious target
to achieve an average of 90% fill rate for our classes. While not reaching that goal
in every area due to the need to support smaller efficiency in some key specialty
areas, the college average has reached between 82% and 85% in the last five
academic years. Our classes are entirely full in a number of areas. To further our
efforts in the last two years, we have over enrolled some of our classes so that after
some attrition in the first week, the remaining class remains at 100%.

The college also analyzes the utilization of our current buildings using our
scheduling software. Our current utilization reports show that our adaptive learning
spaces are at maximum use. These spaces are scheduled for large and small
student study groups. Additionally, our reports show that simulation space is at
capacity. These adaptive rooms are used by both credit and certificate programs.
NMC was at capacity for our residential students and added an additional 150 new
beds in 2017. Our residential halls are currently at 90% occupancy.

This project would greatly assist in improving the utilization of existing space on
campus. Specifically, with the movement of the library to a new building on campus,
a large portion of the Osterlin building will be vacant. Further, as the building is
currently configured, space is non-congruent and prevents students from seamlessly
utilizing space and service. Once completed, the project would create a more holistic
space for student support service activity. With more students living on campus, we
believe areas such as counseling and health services will see more activity. Both of
these departments are strained for space in their current location. Offices that are
currently being used by these departments will be able to be repurposed as
additional classrooms or needed office space.
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5. How does the institution intend to integrate sustainable design principles to
enhance the efficiency and operations of the facility?

Over the years, NMC has shown a commitment to sustainable design principles in
construction of both new buildings and renovation projects. Although this is a
relatively small renovation project, we will once again incorporate facility efficiencies
wherever appropriate. This project will see the same level of commitment to
integrate sustainable design principles to enhance operating efficiency as all of our
building and renovation projects have seen.

An example of how NMC'’s projects have adhered to sustainable design principals
can be found in NMC's self-funded purchase and renovation of a former
manufacturing facility in 2010 that has led to LEED certification. The new facility is
used to teach our sustainable energy programs, construction trade and other
technical programs that relate to the sustainable design fields. In 2009, NMC
conducted an energy audit to identify areas of improvement in current building.
Each year the College commits to projects that will result in energy efficiencies. We
have converted exterior and interior lighting to LED efficient lighting and installed
occupancy sensors in classrooms, hallways, and restrooms.

Specific to the Student Learning Support Services project, NMC will include
sustainability features including:

Upgraded lighting

Occupancy sensors

Energy efficient HVAC upgrades

Improved building envelope design around exterior doors

6. Are match resources currently available for the project? If yes, what is the
source of the match resources? If no, identify the intended source and the
estimated timeline for securing said resources?

Yes. The college has the reserve funds available to match state dollars for this project
as well as resources from private contributions from the NMC Foundation.

If authorized for construction, the state typically provides a maximum of 75% of
the total cost for university projects and 50% of the total cost for community
college projects. Does the institution intend to commit additional resources that
would reduce the state share from the amounts indicated? If so, by what
amount?

No, not at this time. NMC is committed to the 50% match required for the project.

7. Will the completed project increase operating costs to the institution? If yes,
please provide an estimated cost (annually, and over a five-year period) and
indicate whether the institution has identified available funds to support the
additional cost.
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No, we do not anticipate an increase in operating costs if this project were funded. If
anything, the improvements to the building should yield operating efficiencies in
electrical and heating costs and with the combining of multiple departments, the
college will be able to reduce some personnel costs- thus saving the college money
in the long term.

What impact, if any, will the project have on tuition costs?

There will not be an impact on tuition costs as a result of the project because capital
projects are planned for and built into a 4 year budget model that we operate under.

If this project is not authorized, what are the impacts to the institution and its
students?

If this project is not authorized it will be a determent to our current and future
students. We would also be left with space that will be vacant- following the move of
our library to a new location. Further, if not authorized, the space would not be able
to provide a more robust student support services area that will give students the
ability to access a multitude of student support services in one location. Once
completed, the Student Learning Support Services Building will be a more efficient
way for student to access these services which translates to more use and less time
constraints for the student.

What alternatives to this project were considered? Why is the requested
project preferable to those alternatives?

There is no viable alternative to this project. The project allows for us to consolidate
student support service in one area. This will result in a more holistic approach for
our students and a more efficient delivery system for staff. We expect this to result
in time savings for students with greater results.

Any alternative would only allow for us to make limited changes based on space
capacity. This does not allow for the unified holistic experience for our students.
Additionally, the alternative would not address many of the ADA compliance
concerns we have with this dated facility.

Based on the age of the facility and the need for a unified student support service
center we believe that this project will best meet all of the objectives for the Student
Learning Support Services Renovation Project.

NMC



13.History of prior appropriations received by the institution through the capital

outlay process.

Project Year
Integrated Science & Tech Learning Center 2002
West Bay Great Lakes Campus 2004
Oleson Center Renovation Project 2006
Student Services Learning Center Renovation Project 2018

Supplemental Information

NMC

a) Facility assessment report

b) Current floor configuration

c) Conceptual design for renovation
d) Draft Project budget
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Section I — Mission Statement



173

1. — Mission Statement

Northwestern Michigan College was the first comprehensive community college chartered in the
State of Michigan. Since its founding in 1951, NMC has provided quality, affordable access to
higher education for learners of all ages and backgrounds. NMC is integrally woven into the
economic, social and cultural fabric of the region, providing leadership and support for key
initiatives that shape our communities and prepare our learners for rich and meaningful lives.

Mission
Northwestern Michigan College provides lifelong learning opportunities to our communities.

Vision
NMC will be the resource of choice for higher education, lifelong learning and cultural
experiences. NMC will be an essential contributor to quality of life and a vibrant economy. We
will demonstrate collaborative and inventive approaches to education and training for liberal
studies, careers, interests and emerging learner markets.

Values
Our individual and collective efforts create the legacy of NMC. In order to achieve our
mission, we are individually committed and responsible to live these values:

e Learning is at the center of all we strive to achieve. It is the foundation upon which an
enlightened citizenry and a dynamic community are built and is a lifelong process in
which we are all engaged.

e We will continuously improve the learning experience and its global relevance to those
we serve through innovation, agility and thoughtful risk-taking.

Our actions are governed by the highest degree of ethics, integrity and personal responsibility,
exhibited through transparency, openness and trust.

We each will practice responsible stewardship for the human, physical, financial and
environmental resources entrusted to our care.

Each of us will strive to exceed expectations for quality and service in all that we do.
We value all people and will invest in their personal and professional growth and development.

We will exhibit foresight by monitoring the changing world around us and taking actions today
that prepare us to meet future needs of our communities.

We will seek others who share our vision and values, and collaborate with them on behalf of
our communities.



174

Purposes

To meet our mission, we are fully engaged in each of the following purposes with the result that
our learners meet their goal(s) of being college ready, transfer ready, career ready and lifelong-
learning ready.

Associate degree and certificate education in liberal arts and sciences, and occupational
studies.

Bachelor’s degree in select programs

Career/occupational education and workforce development.
Cultural and personal enrichment.

Facilitating baccalaureate and graduate programs.
Contributing to regional economic development.

Current Strategic Directions and Capacities

In order to accomplish NMC'’s stated Mission, Vision, and Purposes, organizational activities
focus on achieving the following strategic directions and demonstrating competence in
Institutional Effectiveness Criteria.

N —

whw

N —

4.

Strategic Directions

Ensure that NMC learners are prepared for success in a global society and economy.
Establish national and international competencies and provide leadership in select
educational areas connected to the regional economy and assets.

Deliver learning through a networked workforce.

Establish lifelong relationships with learners.

Transcribe most learning to establish credentials of value.

Institutional Effectiveness Criteria

Scholarship, Enrichment and Workforce: Helping Students Learn
Partnership:
a. Economic Development and Community Involvement
b. Building Collaborative Relationships
Champion:
a. Understanding Student and Stakeholder Needs
b. Supporting Organizational Operations
Culture: Valuing People
Operations:
a. Leading and Communicating
b. Measuring Effectiveness
c. Planning Continuous Improvement



175

Section 11
Instructional Programming



Appendix A
Programs of Study
(NMC Catalog)
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Appendix A — Programs of Study (NMC Catalog)

https://catalog.nmc.edu/? ga=2.125540812.751963423.1628598249-540205210.1525350857



https://catalog.nmc.edu/?_ga=2.125540812.751963423.1628598249-540205210.1525350857
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Appendix B
Initiatives Impacting

Facilities Usage



179

2. Executive Summary

The Executive Summary for this Facilities Master Plan
report includes the following:

A. Background / Purpose of Master Plan
B. Planning Goals / Areas of Focus
C. Strategic Context
D. Planning Process
E. Recommendations
2012 Facilities Master Plan Section2 |l
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2. Executive Summary
(continued)

A.  Background / Purpose of Master Plan

Northwestern Michigan College is comprised of four
campus locations, over 25 buildings, and several
additional properties and buildings. The facilities total
over 795,000 SF, with a total current replacement value
estimated at over $160 million.

As NMC looks forward toward the alignment of all
planning, master planning is a key element in aligning the
strategic agenda, programs and facilities. NMC
commissioned this Master Plan in December, 2011.

The goal of this Master Plan is to provide Northwestern
Michigan College with a more comprehensive roadmap
for meeting facilities issues over the next 10 years.
Selected projects and accompanying costs are presented
later in this document.

Just as change has created the need for this facilities
master plan, future changes will continue to make the
planning process dynamic. While this master plan report
makes recommendations to retain and enhance an
attractive, serviceable physical environment that is
responsive to the changing needs of NMC, it is not rigid
or static. To be an effective consensus-building and
decision-making tool, this facilities master plan should be
seen as a flexible document, able to be periodically
evaluated and revised as new ideas and opportunities
emerge.

2012 Facilities Master Plan Section 2
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2. Executive Summary
(continued)

B.  Planning Goals & Areas of Focus

Goals:
This plan includes the following specific goals:

1. Identify sites for new construction or expansion.

2. Address traffic patterns and parking facilities.

3. Respond to emerging and changing physical
needs as they relate to updated academic
offerings.

4. Maintain stewardship of the natural environment;
evaluate environmental impact of proposed
construction.

5. Establish priorities and cost estimates for a ten-

year Master Plan.

2012 Facilities Master Plan Section 2
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2. Executive Summary
(continued)

C. Strategic Context

NMC'’s recent strategic planning process yielded several
points of interest that formed the backdrop for the
Planning Team:

NMC is recognized for service beyond Grand
Traverse County and the surrounding service
area. Programs with state-wide, national, and
international value will continue to strengthen this
broader recognition.

Development of private-sector partnerships will
allow NMC to expand educational experiences.
Strategies that promote asset sharing will be
prioritized.

NMC is expanding from two-year to four-year
programs in select areas tied to employer and
regional economic development needs.

NMC believes that the education industry as a
whole is trending from a time-based system to
one that is competency-based.

NMC believes that learners will expect innovative
spaces for learning in the classroom and as part

of daily activity on all its campuses. NMC will be

able to facilitate learning programs from a variety
of sources in addition to its own.

2012 Facilities Master Plan Section 2
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2. Executive Summary
(continued)

Facilities at the Aero-Park Campus will have
capacity to expand into research activities
connected to learning experiences and to
regional economic development. Similarly, the
Eastern Avenue property will have the potential
to house a next generation of programs and
services.

Simulation-based learning will continue to
expand as a requirement in many of NMC'’s
programs (such as allied health, engineering
technology, and maritime technology), providing
resources for continuing professional training
beyond degrees and certifications.

NMC is committed to sustainable practices —
both fiscally and environmentally.

NMC will continue to use strategies that integrate
its multiple campuses into a single learning
community. Transportation, technology, smart
planning and scheduling will all play a part in
promoting this vision.

2012 Facilities Master Plan Section 2



184

2. Executive Summary
(continued)

D. Planning Process

The Planning Team began its work with data collection
and review of existing documents and reports, including
site surveys, building plans, condition assessment
reports, and utility reports. This was supplemented by
College-provided data on enroliment history and trends,
room utilization, parking counts, land use, NMC Strategic
Plan, and previous capital outlay requests. Primary
sources of background data were individual strategic plan
documents prepared by College departments.

The Planning Team subsequently met with the
President’s Council and NMC Leadership Team to gather
addition input and insight into the existing documents and
direction for the future.

The Team toured each NMC building and site to gain a
deeper understanding of the content and costs
represented in the FCAP Report; become familiar with
campus layouts, facility functions, infrastructure,
circulation patterns and general building conditions; and
better understand the background of facilities and
programs, as well as future intent and strategic direction.

These tours were followed by meetings with each
department to review the strategic planning documents
and clarify specific points in the context of existing
facilities and future direction. Each department received
advance questions from the Planning Team as
preparation for each meeting.

Following this input, the Team prepared a series of
optional ideas, with conceptual costs, for consideration
and feedback by the President’s Council and ultimately
by the Board of Trustees prior to refinement into a final
Master Plan document.

2012 Facilities Master Plan Section2 |
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Executive Summary
(continued)

E. Recommendations
Following are narrative descriptions of major components
of the 2012 Master Plan, followed by site plan
illustrations. These components are not necessarily
listed in the order of priority.

Main Campus

Site
Traffic and Parking
There is capacity to expand selected parking lots (Aspen,
Birch, Cedar, Juniper, Pine, and Tamarack) to create
more, dispersed parking opportunities across campus.
The relocation of a portion of College Drive would add
almost three acres of area within the ring road.
Redevelopment of student housing would also create a
stronger pedestrian pathway between Oleson and the
rest of campus west of College Drive. With the addition
of 244 new parking spaces, the NMC campus would have
a total of 1,789 spaces available.

Although not a formal recommendation for this
master plan, the option exists of developing a
multi-level parking structure on campus that could
address the parking need on a smaller footprint in
favor of retaining existing natural ground area.
The specific size, location, cost and financing
terms of a parking structure would be critical to
maximize the benefit to NMC, its students, and its
patrons. The most likely locations for a structure
maximizing shared use would be the Aspen Lot
and/or the Cherry Lot.

2012 Facilities Master Plan Section 2
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2. Executive Summary
(continued)

Recreation Fields

The recreation fields would be improved in two major
ways: first, the area would be raised to provide adequate
site drainage and new fill to eliminate standing water, and
thereby increase its usability. Second, the area would be
redefined to provide space for baseball, softball, football,
soccer, lacrosse, and rugby, thereby increasing its value
for formal PE classes, student life activities, club sports
and informal recreation.

Campus Edge

Upgrading the campus edge between NMC and TCAPS
property through effective landscaping and other design
elements would provide a safer, more attractive buffer.

Pedestrian Improvements

Redevelopment of the pedestrian corridor from Tanis to
West Hall would enhance visual connections from west
campus to center campus and provide a more clear and
useful path to connect core NMC buildings.

West Hall
Renovation of 33,450 SF and expansion of West Hall by
40,000 SF would consolidate student services, expand
dining options, bookstore offerings, health services and
space for student organizations, as well as add new
classroom space and study space for individuals and
groups. As the Multi-Disciplinary Student Learning
Center, the facility would be multi-story and located near
several major parking areas.

An expanded plan would add new library space and new
fitness/wellness space to expand the Multi-Disciplinary
Student Learning Center to approximately 150,000 SF.
The Campus Master Plan following this Summary
illustrates this expanded plan at West Hall.

2012 Facilities Master Plan Section2 |
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Executive Summary
(continued)

PE Building
The functions now located in the PE Building would be
relocated to the expanded West Hall project (Multi-
Disciplinary Student Learning Center). The existing PE
Building would be razed to make room for a future
academic building. The new facility would create new
opportunities for academic programming, as well as
increased informal recreation and fitness/wellness
activity.

Fine Arts
The Fine Arts Building was originally designed for an
expansion at the north end of the building. An expansion
of approximately 6,000 SF would accommodate potential
new programming and provide space for increasing use
by larger music groups and ensembles.

The renovation of the existing music wing (approximately
9,000 SF) would also make the existing space more
usable and flexible for current and future music
programming.

Dennos Museum Center
Redevelopment of the west loading dock and approach
drive will improve servicing of the building and reduce
damage to the walls of the drive because of its narrow
width. Also, a modest equipment storage addition at the
loading dock will enhance the flexibility and utilization of
Milliken Auditorium.

New Student Housing
New housing totaling 129,000 SF would replace the three
existing apartment buildings, but also increase the
housing capacity from 138 to 300 in order to meet NMC
strategic goals to accommodate future growth and
specifically that 5% of its enrollment come from
international students. This housing can be developed in
a phased approach as the need grows.

2012 Facilities Master Plan Section2  |EJ
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2. Executive Summary
(continued)

Renovation of Osterlin and Tanis
The consolidation of student services at West Hall,
combined with the relocation of library space from
Osterlin Library to the Multi-Disciplinary Student Learning
Center offers an opportunity to renovate 32,500 SF on
the first floor of Osterlin Library to increase the its value
as expanded study space (individuals or groups), testing
space, and flexible academic space. Located between
NMC'’s most intensely used academic buildings (Scholars
Hall and Health Science), it is positioned for optimal
value.

The opportunity to reconfigure the upper level of Tanis
(approximately 7,200 SF) offers possibilities to enhance
communication and operational efficiencies for NMC
components as the implementation of the master plan
evolves.

2012 Facilities Master Plan Section 2
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Executive Summary
(continued)

Aero Park Campus

Aero Park Laboratories
The APL contains large open spaces for construction,
renewable energies, and engineering programs. The
building is well suited to accommodate future growth in
building area and parking capacity by building additions
of 60,000+ SF to the east of the existing building
(dependent on use, parking, and site circulation
requirements). APL is also suitable as a location for the
emerging Engineering Technology Program, currently in
development.

Automotive Services Technology
With the anticipated growth of current programming, as
well as programming for alternative energies (electric and
hybrids), this building is capable of classroom and lab
expansion to accommodate the growth by 4,000 — 5,000
SF, plus corresponding parking.

Aviation Building
Indoor storage for aircraft at the existing facility is at
capacity (12 aircraft). With the recent and anticipated
growth of the aviation program, additional storage
capacity can be accommodated by phased additions to
the existing pre-engineered building with a hangar
addition of up to 11,000 SF (to fit up to 12 additional
aircraft to the existing fleet of 12 aircraft), which will
double the interior aircraft storage capacity . An
additional 3,000 SF will handle additional classroom
space, simulator space, and additional student load
anticipated for the unmanned aircraft program. At its
maximum capacity, the expansion will require site work
related to parking capacity and stormwater management.

2012 Facilities Master Plan Section 2
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Executive Summary
(continued)

Parsons Stulen
Parsons Stulen has approximately 4,000 SF of existing
space, primarily in the west wing of the building, that
could be repurposed for other programming needs as
they emerge.

University Center Campus

There are three primary components to improvements proposed
at the University Center: new emergency exit drive from the
parking lot to Wysong Road; upgrade of two interior classrooms
(2,260 SF) to science labs to accommodate expanded
programming by NMC and University Center partners; and the
addition of formal access to Boardman Lake for potential future
programming and as a community asset.

The wooded area south of the existing building also offers an
opportunity to accommodate future housing or an executive
retreat / learning center development, taking advantage of the
quiet, secluded nature of the site, its proximity to existing
corporate-level learning facilities, as well as recreational use of
Boardman Lake.

2012 Facilities Master Plan Section 2
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Executive Summary
(continued)

Additional Areas of Focus:

Appel Property
Site improvements related to entry drive and parking, as
well as an improved septic system, would make the
property more accommodating and desirable for regular
use. The changing ecology and environment of the
Boardman River Basin makes this a resource useful for
science curricula, environmental studies, and outreach to
the broader community.

Rogers Observatory
Increased use of this NMC resource would occur with two
proposed improvements:  a barrier-free pedestrian
pathway from the parking lot to the observatory main
level; and a 1,000 SF expansion of the classroom area to
accommodate more occupants , as well as additional
space for storage.

Eastern Avenue Property
Because of the size and unique aspects of this property,
it holds the potential for a range of ideas:

Student housing

Intergenerational housing

Recreation fields and nature trails

New academic live/learn buildings
Agribusiness-related farming & production
facilities

Alternative energy site

The dramatic topography on the site could suggest the
potential for two primary uses — one at the upland portion,
accessed from existing residential roads that engage the
property at the northern corners; and one at the lower
portion of the site, more related to Eastern Avenue and

to close proximity to the NMC campus. Because of the
orientation of the land, it has maximum exposure to the
sun.

2012 Facilities Master Plan Section 2
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2. Executive Summary
(continued)

At 55 acres, it is equal to 60% of the existing main
campus land area. Because of this, it would be
appropriate to think of this property in terms of a short-
term strategy and a long-term strategy. The initial
development of a new walk, entry drive and parking area
on the Eastern Avenue property would provide students
and faculty safe access to the site and its walking trails.
Clearing areas for development associated with
agribusiness programming could be included, along

with associated support structures and utilities.

2012 Facilities Master Plan Section 2
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Executive Summary
(continued)

Immediate Recommendations

Moving forward, based upon the recommendations and the
information gathered during this master plan, the following
projects have been identified by the Executive Team as areas that
need immediate solutions. Funding of these projects may take on
a multi-year approach, and projects will be staged based on final
funding opportunities.

For example, as a major capital improvement, the Multi-
Disciplinary Student Learning Center will likely require funding
from multiple sources, including the State of Michigan through the
capital outlay process and state bonding capacity. This may take
several years to accomplish. In the interim, funding for other
projects may become available through grants, partnerships, and
donations.

Similarly, new programming may raise the urgency of a particular
priority in order to take advantage of new funding opportunities
not known at this time. Additionally, other recommendations
within Section 5 will be addressed as the College sets priorities
throughout the next 5-10 years.

Multi-Disciplinary Student Learning Center

This facility will combine learning, recreation, and student services
in one area. The project will address student services, classroom
simulation expansion, library services, and a comprehensive
physical education complex.

Anticipated funding: The project will require multiple sources of
funding. The College anticipates a combination of private
donations, state sources, and College funds to complete the
project.

Timeframe: 3-5 years to complete funding requirements.

2012 Facilities Master Plan Section 2 15
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Executive Summary
(continued)

Renovation of Osterlin Library

Renovation of the building is necessary in order to optimize space
and meet current capacity needs.

Anticipated funding: The project would be accomplished through
the College’s current plant fund reserves.

Timeframe: 1 year

New Student Housing

This will provide both additional housing to meet anticipated future
growth, as well as updated apartments.

Funding: The College has not identified funding for this project.
It is anticipated that this will be a cooperative arrangement and
funded through a private/public partnership.

Timeframe: 2-3 years

New Drive at University Center

This will provide additional egress for safety and emergency
exiting from the site.

Funding: The College will fund this project through the annual
plant fund budget.

2012 Facilities Master Plan Section 2
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Appendix C

Socioeconomic Benefits
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Final Report
Economic Impact of Northwestern Michigan College
May 27,2014

George Erickcek

Introduction and Findings

This report provides an estimation of the total economic contribution that Northwestern
Michigan College (NMC) makes on its surrounding region. Of course, the full comprehensive
impact of the college on the region’s social and cultural environment is much larger than its
economic influence. Since its founding in 1951, the college has changed the social environment
of the greater Grand Traverse region. This change has occurred informally by the simple
presence of more young adults staying in the community to pursue their education, and formally
through activities such as the Dennos Museum Center, WNMC 90.7 FM, and the Rogers
Observatory which have increased both the cultural offerings and cultural expectations of the
region. The purpose of this report is to document the college’s economic contributions to the
region which, while an important measure, reflects only a portion of the college’s total impact.

The report’s findings are presented in three sections. First, we provide an estimate of the
economic presence of Northwestern Michigan College. The college’s economic presence is the
level of annual economic activity generated in its service region because of its ongoing
operations, the consumer expenditures of its students, and the resulting spinoff that occurs in the
region due to these direct expenditures.

Second, we present an estimate of Northwestern Michigan College’s economic impact.
Estimating economic impact is a conceptual exercise that involves making valuations of the
status quo compared to a counterfactual situation in which the college is absent from the region.
In measuring the impact of a new facility to a region, such as a factory, the level of economic
activity with the facility in full operation is compared to the level of economic activity in the
region before the facility was constructed. Similarly, to measure the economic impact of an
existing facility, a strictly hypothetical level of the region’s economic activity without the facility
must be estimated.

The final part of the report estimates the impact of Northwestern Michigan College on the
potential earnings of its graduates. During the course of their working career, Associate-degree
holders in northern Michigan earn $460,000 more than persons who only have a high school
diploma. The net present value of the return on investment for a student successfully completing

1
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a two-year Associate’s degree, which discounts the value of future earnings, is estimated to be
between $7.93 and $11.14 for each dollar he/she spent on tuition and foregone income while
attending school. The student’s return on investment depends on whether he/she receives federal
aid and attends school full or part time. This is a conservative estimate as it does not factor in the
unique, high-demand technical degrees that the college offers.

Northwestern Michigan College’s economic contribution is estimated by an economic simulation
model especially constructed for the communities served by the college by Regional Economic
Models Incorporated (REMI). The REMI model is considered one of the best regional impact
models available due to its flexibility and structure. A brief description of the model is provided
in the Appendix.

NMC'’s impact on the region’s economy is multi-faceted and includes the impact of:

The purchases of goods and services made by the college in its ongoing operations;
e The regional consumer expenditures made by its faculty and staff;
e The regional consumer expenditures of its students; and
e The growth in business activity due to its technical assistance to area businesses as well
as the increased competitiveness of its businesses due to the college’s technical training
programs and a more educated regional employment base.
NMC’s economic contribution is measured by its impact on:
e Total year-round employment in the regions, both full and part time;
e Personal income of the regions’ full-time residents which includes earned income, such
as wages and salaries, and unearned income such as pensions and dividends; note that
personal income is based on where someone lives while wages are based on where

someone works;

e The increase in total sales: the purchase of all goods and services in the regions including
purchases made by businesses to suppliers; and

e The change in the regions’ Gross Regional Product (GRP).
The last measure, the region’s GRP, equals the increase in the purchases of goods and services
generated by NMC minus the value of all intermediate goods and services that are either shipped
or provided outside the region. For example, the purchase price of a text book would be included

in total sales, while only the “mark-up” earned by the local seller is included in the GRP.

This study estimates the economic contribution of Northwestern Michigan College on the
following regions:

Region 1: Grand Traverse County;
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Region 2: Grand Traverse, Antrim, Benzie, Kalkaska, Leelanau, and Wexford
Counties
Region 3: Grand Traverse, Antrim, Benzie, Kalkaska, Leelanau, Wexford,

Charlevoix, Emmet, Manistee, and Missaukee Counties

The presence of Northwestern Michigan College contributes $130.9 million in total sales, $62.6
million in personal income, and generates 1,822 jobs in the 10-county region of Northwestern
Michigan as shown in Table 1.

On average, each employee of the college (full- and part-time) supports:
e (.6 additional job positions in the region
e $118, 900 in total sales
e $56,900 in total personal income of residents living in the region.

The economic impact of Northwestern Michigan College is an increase in 1,060 jobs and a rise
in total sales of $55.2 million. Personal income is $32.7 million greater and the region’s Gross
Regional Product is $33.0 million larger. This is the regional economic impact that is supported
by $9.1 million in property taxes paid to NMC in FY’13.

The students attending Northwestern Michigan College can also expect a significant increase in
their lifelong earnings.

e Individuals holding an associate degree in Northern Michigan had a low 3.8 percent
unemployment rate in 2012 (most current data available) compared to a high 14.9 percent
rate for persons with only a high school degree.

e Annual earnings for associate degree holders in Northern Michigan were $31,800 in 2012
compared to $24,110 for individuals with only a high school diploma.

Table 1 Summary of Economic Presence and Impact of Northwestern Michigan College

Total Gross
Total personal Total sales in the  Regional Product
Total employment  income ($ mil) region ($ mil) ($ mil)

Economic presence

Region 1 1,664 437 111.0 63.8

Region 2 1,788 60.6 124.7 70.8

Region 3 1,822 62.6 130.9 73.6
Economic impact

Region 1 962 23.7 434 27.2

Region 2 1,032 339 50.3 31.0

Region 3 1,060 32.7 55.2 33.0

Economic Presence

The economic presence of NMC is defined as the level of economic activity in the region that is
supported by the existence of the college. As highlighted above, the economic presence is very
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diverse, ranging from the college’s purchases of locally generated services, to the consumer
spending of its employees and students, and to the increased competitiveness of local businesses.

In 2012, Northwestern Michigan College employed 1,092 employees, of whom 314 were full
time, 294 were adjunct instructors teaching for-credit courses, 12 were adjunct instructors
teaching non-credit courses!, and the remaining 472 employees were student workers and other
part-time workers. It should be noted that the annual number of workers at the college includes
short-time workers as well, persons who only work for a semester or less. In any given month
over the course of 2012, NMC employed in the range of 553-811 workers. That same year the
college reported a point-in-time employment level of 655 for the fall semester, excluding student
workers. Due to the employment definitions required by the REMI model (see Appendix), the
annual full-, part- and short-time employment estimate was used for this analysis. Annual payroll
at the college was $22.3 million in 2012. These values are used in generating the college’s
economic presence.” Finally, the total college employment figure used in the analysis—1,101
employees—includes contracted security personnel.

As shown in Table 2 below, the ongoing operation of Northwestern Michigan College, which
includes the consumption expenditures of its staff and faculty, generates 386 additional jobs in
the 10-county region beyond the 1,101 jobs at the college for a total employment impact of
1,487. Not surprisingly, the major share of these jobs (96 percent) is located in Grand Traverse
County—322 positions. The jobs generated in Regions 2 and 3, outside of Grand Traverse
County, are due primarily to the local consumption expenditures of the college’s staff and faculty
who reside in these regions.

The college’s operations increase total sales in the 10-county region by $75.8 million annually.
Since most of these sales are for goods and services that are generated outside the region, the
college’s impact on the region’s Gross Regional Product—the value of goods and services
generated in the region—is less, $48.5 million.

The economic presence of Northwestern Michigan College also includes the economic
contribution of the consumption expenditures of its students that are associated with their
attendance at the college. In this study we used the complete enrollment data for 2012-2013 (Fall
’12, Spring *13, Summer ’13) which is shown in Table 3.

! Most non-credit instructors (Extended Education courses) are paid as independent contractors and are
therefore not included in the employee figures. Those adjunct instructors who teach for-credit courses, typically over
a semester, are paid as adjunct employees, and therefore are included in the figures above.

2 The REMI model uses the college’s employment level to estimate the level of demand for local goods and
services the community college would require based on national statistics. We adjusted the REMI model’s estimate
by including its payroll—the college’s payroll and its outsourcing of security services.

4



Table 2 Economic Presence of Northwestern Michigan College

Grand Traverse Region 2 Region 3
Ongoing Operations
Direct employment* 1,101 1,101 1,101
Full impact on the region
Employment 1,423 1,478 1,487
Personal income ($ mil 2012) 359 48.9 49.8
Sales ($ mil 2012) 70.9 74.9 75.8
Gross Regional Product ($ mil 2012) 45.4 48.0 48.5
Student Expenditures (NMC and University Center)
Employment 67 87 90
Personal income ($ mil 2012) 2.1 2.8 2.9
Sales ($ mil 2012) 59 7.5 7.8
Gross Regional Product ($ mil 2012) 39 49 5.1
NMC Training Division
Employment 150 180 182
Personal income ($ mil 2012) 49 7.3 7.3
Sales ($ mil 2012) 30.2 352 352
Gross Regional Product ($ mil 2012) 12.6 14.7 14.7
Business Competitiveness
Employment 24 43 63
Personal income ($ mil 2012) 0.7 1.6 2.7
Sales ($ mil 2012) 4.0 7.1 122
Gross Regional Product ($ mil 2012) 1.8 3.1 53
Total Presence Impact
Employment 1,664 1,788 1,822
Personal income ($ mil 2012) 43.7 60.6 62.6
Sales ($ mil 2012) 111.0 1247 130.9
Gross Regional Product ($ mil 2012) 63.8 70.8 73.6
*By place of work and includes contracted security personnel
Table 3 2012-2013 Student Enrollment
Fall 2012 Spring 2013 Summer 2013
Northwestern Michigan College
Grand Traverse (Region 1) 3,058 2,954 865
Percent 3/4 time or more 55 56 13
Region 2 excluding GT 1,208 1,192 281
Percent 3/4 time or more 57 58 13
Region 3 excluding Region 2 164 140 34
Percent 3/4 time or more 67 68 13
Other 414 344 147
Total 4,844 4,630 1,327
Percent 3/4 time or more 58 59 13

SOURCE: Northwestern Michigan College.
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Moreover, the consumer expenditures of University Center students are included in estimating
the NMC economic presence. University Center enrollment expressed in contact hours

generated, were converted to estimated student headcount as shown in Table 4.

Table 4 University Center Student Enrollment

Undergraduate students Graduate students
Semester Total credit hours (CH)  (70% of CH at 9 CH per student) (30% of CH at 6 CH per student)
Fall 2012 5,041 392 168
Spring 2013 4,819 375 241
Summer 2013 2,290 178 115

According to the finding of a study prepared by Geoffrey Paulin, full-time college students spend
$3,700 per quarter.’ However, roughly 40 percent of NMC students are less than three-quarter
time during fall and spring semesters and 87 percent of the college’s summer students are less
than three-quarter. These individuals can include working adults taking career advancement
courses and/or retirees taking classes for personal enrichment as well as credential seeking
students. Since, for these individuals, attending class is not their primary activity, their consumer
expenditures are excluded from estimating both NMC’s economic presence and economic
impact.* In addition, some full-time and three- quarter-time students attending NMC live at home
with their parents and do not pay rent. While we do not know the percentage of NMC students
living at their parents’ residence, we do know that only 36 percent of the college’s full-time
students are under 21 years old and only 21 percent of the college’s three-quarter-time students
are under 21 years of age. We subtracted housing costs (rent) from the expenditures of students
who are under 21 years of age.

As shown again in Table 2, the economic presence of student expenditures generated 90 jobs in
the 10-county region, contributed $7.8 million in total sales, and generated $5.1 million in the
region’s Gross Regional Product.

Business Community Impact

Northwestern Michigan College is a vital economic asset for the regional business community.
Having NMC in the region is advantageous to both employers and county residents who are
potential members of the workforce for at least two reasons. First the college imparts skills and
knowledge that enhance workers’ productivity and employability. Second, it tends to retain
workers in the region. Many local employers interact with the college through internships,
advisory committees, or in other ways, which promotes the hiring of NMC students and
simultaneously promotes the retention of county residents by providing good employment
opportunities within the region.

All communities compete on the strength of the talent of their workforce. In addition to the
overall contribution of the NMC programs in increasing the base of educated and trained workers

3 Geoffrey D. Paulin, “Expenditures of College-Age Students and Nonstudents,” Monthly Labor Review,
July 2001, pp. 46-50. He found that in the 1996—1998 period, college students spent $2,584 per quarter. In our
calculations, we subtracted housing expenditures from this total since we assume many NMC students live at home
and used an inflation factor of 43.2 percent.

4 While this step is required for this study, it is unfortunate because it neglects the importance of the college
to the area’s quality of life. However, the business impact of workers enhancing their workplace skills is estimated
in the next section.
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in the region, NMC’s technical training programs and the NMC Training Division (part of the
Michigan Manufacturing Technology Center), play a significant role in improving the
competitiveness of the region’s base industries—industries that sell their goods or services to
customers outside the region.

The direct impact of the NMC Training Division is also shown in Table 2. In total, its activities
contributed 182 jobs to the greater 10-county Grand Traverse region as well as $35.2 million in
total sales and a $14.7 million increase in the region’s Gross Regional Product.

In addition, Northwestern Michigan College offers courses and certificates in welding, auto tech,
construction trades, renewable energy programs, advanced manufacturing, manufacturing tech,
engineering, electronics tech, and CAD operations. These are skills that are in high demand from
the region’s base industries. It is impossible to estimate the competitiveness gained by the
region’s base industries because of these programs; however, if they lower production costs for
the region’s manufacturers by just 1.0 percent, they would generate 63 jobs in the region and
generate $12.2 million in sales, again shown in Table 2.

The total economic contribution of NMC to the region is also shown in Table 2. The presence of
NMC generated more than 1,800 jobs in the 10-county region, increased personal income by
$62.6 million and total sales by $130.9 million.

Often an employment multiplier is calculated to illustrate the total employment impact of a
facility or organization. The multiplier is derived by dividing the total employment impact of the
organization, in this case 1,822 for the 10-County Region by the college’s direct annual
employment in the region, 1,101. The multiplier for NMC’s ongoing operations in the 10-County
Region is 1.6. In other words, every 10 employees at the college support another 6 jobs in the
region.

A more detailed illustration of the college’s contribution to the regions’ employment is shown in
Table 5. As expected, the college’s presence has a large impact on the regions’ retailers;
however, it also supports 82 jobs in its health care sector due, in large part, to the health care
benefit package utilized by NMC employees.



Table 5 Detailed Employment Breakdown of NMC’s Economic Presence

Grand Traverse Region 2 Region 3
Northwestern Michigan College 1,101 1,101 1,101
Construction 77 93 96
Manufacturing 94 117 126
Wholesale trade 18 20 21
Retail trade 79 99 103
Real estate 44 52 54
Prof., scienific, & technical serv. 19 21 22
Administratve 29 35 37
Health care 64 78 82
Arts 9 11 11
Food service 29 37 39
Other services 41 49 51
State and local government 61 73 79
Total 1,664 1,787 1,821

Economic Impact

To measure the economic impact of Northwestern Michigan College we must measure the
difference between NMC as a comprehensive community college and a community without
NMC. Grand Traverse County—with a population of nearly 90,000—is too large to not be
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served by a public or private higher educational institution. Therefore this analysis assumes the

following assumptions:

A much smaller higher-education entity would provide a limited, core offering to the

region and receive no property tax support.

Many of the current activities and unique training programs at NMC exist because NMC

1s a comprehensive community college with strategic priorities tailored to the needs and

assets of the community. Specifically, this analysis assumes that the following activities

exist primarily for these reasons and would, therefore, likely not exist under the

hypothetical counterfactual scenario.

— Hagerty Center

— Great Lakes Culinary Institute

— University Center

— Great Lakes Maritime Academy

— Dennos Museum Center

— Aviation Division, Technical Division

— Extended Educational Services (including music and physical education)

— Bridge Program

— Great Lakes Water Studies Institute

— NMC Training Division

The staffing and payroll of the hypothetical, alternative educational provider would be

much smaller. Including not offering the activities cited above, we assume that the “core”

activities of a higher education institution offering services in the region under the

counterfactual scenario would be reduced by two-thirds with a staff estimated at 270

FTE’s.

Without NMC, its current students would have to decide whether to discontinue their

education or select a different higher education institute which would likely necessitate
8
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leaving the area. In fact, we have assumed that all of NMC’s current students living
outside Grand Traverse County would attend school elsewhere because of the
counterfactual institution’s limited course offerings. For students living in Grand
Traverse County, we have assumed that 50 percent would decide not to advance their
education beyond high school and remain in the county.

e At the same time, in estimating the economic impact of the college’s presence in the
region, we must consider the local tax support for NMC’s ongoing operational budget of
$55 million (FY’13 actual). Without NMC all or, at least, a portion of these property tax
dollars would be returned to the region’s property owners. In short, the $9.1 million in
local property taxes would be returned to taxpayers in this scenario. The reduction in
property taxes for residents would have a positive impact on consumption expenditures.
For businesses, the decrease in property taxes would lower their capital costs on plant and
equipment, making the county marginally more cost competitive. As shown in Table 6,
the combined impact to residents and businesses of the lower property taxes would
generate an estimated 179 jobs in the 10-county region. Since this is an offsetting impact
to the college’s economic presence, it is entered as a negative impact.

As shown in Table 6, the direct impact of NMC employment is reduced to 831, because the
hypothetical higher education entity would be staffed by an estimated 270 instructors and
administrators. Again, the economic impact of NMC is the difference between its current level of
operations and this hypothetical educational institution. This total economic impact of NMC can
be measured in several ways: an increase of 1,060 jobs, $55.2 million in sales, $37.2 million in
the region’s personal income or a $33.0 million in the region’s Gross Regional Product. In the
following section, we break out the individual components that make up NMC’s economic
1mmpact.

We estimate that the economic impact of NMC’s ongoing operations generates 1,123 jobs in the
10-county region, contributes $56.5 million in extra sales, and $36.2 million to the region’s
Gross Regional Product.



Table 6 Economic Impact of Northwestern Michigan College

Grand Traverse Region 2 Region 3
Ongoing Operations

Direct employment 1,101 1,101 1,101
Alternative institute -270 -270 -270
Net institute impact 831 831 831

Full impact on the regions
Employment 1,074 1,116 1,123
Personal income ($ mil 2012) 273 37.1 349
Sales ($ mil 2012) 53.6 56.7 56.5
Gross Regional Product ($ mil 2012) 343 363 36.2

Student Expenditures (NMC and University Center)
Employment 34 51 53
Personal income ($ mil 2012) 1.1 1.6 1.7
Sales ($ mil 2012) 3.0 44 4.6
Gross Regional Product ($ mil 2012) 1.9 2.9 3.0
Business Competitiveness
Employment 24 43 63
Personal income ($ mil 2012) 0.7 1.6 2.7
Sales ($ mil 2012) 4.0 7.1 12.2
Gross Regional Product ($ mil 2012) 1.8 3.1 53
Tax Impact
Employment -170 -178 -179
Personal income ($ mil 2012) -5.4 -6.5 -6.6
Sales ($ mil 2012) -17.2 -17.8 -18.1
Gross Regional Product ($ mil 2012) -10.9 -11.3 -11.5
Total Economic Impact

Employment 962 1,032 1,060
Personal income ($ mil 2012) 23.7 339 32.7
Sales ($ mil 2012) 43.4 50.3 55.2
Gross Regional Product ($ mil 2012) 27.2 31.0 33.0

The economic impact of student expenditures is determined by estimating the percentage of
students who would either leave the area to attend college elsewhere, or not attend college
because of the absence of a more comprehensive and potentially more affordable option. The
hypothetical institution’s course offering would be limited; however, some students in Grand

Traverse County would remain.

Finally, since it is assumed that the counterfactual institution would not provide the technical
career programs being offered by NMC, the college’s economic impact would include its
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positive impact on the competitiveness of the regions’ businesses. However, it is very likely that
the local MMTC operations would move to a different host and, therefore, its contribution is not

included in the college’s economic impact.

The full economic impact of the college is shown in Table 6. In total, the economic impact of

Northwestern Michigan College compared to a private transfer institution is an increase in 1,060

jobs and a rise in total sales of $55.2 million. Personal income is $32.7 million greater and the

10



region’s Gross Regional Product is $33.0 million larger. In other words this is the regional
economic impact that is supported by $9.1 million in property taxes paid to NMC.

Finally, Table 7 provides a detailed breakdown of the college’s employment impact on the

region’s industrial sectors.

Table 7 Detailed Employment Breakdown of Northwestern

Michigan College’s Economic Impact

Grand Traverse Region 2  Region 3

Northwestern Michigan College 1,101 1,101 1,101
Alternative Institute -270 -270 -270
Net Direct 831 831 831
Construction 21 30 32
Manufacturing 8 17 26
Wholesale trade 5 6 7
Retail trade 23 37 40
Real estate 5 10 12
Prof., scienific, & technical serv. 4 5 6
Administratve 11 14 15
Education services 821 820 820
Health care 16 25 27
Arts 3 4 4
Food service 4 10 11
Other services 9 13 15
State and local government 31 39 44
Total 962 1,031 1,060

Impact on Potential Graduate Earnings

If young adults decide not to further their academic careers because of the absence of
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Northwestern Michigan College, it would significantly lower their lifetime earning potential. In

the following figures, we show the 2012 average annual earnings and unemployment rates for
working age adults living in Antrim, Benzie, Charlevoix, Emmet, Grand Traverse, Kalkaska,
Leelanau, Missaukee, and Wexford counties.’ As can be seen in Figure 1, the average annual

income of individuals with an Associate’s degree is 30 percent higher than that of a person who
holds only a high school diploma. Moreover, as seen in Figure 2, Associate-degree holders also

face lower unemployment rates than persons with only a high school diploma.

5 The geographic limitation of the iPUMS database, which provides a five percent sample of individual
records from the 2012 U.S. American Community Survey, requires this large geographic area. Note that Manistee
County is excluded from this region based on available data.

11
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Figure 1 Average Annual Income by Educational Attainment
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Figure 2 Unemployment Rate by Educational Attainment
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It should be noted that the above data do not specifically reflect the value of an NMC Associate
degree but rather an Associate degree from any institution of those employed in the Northern
Michigan region.

It is difficult to estimate the average return on investment (ROI) of a student attending
Northwestern Michigan College for several reasons. First, some do not complete a certificate or
degree program and yet receive economic benefits from attending classes which upgrade their
skills. Second, NMC offers a wide selection of unique programs that charge differential tuition
rates based on higher program costs. Therefore there is increasing variability in the cost of
attendance depending on the program pursued. Third, students may take longer than two years to
complete, and may not be successful in finding a career that uses their training to its utmost.
Fourth, the opportunity cost of attending college—the loss of income from not working full
time—varies greatly between students and their economic conditions. Finally, in estimating a
lifetime flow of earnings generated by attending college, a proper discount rate must be used.

12
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There i1s much debate on this topic: too low of a discount rate will overvalue long-term returns,
while the opposite is true if the discount rate is set too high.

As shown in Table 8, we provide three separate estimates for the return on investment for
students completing their Associate degrees at NMC. These three scenarios are as follows:

e Scenario 1: A student completes a general Associate’s degree from Northwestern
Michigan College in two years, without receiving any financial support.

e Scenario 2: A student completes a general Associate’s degree from NMC and receives
financial support (Federal Pell Grant)

In both of the scenarios above, the student would forego the opportunity to earn $9,600 per year
for the 30 weeks that he/she is attending class for the two years. This is based on the student
working full-time for $8.00 per hour for 30 weeks each year.

Scenario 3: A student goes to NMC on a part-time basis, taking 11 credit hours each
semester and completes in three years. During these three years he/she is also working
part-time, 20 hours per week, earning $4,800 per year.

As shown in Table 8, we estimate that the student paying full tuition would see a $7.93 return for
every dollar spent attending college (2012 dollars); including foregoing earned income during
the two years. For students receiving the average federal assistance package (Pell Grants) who
completes in two years, the return is $11.14 per every dollar invested. Finally for the student who
works and attends NMC on a part-time basis, completing in three years, the return on his/her
investment is $9.85. Under scenarios 1 and 2, the average associate degree holder earns $460,000
more during their working career than a high school graduate. In the third scenario it is slightly
lower. To estimate the current value of this difference in earning streams between an associate
degree holder and a high school graduate, a three percent discount rate was used to adjust for
time preferences, current earnings are valued more than future earnings even when accounting
for inflation.

It is clear that the student’s ROI for attending college will vary greatly depending on the courses
taken, parental support, and career success. Nevertheless, even under the conservative conditions
stated above, attending NMC is a smart move.

Table 8 Return on Investment for Attending and Completing an Associate Degree
at Northwestern Michigan College

Foregone Eaming difference between Associate degree and high school
Totalamount eamings due diploma (2013 dollars)

Total tuition of federal to attending Net present ~ Return on
Scenario (2013 dollars) _ assistance NMC 20t034 Btod 45to34 SSto 64 value investment
Full-time student completing in two years
without financial support $ 5523 § - $ 19,200 | $ 6237 § 9,605 § 13970 $ 12987 1$ 193,199 $ 7.93
Full-time student completing in two years with
federal Pell Grant assistance $ 5523 § 6,534 § 19,200 | $ 6237 § 9,605 § 13970 $ 12987 [$ 199,638 § 11.14
Part-time student completing in three years
working full time $ 5,69 $ - $ 14,400 | § 6237 § 9,605 $ 13970 § 12987 |$ 192248 § 9.85

Other Considerations

Dollars and cents are an important but incomplete unit of measurement when it comes to
evaluating the importance of Northwestern Michigan College to the greater Grand Traverse
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community. Last year, more than 7,200 individuals visited the Dennos Museum Center and only
50 percent resided in Grand Traverse County. In addition, more than 1,200 K—12 students and
nearly 700 college students attended programs at the Dennos. Unfortunately, it is difficult to find
empirical data on which to estimate the economic impact of these events. These types of visits
are often associated with other activities, such as visiting friends or family or multi-destination
vacations.

Additionally, NMC retirees overwhelmingly (86 percent of current retirees) stay in the region
following retirement. It seems likely that the educational and cultural contributions of NMC to
the community play a significant role in their decision to remain and to use their retirement
savings in this local region.

NMC’s non-credit Extended Education enrollment is not included in this economic analysis. It is
noteworthy that a full 39 percent of the Extended Education (non-credit) enrollment is comprised
of adults age 65 or older in the region (2,346 individuals). Clearly this is an offering that appeals
to and likely enriches the community at all ages but particularly the life-long learners.

Summary

This analysis quantifies the significant economic presence of Northwestern Michigan College in
the region. With $9.1 million in local property tax support (FY’13 actual) funding 17 percent of
their overall $55 million operating budget, NMC contributed $130.9 million in total sales, $62.6
million in personal income and $73.6 million in total Gross Regional Product. Every NMC job
supports .6 additional jobs in the 10-county region. NMC is a net positive investment for the
community. Local businesses are more competitive because NMC contributes to a trained
workforce. At the student level, attaining an associate degree yields a return on investment of
$7.94 to $11.15 and historically offers lower levels of unemployment.

NMC contributes far more to the cultural enrichment of the region in ways that are difficult to
quantify, and yet local residents experience a higher quality of life because of NMC’s presence.
Finally, the region benefits from these aspects of NMC’s operations:

e Providing economic activity during the off-season. Most of the college’s economic
impact, including the expenditures of its students, occurs during the tourism off-season
months. The college provides balance to an economy that is highly dependent upon
tourism.

e Increasing the number of retirees residing in the region. Currently, 175 former NMC
full-time employees live in the greater Grand Traverse 10-county region.

Clearly Northwestern Michigan College is an integral part of the greater Grand Traverse regional
economy. Moreover, its role will only grow in importance as the region’s industries continue to
compete on the global stage. In a world environment where transportation costs continue to
decline in importance, the quality of a region’s workforce and the caliber of its education system
will play a more crucial role.
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Appendix

Description of the REMI Model

The W.E. Upjohn Institute maintains an economic computer model specially designed to
estimate the economic impact of changes in the greater Grand Traverse region. The model was
constructed by Regional Economic Models Incorporated (REMI) and contains three separate
components that together capture the resulting total impact to the local economy due to a change
in employment. These components are:

An input-output model that estimates the impact of changes in inter-industry purchases
on the local economy. This component of the model captures the impact of an increase in
orders to local suppliers of goods and services, as well as the impact of households
increasing their purchases of consumer goods and services.

A relative wage component that estimates the impact of the expected changes in the
area’s cost structure due to changes in economic activity. For instance, when a major
employer moves into the area, it can cause wages to increase across almost all industries
due to the increased demand for workers and other local resources. This boost in wages,
while generating additional consumption expenditures, increases the cost of doing
business in the area, making the area slightly less attractive to other industries. On the
other hand, an increase in the number of skilled workers enhances the area’s productivity,
and thereby lowers the cost per unit of production, making the region more competitive.

A forecasting and demographic component that forecasts the resulting changes in future
employment and population levels due to a change in economic activity. The model
generates an annual forecast which averages seasonal jobs by their duration. For example,
four summer jobs that have durations of three months each are modeled as only one year-
round job in REMI.

The model is particularly suited to measure the economic impact of higher-education institutions
because:

It contains a highly detailed breakdown of expenditures made by higher-education
institutions. Other models use a more general breakdown that includes expenditures made
by all education institutions including K—12 public and private schools.

It allows for estimating the unique consumption expenditures made by students and the
college’s faculty and staff.

Finally, it includes a residential component that allows for the modeling of the impact of
students, faculty, and staff staying in the county and working outside the county. Other
models mistakenly assume that once an employer has left the county, all of the workers
would leave as well.

Finally, the model has been rigorously reviewed in numerous academic journals.
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Faculty/Statt Headcount History
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Appendix G
Class Size & Projected Class Size
Needs - Course Efficiency Report
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Appendix H
Summary description of each
facility

(net to gross ratios)
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Appendix I
Building and/or Classroom

Utilization Rates



(AabeH/souuaq Buipnjoul) STOVCS TV :YdJeas uonedo ‘sasse|d JIWapedy ||V :ydJeas Jusag

¥T J0 T abed ‘W'd 6€:2 ¥e TZ0Z 6T Bny uo pajuld Loday |sx"Arewwinguonez|nnds :awen aji4
punoy sjuana oN ot v
2 punoj sjusns oN (074 17V
o %¢c0°'0 %180 %S¢y %€E6'T EEYYO'T 2s'vet 00'6€7'9 000 0c STASH 1V
%0 %SE0 %G LE %¥6°0 G/'€06 G209 00'6EV'9 000 oy H/O TV
%¢c0°'0 %180 %S¢y %€E6'T EEYVO'T eSvet 00'6€7'9 000 0c STAS 91V
punoj sjuana oN 09 H/O/-H TV
punoy Sjuana oN o 9/4 v
punoy sjuana oN 0z 47V
punoy sjusns oN 08 H/9/4/3 TV
punoj sjusns oN 09 9/4/3 1V
punoj sjuans oN o 4/3 v
punoj Sjuana oN o0z ElnlY
punoj sjusns oN (074 anv
%¢20°0 %6.°0 %S'LC %.8'C 8y'vv0'C LL'¥8T 00'6€7'9 000 oy a/o v
punoj sjuans oN (074 o\
puUNo} S1UBAS ON 0 (S30VdS ON) ©d149 v
punoj sjuasna oN 09 aso/a v
punoy sjuana oN o o/a v
punoj sjuana oN 0z da1v
punoy sjuana oN 08 aso/anN v
punoj Sjuana oN 09 o/aN v
punoj sjuans oN o anv v
%6T°0 %99°C %/7.5°8€ %90°L 86'TEV'E 0SS 00'6€7'9 000 0c Vv
punoj sjuana oN (014 44"\
%80°0 %6S'T %.LT'VE %T2'S 0S250°C GC'GEE 00'6€7'9 000 0c a4
%ET'0 %E'C %S¢y %LV'S 817'9G6'¢C 82'¢SE 00'6£V'9 000 014 d0T1T v
%1¥0°0 %.2'T %.9°Tv %¥0°€ SLTIE'T 00'96T 00'6€7'9 000 9T VOTT 1V
punoj sjuana oN 9T 90T v
punoy SjuUsAa oN €T €0T v
%.Lv°0 %€’V %6L v %60°0T ZeTIT'L €8'679 00'6EV'9 000 e 20T v
%ST 0 %SG9°C %cCE LYy %¢8'S GE'0€L'C 08'v.€ 00'6€V'9 000 9T TOT v
puno} SJUBAS ON 95 (S30VdS ON) dOHS FYILNT - TV
uoneziinn uolnreziinn uolrezijinn uonezinn SJINoH pasn SINoH SInoH olrey Ayoeded
19N uolnels 1eas sse|y  awlil 10BI1U0D SINOH a|qissod noxoe|g 1E| Xen
() 0} (H) Q)] () @ (@ ) (a) (v)

(M) ‘pouad Lodas 8y} ul sinoy [e101 00'6EY'9 BJe aIdYL "TZ0Z ST AelN pue 020z ST Bny usemiag “IN'd OS:TT 0} "INV 00:ZT WOJ) SJUSAS UO paseq



(AabeH/souuaq Buipnjoul) STOVCS TV :YdJeas uonedo ‘sasse|d JIWapedy ||V :ydJeas Jusag

¥T J0  abed ‘W'd 6€:2 ¥e TZ0Z 6T Bny uo pajuld Loday |sx"Arewwinguonez|nnds :awen aji4
%¢20°0 %80 %G°CC %T°€ 02'STS €L°66T 00'6€7'9 000 0T €0T 4
%7100 %¢E'0 %TL 0T %8¢ €5'809 10201 05'0€8'€ 05'809'C 6V ¢0T 4
3 punoy SjUsAa ON 0 ONIM DISNIN - 4
N punoj sjuana oN 0 G5 1 VIYV NOILdIO3Y S3ADINGIS a3
punoj sjuans oN 00€ 14dN0D Fd4NLdTNOS DA
punoj sjuans oN 0ST AHITIVO IVIDONIWHOS ODINA
punoj sjusns ON 666 107 ONIMdvVd OINA
punoj Sjuana oN 00§ H431N3D ANN3ISNN DINA
%0 %100 %8€°9 %S6°0 LT'€S6 8¥'T9 00'6£7'9 000 (0[0)% NIAITTN DINA
punoj sjuana oN 002 AHITIVO INVIAV4OVIN DINA
punoj sjuans oN S. NOOY SINVC JOINd
punoy SjuUsAa oN 0S AdITIVO LINNI DNA
punoj sjuasna oN 0S¢ SAIFHITIVO DANA
punoy SjusAa oN e H31V3IHL1 SY43INLNA DNd
punoj sjuana oN 00T AHITIVO AHIAOISIA DNA
punoy SjuUsAa oN T NOOY 3ON3H34NOD DINA
punoj Sjuana oN 0S Ad3TIVO d134SNIF ONA
%S0°0 %8T'T %¢ce'ce %CT'v 80°'€8¢'¢C Z1'99¢ 00'6£V'9 000 o€ 10T ONA
%0 %¢20°0 %€°0 %7.0'8 0€°002'T G9'6TS 00'6€7'9 000 666 9d149 2190
punoj sjuana oN 0 3SNOH Yd3dO ALID
punoj sjusAs oN 00S 100d 20
punoj sjusns oN 0S olanits Mg
punoy SjuUaAa oN 00S WAD 249
puUno} S1UBAS ON 0 (s30vds ON) 9479 Lv
%€EE"0 %€E6'V %0L %¢CL'9 €6'0TL'S 88¢CEV 00'6€7'9 000 8T TTT LV
%TS0 %G8'S %6109 %G.'8 G8'9/L'9 €9°€99 00'6EV'9 000 8T 80T LV
punoy SjUsAa ON 8T 70T 1V
punoj sjuana oN 8T 401 A
%€ET 0 %.LTYV %.0°VL %6V'S Zy'Ges'y €G°€GE 00'6£V'9 000 8T 00T LV
%.LYv°0 %6'T %.9°T %¥S've 2.'790'22T 2r08s'T 00'6€7'9 000 666 NOOY ddv
punoj sjusna oN S 13ddv
%T0°0 %850 %G°C9 %160 G.'€06 G209 00'6€7'9 000 4 1V
%T0°0 %L°0 %S . %V6°0 G/°€06 G209 00'6£7'9 000 0¢ AV
punoj sjuana oN 0¢ v
uolreziinn uolrezijinn uolrezijinn uoneziinn SINOoH pasn SINoH SInoH olrey Auoeded
19N uolels 1eas sse|n  auwil 10 1U0D SInoH a|qissod noyoe|g 14 Xen
(0 0] (H) G) €) @ (@ () (@) (v)



235

(AabeH/souuaq Buipnjoul) STOVCS TV :YdJeas uonedo ‘sasse|d JIWapedy ||V :ydJeas Jusag

¥T J0 ¢ abed ‘W'd 6€:2 ¥e TZ0Z 6T Bny uo pajuld Loday |sx"Arewwinguonez|nnds :awen aji4
%8¢°0 %88°€ %6581 %EE" L G8'000°0T ST¢ly 00'6€7'9 000 (014 1T 19
%S0°0 %T9'T %.9°Tv %SC'€ 0S'G61'C G5°60¢ 00'6EY'9 000 e 0TZ 19
%1¥0°0 %6¢°T %€8'SY %18'C 05566 00°'T8T 00'6€V'9 000 @l 1202 19
punoj sjuana oN 4 Sdv1 dvavy S02-00¢ 19
%€0°0 %.9°T %6888 %9.°T 15'982'T OT'ETT 00'6£V'9 000 @ YTT 19
%SG0°0 %6€'T %69°¢t %LL'E €2'685' 0§¢ve 00'6€7'9 000 oy ¢TIT 19
%TE0 %T16°€ %6T ¢V %.8°L 2€'250'8 2890S 00'6£V'9 000 [43 TIT19
punoj Sjuana oN 174 0TT 19
%0 %650 %GCT %.LY°0 00°ST6 0S°0€ 00'6£7'9 000 e 80T 19
%90°0 %Vy'T %SC'TE %90’ 09'82¢'C 05°'T9¢ 00'6€7'9 000 4 €0T 19
%100 %97’ T %G LE %86°C 06'6€6 8L'T6T 00'6£7'9 000 (0)% ¢0T 19
%1¥0°0 %9T°'T %0€ %65 88'866'C 8¢'1€C 00'6EV'9 000 (014 TOT 19
%¢20°0 %T9°0 %€8°0¢ %.8'¢ 06°'6€6 LL°¥8T 00'6EV'9 000 e 00T 19
%0 %€0 %EE'EE %388°0 19'8¢¢ €699 00'6€V'9 000 0 T €TT Hd
%0 %96'9 %18 70T %8S €€°L9T'. LL'ELE 00'6EV'9 000 9T OTT H4
punoy SjuUsAa oN 0T 60T H4
punoy sjuana oN 0 (S30VdS ON) H4
punoj sjuana oN 0S NAD Add
punoj SjuUaAa oN 0 Ad9d0OTHLNOS 4
punoj sjuana oN 0 A9dO1 HLHON 4
punoy SjuaAa oN 0 A99017 431N30 4
puUNo} SIUBAS ON 0 (S30vdS ON) 9a1g 4
punoy SjuUaAa oN 0 NOOY NTIM - LET 4
%90°0 %EE'T %8L'L¢C %6.L'Y €L°0vS'T GG'80€ 00'6£V'9 000 8T GET 4
%T0°0 %€EV'0 %EEET %€0°C GL'8LE'T CL'0ET 00'6€7'9 000 0S (A=
%¢CS'0 %89 %.1°65 %¥9°'L Ov'esL'8 1026V 00'6EV'9 000 0¢ 0ET 4
punoj s)usAs oN 0 92T 4
%LE0 %cCv'S %8L°LL %6.°9 80'082'9 LT LEY 00'6EV'9 000 8T 0cT 4
punoj sjuans oN 0 ONVId AVMNIZLS STT 4
%60°0 %1Tv'C %€EE'SE %¥S'€ 85'LEO'ET 19°'/¢c 00'6€7'9 000 78 G174
punoy sjusne oN 4 SIWOO0Y 32110Vvdd JISNIA - 0TT/60T 4
punoj sjuana oN € OldN.Ls 9NIad023d - 80T/L0T 4
%0 %900 %EEET %SY°0 €L°GTT €6'8¢ 00'6£7'9 000 (015 G0T 4
punoy sluane oN % 0T 4
uolreziinn uolrezijinn uolrezijinn uoneziinn SINOoH pasn SINoH SInoH olrey Auoeded
19N uolels 1eas sse|n  auwil 19BIU0D SInoH a|qissod noyoe|g 14 Xen
(0 0] (H) G) €) @ (@ () (@) (v)



236

(AabeH/souuaq Buipnjoul) STOVCS TV :YdJeas uonedo ‘sasse|d JIWapedy ||V :ydJeas Jusag

¥T J0 ¥ 8bed ‘W'd 6E:2 ¥e T20Z 6T Bny uo pajuld poday Isx Arewwnsuoneziinds :awen 3|l
punoj sjuans oN 9. aOoH
punoy SjuUsAa oN 00€ ddvALdNOD OH
punoj sjuana oN 0 AIVMLYO OH
punoy Sjusna oN V1€ g4¢/T® O OH
punoy sjuans oN vee O OH
punoj sjusAs oN 765 NOOYT1vd OH
punoj sjusna oN 454 O%®dOH
punoj sjusans oN 26T d OH
punoy sjuana oN oy d%®VOH
punoj sjusns ON 9¢ d¢/T®VOH
punoj sjuana oN 99T V OH
punoj sjusns oN 0 Jooyos auidsuaai
punoy sjuaAa oN € NOOY V19
punoj sjuana oN 0 NMY1 LS3IM 1D
punoj sjuana oN 0 NVOIHDIN 40 31VLS S/L 19
punoj sjuans oN 0 NOOIMNHOM ® M¥S3A NOILdIO3H 19
punoy SjuUsAa oN 0 d31d 19
punoj sjuane oN 0 321440 FNILIGVIA 19
punoj sjuana oN 0 NMVY1 4094dVH 19
punoj Sjuana oN 0 301440 AYVNITND 19
puno} SJUSA3 ON 0 (s30vds ON) 9a19 19
punoy SjuUaAa oN 0 12719
%.0°0 %€8°0 %60°ST %6¢2'8 08'299'S GG'EES 00'6£V'9 000 90T 69¢ 19
punoy SjuaAa oN 0 8G¢ 19
%610 %¢C6'€ %G, '8TT %cC6'Y 0S°0€0'E c0’LTE 00'6EV'9 000 et JATAN D)
%¢20°0 %6°0 %8L %T°C 0S'9vY'T ¢0'SET 00'6€V'9 000 G¢ 9G¢ 19
%TT°0 %6L'T %cc Ly %TE9 00'6TT'E 20'90v 00'6EV'9 000 yx4 Y582 19
%S0 %16V %TE 99 %6T 6 G8'G79°9 GS'T6S 00'6€7'9 000 14 2S¢ 19
%<CT'0 %vv'e %S°CS %.L6'V 09'GLL'E ,0°0¢ce 00'6EV'9 000 e 18219
%0 %0 %0 %TT 0 000 c0'L 00'6£V'9 000 @l TEC 1O
%SGE'T %¢S'8 %8961 %98'ST EEVYL'6T 87'T20'T 00'6E7'9 000 9€ 2ee 1o
2T as
punoy sjusne oN 9T AITIVO ® IAVTIONT LNIANLS - STZ 19
punoj sjuaAa oN 1 Y00d 1ON Od - ¥TZ 19
uolreziinn uolrezijinn uolrezijinn uoneziinn SINOoH pasn SINoH SInoH Auoeded
18N uonelis 1eas sse|n  auwil 1081U0D SINOH a|qissod noyoe|g Xen
() 0} (H) Q)] () €E) (@ () (v)



(AabeH/souuaq Buipnjoul) STOVCS TV :YdJeas uonedo ‘sasse|d JIWapedy ||V :ydJeas Jusag

¥T J0 G abed ‘W'd 6€:2 ¥e TZ0Z 6T Bny uo pajuld Loday |sx"Arewwinguonez|nnds :awen aji4
punoy sjusAa oN T 8c1 ar
punoj sjuans oN 0 (S301AY3S VIQAW) 22T ar
5 punoy SjusAa oN 0 SHIVLSdN - A9d01 SH
o punoj sjuana oN 0 Add01 SH
punoy sjuana oN ¥S IOVHOLS FH01LSHM009 SH
punoy sjusAa oN 4 JH01SHO04d SH
puno} SJUSA3 ON 0 (S30vdS ON) ©9a149 SH
%€2C0 %9 %TO'T9 %LE9 28'955'S 8€'0TY 00'6€7'9 000 4 LT¢ SH
%¢c0°0 %S0 %80°CT %EG'Y 22’096 89°LT€ 00'6£V'9 000 (015 9T1¢ SH
%€2C0 %T6°€ %9699 %T6'S 28’1709 8€°08¢€ 00'6€7'9 000 4 GTC SH
%0 %T°0 %8Y'81 %120 08'¢L G9'ET 00'6EV'9 000 1T ¥T1¢ SH
%¢2S'0 %69°'S %2109 %80°6 €.°008'8 GE'V8S 00'6€7'9 000 4 €T¢ SH
%0 %T0 %TL 09 %9T°0 LS'TS 29'0T 00'6EV'9 000 8 ¢T¢ SH
%EV'0 %86V %95°9S %T9'8 8v'679'8 0T'¥SS 00'6€7'9 000 yx4 TT¢ SH
%SC'€ %86'8¢ %.8 %TC'TT S2'18L'vY €0'ceL 00'6EV'9 000 e 0T¢Z SH
punoj sjuans oN (014 0TZ/80¢C SH
%¢20°0 %Sv'€ %29'v.LT %0 §9'82¢€'S 098¢ 00'6E7'9 000 14 80¢ SH
punoj sjusna oN e 3SNOHNI3YO 61T SH
punoj sjuana oN T V.TT SH
%.LT°0 %€ %95’ TS %89°S G6'2€8'Y L¥'S9€ 00'6£V'9 000 14 LTT SH
%T0°0 %89°0 %88'TL %160 0S'T6E'T 0509 00'6€7'9 000 (4% 9TT SH
punoj sjusns oN 0 0 I1NQILS3A LTT/STT SH
%TT0 %9°'C %8L 61 %Ly’ 16'L8T'Y 2e'v8e 00'6€7'9 000 14 GTT SH
punoj sjuana oN 2€ 1T SH
%.T°0 %cCL'E %8L'T8 %cCS' v 2.'286'S 8¢'16¢ 00'6EV'9 000 14 €TT SH
%90°0 %/.6'T %S, 81 %L2'€ 00'820'¢ €8°0T¢ 00'6EV'9 000 9T ¢TT SH
punoj sjusns oN 6 V11T SH
punoj sjuana oN 0 0 AT1NGILSIN ETT/TTT SH
%TT0 %CT'€ %9898 %85°€ Z2Lv10'S 8.°0€¢C 00'6£V'9 000 14 TTT SH
%9¢°0 %¥0'¥ %95°99 %S9 Speet'e €9'8T1 00'6€7'9 000 @\ OTT SH
punoj sjuana oN 0 av3a1lS3INOH
punoy SjuUaAa oN 79 TIVH AYVYLOd OH
punoj sjuana oN 666 311S-440 OH
punoy SjuaAa oN 0 301440 ALY3IOVH OH
uolreziinn uolrezijinn uolrezijinn uoneziinn SINOoH pasn SINoH SInoH olrey Auoeded
19N uolels 1eas sse|n  auwil 10 1U0D SInoH a|qissod noyoe|g 14 Xen
(0 0] (H) G) €) @ (@ () (@) (v)



(AabeH/souuaq Buipnjoul) STOVCS TV :YdJeas uonedo ‘sasse|d JIWapedy ||V :ydJeas Jusag

¥T 0 9 abed ‘W'd 6€:2 ¥e TZ0Z 6T Bny uo pajuld Loday |sx"Arewwinguonez|nnds :awen aji4
punoy sjusAa oN 0 ONIHOLNL ¢ST O
punoj sjuane oN ford €110
2 punoy SjusAa oN 0 14 €0T O
N punoj sjuana oN 0g ALVLININTTI HIFHD TN
punoy sjusns oN 0 SHIVLE AMONT
punoj Sjuana oN 0 109 - INVYINVLS3H S, 113d49071
punoj sjuana oN 0 Add014d1
puUNo} SIUBAS ON 0 (S30vds ON) ©a1g g1
%0 %610 %¢CS 61 %.7°0 1,0°0S8 SO'TT 00'6£V'9 000 0L 8¢ g1
%T'0 %€8'T %ETC %9°'S €V°'GE8'C G9°'09¢€ 00'6€7'9 000 4 LE/SE AT
punoj sjusna oN A (NOOY AQNLS) z€ a1
%€0°0 %SG8°0 %6€°9¢ %66°C LT'66T'C 29261 00'6€7'9 000 (014 80¢ 91
%0 %TT°0 %S¢ %ES'T 00°'€le Gv'86 00'6EV'9 000 oy £20c a1
%0 %TT0 %2C'TT %7190 GT'9vE ET'EY 00'6€7'9 000 6V 90¢ 91
punoj sjuans oN 0 S3ADINYIS HLTVIH LNIANLS - 90T 91
punoj sjuans oN ov 9210 [euoneusaiu| - ST 971
punoj sjuana oN 0 -OL-ATdIS ar
punoj SjusAs oN 0 A94d071 13A3T ANOD3S dar
punoj sjuana oN 0 AddOT 13A3T LSdId ar
puno} SJUSA3 ON 0 (s30vds ON) oaTg ar
%¢20°0 %€6°0 %6¢'¢E %¢cc'c SECTYY'T SO'EVT 00'6€7'9 000 4 LT ar
punoj sjusna oN Ge 9Tc ar
%0 %90°0 %.9°9T %SG€0 GLETT Gl2c 00'6€7'9 000 (0153 Gtec ar
punoj sjusns oON e wooisse|d 0d - vT1¢ ar
%€EL0 %.LE'9 %EE 8V %6€E'TT 18'1702'8 LSEEL 00'6EV'9 000 (014 ¥0c ar
%¢6°0 %¢c'8 %€ET 99 %6T'TT 25'€66'8 85°0¢L 00'6EV'9 000 LT ¢0c ar
punoy SjusAa oN € 6vT ar
punoj sjuans oN G 8v1 dar
punoj sjuana oN 9€ LyT arc
%€0°0 %¢C'T %/.2'¢S %SV 8€2r9'S €991 00'6€7'9 000 cL LYT/9VT ar
punoj sjuana oN 9€ ovT ar
punoy SjuUaAa oN 8y ovT ar
punoj sjuana oN 214 9€T ar
punoy SjuaAa oN T 0€T ar
uolreziinn uolrezijinn uolrezijinn uoneziinn SINOoH pasn SINoH SInoH olrey Auoeded
19N uolels 1eas sse|n  auwil 10 1U0D SInoH a|qissod noyoe|g 14 Xen
(0 0] (H) G) €) @ (@ () (@) (v)



239

(AabeH/souuaq Buipnjoul) STOVCS TV :YdJeas uonedo ‘sasse|d JIWapedy ||V :ydJeas Jusag

¥T J0 / abed ‘W'd 6€:2 ¥e TZ0Z 6T Bny uo pajuld Loday |sx"Arewwinguonez|nnds :awen aji4
punoy sjusAa oN 0S NOOT d
%¢20°0 %8%°0 %S€'9 %691 €€°08L'C GT'20€e 00'6EV'9 000 06 00T d
punoj slusAa oN 0 0 Buuaye)d aus Jo
%0 %60°0 %00T %TT0 L9°TST S0 00'6EY'9 000 0 14 g 31IS ONILS3L NITd3LSO
%0 %V€ 0 %7.9°08 %0 LE°0SS 81'8¢ 00'6£V'9 000 0 14 V 31IS ONILS31L NI'Td31S0O
punoj sjusns oN 6666666 Jl1dNd Ol N3dO
%0 %0 %0 %60°S G6',96'8 G9'/¢c€ 00'6£V'9 000 6666666 SSV10 3ANIINO
punoj sjuaAs ON 6666666 SNdAVO 440
punoj sjuana oN 98 Add01 00
punoy SjuaAa oN 22 200
punoj sjusna oN 0 (S30VdS ON) ©5aT1d 20
punoy sjuana oN 0 (S30VdS ON) H00a ove 20
punoj sjuane oN 88 2/9 00
punoj sjuans oN 2% d00
%T0°0 %9€°0 %8T1'8T %96'T 08'820'c 0¢'9¢T 00'6EV'9 000 CeT 08v 00
punoj sjuans oN 88 a/;v 00
punoj sjuana oN 124 v 00
punoj sjusna oN (014 6¢T 00
%0 %¥0°0 %66°0T %1T¥'0 05°€9¢ GE'9¢C 00'6€7'9 000 16 ¢TT 00
punoj Sjusna oN [ ¢0T 00
punoj sjuaAa oN 0 31VO AS90
%€0°0 %.LL°0 %0¢ %88°€ 12'2.6'C €L'6v¢C 00'6£7'9 000 09 93d19 ASd0
punoy sjuaAa oN 0S JSS O
punoj sjusns oN 0 34VO 09D-0OL-A1dNIS O
punoy sjusAa oN 0 A949010
puNO} S1UBAS ON 0 (S30vds ON) ©a18 0
punoy SjusAa oN 4 301440 0T O
punoj sjuans oN z 321440 60¢ O
punoy sjusns oN 4 301440 80¢ O
%T0°0 %€S'0 %T19°G¢ %T8'T LY'v9v'e G9'9TT 00'6€7'9 000 cL G0C O
%0 %8€°0 %/9'18 %.LY°0 08'0€L €T°0€ 00'6£V'9 000 (015 70C O
%€0°0 %680 %V, 8¢ %ET'E 8T'EET'Y ¢y’ 10C 00'6€7'9 000 cL €0C O
%0 %S00 %00T %S0°0 or'v8 ¢S’ 00'6£V'9 000 e ¢0¢c O
punoy SjuaAa oN T T0C O
uolreziinn uolrezijinn uolrezijinn uoneziinn SINOoH pasn SINoH SInoH olrey Auoeded
19N uolels 1eas sse|n  auwil 10 1U0D SInoH a|qissod noyoe|g 14 Xen
(0 0] (H) G) €) @ (@ () (@) (v)



240

(AabeH/souuaq Buipnjoul) STOVCS TV :YdJeas uonedo ‘sasse|d JIWapedy ||V :ydJeas Jusag

T 40 8 abed ‘W'd 6€:Z ¥e T20Z 6T Bny uo pajuld Hoday |sx Arewwnsuonezinnds :awen 3|14
%0 %0 %0 %9T'0 000 80°0T 00'6€7'9 000 4 T0¢C Sd
punoj sjuana oN 0 SNOWNOD Jd0071d 1ST Sd
%0 %0 %0 %T0°€ 000 G9'€6T 00'6€V'9 000 0 6ST Sd
punoj sjuana oN A J/ST Sd
punoj sjuana oN 9T d/ST Sd
%729°0 %€'9 %GZ 99 %7.S°0T 0v'2z6v'9 /8089 00'6€7'9 000 9T V/ST Sd
%0 %0 %0 %8E'C 000 LS'EST 00'6£V'9 000 96 dv1HO31 - LST Sd
%92°0 %60°€ %¢26°6¢ %€S'8 LE'8LL'Y €0°'6vS 00'6€7'9 000 4 GST Sd
puNo} SJUBAS ON 9 (WOOY 304NOS3Y) ¥ST Sd
punoy SjuaAa oN T gdv1 OND - €ST Sd
%¢2'0 %ET'E %GE SE %689 86'EEY'Y ESEVY 00'6EV'9 000 [44 T1G8T Sd
punoy SjuUaAa ON 14 IN-OLAIN - STT Sd
punoj sjuans oN vZ Y11 Sd
%0 %TE0 %69°6¢ %90°'T GL'7€9 0089 00'6€7'9 000 @3 ¢TT Sd
punoj sjuans oN ct 0TT Sd
%82°0 %T6°€ %SZ 9 %10’ L 25'0€0'y €C°ESY 00'6£V'9 000 9T 10T Sd
punoj sjuane oN 0 34VD 09-0OL-ATdINIS M90T Sd
%0 %20°0 %SC TE %90°0 80°02 20" 00'6€EY'9 000 ) (40AD) 90T Sd
puno} sjuane oN 4’ (3719v1N3d LON) SOT Sd
punoj Sjusna oN 0 dav0T Sd
%T0°0 %9€°0 %1V L %EL'E SLv8L'T 8g'0ve 00'6€7'9 000 8. €0T/10T Sd
punoj sjusns oN 0 ADOTONHOD3L 40 T1VH - Sd
punoy sjuaAa oN 0 301440 S.1N3dIS3dd
punoj sjuans oN S NOOY IONIH3IINOD S.LNIAIS3Hd
punoy sjusAa oN 00§ NAD OHd
punoj sjuana oN 0 SINOOY H3IMOHS d
punoy SjusAa oN 0 A949071d
punoj sjuana oN 0 ONIalNd d
puNo} SJUBA3 ON 0 (S301AY3S VIA3IW) L02 d
punoj Sjuana oN o€ 90¢ d
punoj sjuana oN Ve c0cd
punoj sjusAa oN or oct d
punoj sjuana oN S JISNN d3I'ddV - 20T d
punoy SjuaAa oN 0S S00T d
uolreziinn uolrezijinn uolrezijinn uoneziinn SINOoH pasn SINoH SInoH olrey Auoeded
19N uolels 1eas sse|n  auwil 10 1U0D SInoH a|qissod noyoe|g 14 Xen
(0 0] (H) G) €) @ (@ () (@) (v)



241

(AabeH/souuaq Buipnjoul) STOVCS TV :YdJeas uonedo ‘sasse|d JIWapedy ||V :ydJeas Jusag

¥T J0 6 8bed ‘W'd 6€:2 ¥e TZ0Z 6T Bny uo pajuld Loday |sx"Arewwinguonez|nnds :awen aji4
%700 %¢29°0 %¢29°99 %160 05°0L2'T 0509 00'6€7'9 000 e 90T HS
punoj sjuans oN o GOT HS
punoy SjusAa oN z€ 70T HS
%T0°0 %9%°0 %6.°¢C %S€'C 12'888'T LSTST 00'6EY'9 000 79 GOT/E0T HS
punoj sjuana oN vz €0T HS
%0 %80°0 %¢29°0€ %T€0 G6'80¢C €T°0C 00'6€7'9 000 oy ¢0T HS
%0 %6€°0 %SS %TL0 00'T00'T 0S'Sv 00'6£V'9 000 oy TOT HS
punoj sjusAa oN 124 60 HS
punoj sjuana oN 0 Add0O71 LS3AM 13ATT LSHId HS
punoy SjuaAa oN (114 SHAS SHAS
punoj sjusns oN 0 d37VYL 4V10S Sd
punoy SjuUaAa ON 0 AddOT1 NOILdID3H Sd
punoj sjuana oN 0 ONIM 301440 HLHON Sd
punoy SjuUsAa ON 0 SONIM 301440 1SVv3 Sd
punoj sjuana oN 0 ONIA1INg Sd
pUNOJ S)UAAS ON 0 (S30vds ON) 9a1d Sd
punoj sjuana oN 0 OlLlvd 3dIS 1d0ddlV Sd
punoj sjusna oN 0 SNOWINOD J001d dN¢ sd
punoj sjuana oN T 1¢¢ Sd
%90°0 %6T'T %SG'¢C %ELY SVvv8'T 09'v0€ 00'6£V'9 000 e 9¢¢ Sd
%T0°0 %Sv'0 %6€°9¢ %¥6'T 16969 €6'7vCT 00'6€7'9 000 4 G¢¢ Sd
punoj sjusns oN 14 ¥¢c Sd
%€0°0 %T %V.L Ve %8€'€ 2.'609'€ 8€LT¢C 00'6€7'9 000 99 veeleee sd
%T0°0 %80 %¢6° LYy %S0T 88'G62'T 8.'/9 00'6EY'9 000 e ¢¢c Sd
%0 %9T°0 %EE'EC %L°0 GL'9T€E jerAe14 00'6EV'9 000 (0153 0¢¢ Sd
%T0°0 %6%°0 %¢9°ST %.S'C €€'109 08'S9T 00'6EV'9 000 9T 8T¢ Sd
%92°0 %T9°€ %81 %9T°L S8°.V9'Y 88°091 00'6€V'9 000 0c 6T1¢/L1¢ Sd
punoj sjuans oN 0 9T¢ Sd
punoj sjuana oN 0 V90¢ Sd
punoj Sjuana oN 0z 90¢ Sd
%€0°0 %6S'T %€8°0L %E6'T 8T'vSP'e csvet 00'6£V'9 000 e G0¢ Sd
punoy SjuUaAa oN 0 NOOY 304dN0S3d - 9 ¥0¢ Sd
%¢c0°0 %160 %089 %88'T ST LYT'T G.°0CT 00'6£V'9 000 6T 70¢ Sd
%8¢'0 %7.9°€ %69 L1 %.L9'L L1'0L9'G LS'E6Y 00'6E7'9 000 4 €0¢ Sd
uolreziinn uolrezijinn uolrezijinn uoneziinn SINOoH pasn SINoH SInoH olrey Auoeded
19N uolels 1eas sse|n  auwil 10 1U0D SInoH a|qissod noyoe|g 14 Xen
(0 0] (H) G) €) @ (@ () (@) (v)



¥T 40 0T abed

(AabeH/souuaq Buipnjoul) STOVCS TV :YdJeas uonedo ‘sasse|d JIWapedy ||V :ydJeas Jusag
‘W'd 6€:Z ¥e T20Z 6T Bny uo pajuld Hoday

|sx-Arewiwinguonezinnds :awen aji4

punoj sjuans oN 0 INOOYH SHOOL
punoy SsjuUsAa oN 0 SdvOol
g punoj sjuans oN 0 3SNOH VYd3d0 01
o pUNOJ SUBAG ON 0 aN10 AMLNNOD ANV 4109 01
punoj SJUaAS ON 0 (S30VdS ON) ONIaTINg SINVL
punoy sjusAa oN A avTHLVIN - €S L
punoj Sjuana oN 0 MSIAdTIHHO3IL-1S L
NOOY
punoy sjuane oN 0T FON3IHIANOD S3IJIAYG3S LNIANLS
punoj sjusAs oN 0 A9901 13A3T ANODIS HS
punoj sjuans oN 0 Add0O1 1SVv3 13A31 1SdId HS
punoy sjuana oN 0 (S30VvdS ON) 9d719 HS
punoj sjuane oN z€ CEHS
%0 %.T°0 %SC'TE %SS°0 €€¢SE €26 00'6€7'9 000 @3 0€ HS
punoj sjuans oN <] ANIZVOVIN ONN - 8¢ HS
punoy sjusns oN 0T 301440 SS3dd ANId ILIHM - €C HS
punoj sjuana oN 0 0T dS JLND 9NIAv3d ® ONILIAM - TZZ HS
punoj sjusna oN rAS CCHS
punoy sjuana oN €e ¢ 3017V 8TC HS
punoj Sjusna oN Ll LTC HS
punoj sjusas oN o) NOOY MV3dd 44VLS ® ALTNIOVL - STZ HS
punoj sjusna oN 2< 60¢ HS
%T0°0 %S9°0 %SG.'89 %160 00'TEE'T 0509 00'6€7'9 000 e LOC HS
%0 %0 %0 %S0°0 000 c0'e 00'6EY'9 000 14 T 3217V 90¢ HS
punoy sjusAa oN 174 S0C HS
%¢20°0 %9T'T %TL.L 09 %T6'T 82'160'C c0'ect 00'6EV'9 000 8¢ ¥0Z HS
%0 %¥0°0 %S¢y %600 Zr'ent 809 00'6€V'9 000 (014 ¢0C HS
%80°0 %6T'T %7.9°9T %S9 LT'S09't ¢SSty 00'6EY'9 000 09 ¢¢/0¢ HS
punoj sjuana oN vz 0C HS
punoj Sjuana oN 0 6T HS
punoj sjuana oN Ve STHS
punoy SjuUaAa oN ov ETTHS
%0 %.0°0 %.LTVE %v0°0 EV' V99 11°¢C 00'6£V'9 000 0ct 60T HS
punoj sjusAs oN 0T NOOUNVYIHE 44VLS ® ALTNIDVH - L0T HS
uolreziinn uolrezijinn uolrezijinn uoneziinn SINOoH pasn SINoH SInoH olrey Auoeded
19N uolels leag sse|y  awil 19BIU0D SInoH a|qissod noyoe|g 14 Xen
(0 0] (H) G) €) @ (@ () (@) (v)



243

¥T 1o TT abed

(AabeH/souuaq Buipnjoul) STOVCS TV :YdJeas uonedo ‘sasse|d JIWapedy ||V :ydJeas Jusag

‘N'd 6€:¢ e T20g 6T Bny uo pajulld Hoday

|sx-Arewiwinguonezinnds :awen aji4

punoj sluans oN
punoj sjuana oN
punoj siuans oN
punoj sjuane oN
punoj S)UaAS ON
punoj sluane oN
punoj SJUaAS ON
punoj sluane oN
punoj SJUaAS ON
punoy sluane oN
punoj sjuana oN
punoy siuane oN
punoj sjuana oN
punoy siuans oN
punoj sjuana oN
punoy sluans oN
punoj sjuane oN
punoj SJUaAS ON
puno} sluane oN
punoj SJUBAS ON
puno} sjuans oN
punoj SJUBAS ON
punoy sluans oN
punoj sjuana oN
puno} sluans oN
punoj sjuana oN
punoj siuans oN
punoj sjuane oN
punoj S)UaAS ON
punoj sluane oN
punoj SJUaAS ON
punoj sluane oN
punoj SJUaAS ON

punoj sjuans ON

uonezinn
13N
(0)

uonezinn
uoneis

0]

uorezi|nn
leas sse|D

H)

uolyeziinn
awlL

(9)

SINOH
1981U0D

@)

pasn
SINOH

)

SINOH
a|g1ssod

(a)]

SINOH
Inoxoe|g

)]

oney
14
(9)

ve 812 ON
ve /T2 0N
ve 9712 ON
8y 112/STZ ON
ve GTZ 0N
ve ¥Tz oN
ve €12 0N
43 Z12 0N
zT 172 ON
43 602 ON
0z 802 ON
or 102 0N
6 902 ON
ve 502 ON
9 70z ON
oT (AvY9) 4-20zZ oN
0 8T 0N
0 10N
82 9T 0N
8y 9T/¥T ON
82 ¥T 0N
4 Z1oNn
vT 170N
9T 90T ON
8 (VLNOZ) S0T ON
8 (VLNOZ) €0T ON
ve 60 0N
€T 800N
44 00N
44 900N
44 500N
ve 100N
0 MS3d d13H ADOTONHOIL
0 INOOY HSMOL
Aoede)n

Xew

(v)



244

¥T J0 27T abed

(AabeH/souuaq Buipnjoul) STOVCS TV :YdJeas uonedo ‘sasse|d JIWapedy ||V :ydJeas Jusag

‘N'd 6€:¢ e T20g 6T Bny uo pajulld Hoday

|sx-Arewiwinguonezinnds :awen aji4

punoy SjuUsAa oN 0 4 80Z HM
punoyj sjuans oN 0 14 L0Z HM
punoy SjUsAa ON 0 0 €0Z HM

%100 %820 %EEES %¥6°0 0S21S'T 0509 00'6£V'9 000 0 o ST HM
punoj sjuans oN 0 0€ 7T HWM
punoy sjuana oN 0 4 €¢T HM
punoj sjusna oN 0 14 8TT HWM
punoj Sjuana oN 0 14 LTT HM
punoj sjusans oN 0 14 9TT HWM
punoy sjuana oN 0 o L0T HM

%T°0 %9€°C %7.9°0€ %9T'v G8'82S'TT 0T'89¢ 00'6£7'9 000 0 9/ /L0T/90T HM
punoy SjUsAa oN 0 9€ 90T HM
punoj sjuans oN 0 4 SO0T HWM

%1¥0°0 %SC'T %TZ9€ %¢C'€ €0°L58'E 16°50¢C 00'6€V'9 000 0 8Y SOT/YOT HM
punoy sjuans oN 0 /4 0T HWM
punoy SjuUsAa oN 0 € 60 HM
punoy sjuana oN 0 T 80 HM
punoj sjuana oN 0 14 70 HWM
punoj SjuUaAa oN 0 12 €0 HM
punoj sjuana oN 0 9 ¢0 HWM
punoy SjuaAa oN 0 9 T0 HM
punoy sjusne oN ot VY3dV AANLS/AONNOT LNIANLS - HM
punoy SjuUaAa oN 0 FHOLS-O dNIYD LSIMHLHON - HM
punoj sjuans oN SS d31N3O LINIANLS T3IATT HIMOT - HM
punoy SjuUsAa oN 0 d00d Y0vd NIHOLIM - HM
punoj sjusns oN 666666 ONILIIN TVNLHIA
punoy SjUsAa ON Ge Ollvd ONn
punoj sjuane oN 0 301440 d3INLHvd ON
punoj sjuans oN 0 SNdAIVO 440 ON
punoj sjuans oN 6T A9907T HLNOS 13A3T d3IMO1 0N
punoj sjusna oN 9 Add0T1HLNOS 13A31 LSdId ON
punoj sjuana oN T 34vO ON
punoj sjusns oN 0 (S30VvdS ON) 9a719 oNn
punoj sjuaAa oN vz 6T2¢ 0N

uolreziinn uolrezijinn uolrezijinn uoneziinn SINOoH pasn SINoH SInoH olrey Auoeded

19N uolels leag sse|y  awil 19BIU0D SInoH a|qissod noyoe|g 14 Xen

(0 0] (H) G) €) @ (@ () (@) (v)



245

¥T J0 €T abed

(AabeH/souuaq Buipnjoul) STOVCS TV :YdJeas uonedo ‘sasse|d JIWapedy ||V :ydJeas Jusag

‘N'd 6€:¢ e T20g 6T Bny uo pajulld Hoday

|sx-Arewiwinguonezinnds :awen aji4

punoj sjusna oN 0 0 BuuaieD |leH 1saM
punoy sjuans oN 0 0 Areigi7 HM
punoj sjusns ON 0 0 AddO1 HM
puNo} S1USAS ON 0 (S30VdS ON) 9479 HM
punoj sjusns ON 0 0T GE€ HWM
punoj sjuaAa oN 0 14 60C HM

uolrezinn  uolezynn  uolezynn - uolezynn  SINoH pasn sinoH sinoH olrey Auoeded

19N uolels jeas sse|D)  awil 10B1U0D SINoH 9|qISsod mnoxoe|g 14 XeN

() 0] (H) (9) @ (€)) (@ () (a) (v)



246

(AabeH/souuaq Buipnjoul) STOVCS TV :YdJeas uonedo ‘sasse|d JIWapedy ||V :ydJeas Jusag

¥T 10 ¥T abed

‘N'd 6€:¢ e T20g 6T Bny uo pajulld Hoday

|sx-Arewiwinguonezinnds :awen aji4

‘pawiud
sem Jodal ay) uaym palsiua abuel awi pue ayep ay} woJy pamndwod si poliad Hoday Jad SInoH [e1ol ayL

M uwnjo)

‘abejuaolad e se passaldxa
SI 8N[eA SIyL "uonezinn uonels ‘(| uwnjod) pue ‘uopezin swil (D uwnjod) Jo 1npoid sy st uoneziiN BN

. uwnjod

abejuanlad e se passaldxa S| anjeA SiyL "SINOH 3]gISSod [e1o0] ‘(g uwn|od) Aq
pajdinw ‘Aoede) wnwixely ‘(v uwnjod) ay s sinoy 1oeiuod a|qissod [e10) ay] ‘pouad 1odal ayr Buunp uoneoao|
3y} 1o} sinoy 10eju09 a|qissod [e10) ay) 0} paredwod siNoy 19€jU0I [e10} Jo abejuadaiad ay) si uoieziin uonels

| Uwnjod

abeiuaolad e se passaldxa si anjeA siyL ‘00T Aq paidinw ‘Aioede) wnwixely ‘(v uwnjod)
AQg papIAlp ‘lunoD peaH palos|as ayi Buiel Ag paryenofed si uonezijiin 1eas sse|D "uonedo| ayl jo Aioeded
wnuwixe ay) 0) paledwod uoneAIasal yoea 1oj pasn sjeas jJo abejuasiad abelane ay SI uoneziinn 1eas sse;n

H uwnjo)

‘abejuadlad e se passaldxa SI anfeA sIyl "SINOH 3]qISSod ‘(@ uwnjod) Aq papIAIp ‘pasn SINoH ‘(3 uwnjod)
Jo jJuanonb ayy si siyL ‘porad yodal ayy Buunp pasn s| uonedo| e sinoy jo abejuadiad ay S| uonezinn awi L

9 uwnjod

‘pouad uodal ayy ul
UoIeAISSaI YIed J0) JUN0D PesH Paloslas auyl pue ‘pasn SINOH [e10] ‘(] uwn|od) jo 1onpold 8yl SI SINOH 19eIU0D

4 uwnjo)

‘pouad uodal ayi Buunp uoneso| siyy 0} paubisse s82UB1INJJ0 |[e 10} SIN0Y JO Iaquinu 810} 8y} SI pasn SINOH
3 uwnjo)

‘pouad awn awes Yey) Buunp uoleso| 8y Joj sinoy INoxde|q €10} 8yl Bunoengns pue siseweled
1odal Jasn ay1 Aq pauyap (M) pouad uodal syl 1o} sinoy a|qissod [e101 ay) Buiyel Ag parejnofes si SINoH 9|qIssod

g uwnjod

"pouiad awi 110dai SIY} 10} UOITRIO] B 10) PauUlap SaTep IN0Xoe|q |[e JO SINoyY [e10} 8y} SI SINOH NoXoe|g
D uwnjo)

yoads uaaq jou sey Ayoeded WNWIXep a1aym apew ag Jouued suoneindwod
uoleZI|IIN UOIIR0| 8y "UoIeIO| B 10} papiroid ag Aew Jey) sanjeA ale oney ||I4 pue Aoeded wnwixew

g% v uwnjoo




Appendix J
Functionality of Existing
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Appendix L
Map of Parking and Roads
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Appendix M
Energy Audit Report
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Appendix N

Land Inventory
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MEMO
Nonl;t;;ﬁ’iegsatﬁm Systems & LAN Management
College
To: Dr. Nick Nissley, President
From: Todd Neibauer, Vice President for Student Services and Technologies
Date: October 25, 2021
Subject: Copier/Printer replacement

Board Authorization Requested
Authorize the administration to enter into a contract with Applied Imaging for the replacement of 11
copier/printer systems at a cost of $73,543.

Background
NMC operates a pool of over 60 copier/printer systems across all campuses. We evaluate the systems

annually to determine which are in need of replacement due to a higher level of service calls or the
discontinuation of specific models and spare parts availability. We did not make any significant changes
or replacements with the systems during the last 2 years due to Covid 19.

Cost Summary
The cost of the systems needing replacement is within the annual budgeted amount in the Technology

Plant Fund for FY22.

Funding Source
This purchase will be funded by the Technology Plant fund.
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President’s Office
Northwestern
Michigan
College
To: Chris M. Bott, Chair

Board of Trustees
From:  Nick Nissley, President
Date: October 6, 2021

Subject: Closed Session Request

Pursuant to the provisions of the Michigan Open Meetings Act (ACT 267, 15.268, Subsection
8[a]), I am hereby requesting that the 2021 Board’s evaluation of my performance be
conducted in closed session.
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